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PART1

Item 1. Business.
General

The operations of Saks Incorporated, a Tennessee corporation first incorporated in 1919, and its subsidiaries
(together the “Company’) consist of Saks Fifth Avenue (“SFA”), Saks Fifth Avenue OFF 5™ (“OFF 5%”), and
SFA’s e-commerce operations. Previously, the Company also operated Saks Department Store Group (“SDSG”),
which consisted of Proffitt’s and McRae’s (“Proffitt’s”) (sold to Belk, Inc. (“Belk”) in July 2005), the Northern
Department Store Group (“NDSG”) (operated under the nameplates of Bergner’s, Boston Store, Carson Pirie
Scott, Herberger’s and Younkers and sold to The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. (“Bon-Ton”) in March 2006), Parisian
(sold to Belk in October 2006), and Club Libby Lu (“CLL”) (the operations of which were discontinued in
January 2009). The sold businesses and discontinued operations are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the current and prior year
periods and are discussed below in “Discontinued Operations.”

The Company is a fashion retail organization offering a wide assortment of distinctive luxury fashion
apparel, shoes, accessories, jewelry, cosmetics and gifts. SFA stores are principally free-standing stores in
exclusive shopping destinations or anchor stores in upscale regional malls. Customers may also purchase SFA
products by catalog or online at www.saks.com. OFF 5t is intended to be the premier luxury off-price retailer in
the United States. OFF 5t stores are primarily located in upscale mixed-use and off-price centers and offer
luxury apparel, shoes, and accessories, targeting the value-conscious customer. As of January 31, 2009, the
Company operated 53 SFA stores with a total of approximately 5.9 million square feet and 51 OFF 5t stores with
a total of approximately 1.4 million square feet.

Merchandising, sales promotion, and store operating support functions reside in New York, New York. The
back office sales support functions for the Company, such as accounting, credit card administration, store
planning, and information technology, principally are located in the Company’s operations center in Jackson,
Mississippi or in the SFA corporate offices in New York City.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal years 2008 and 2007 each
contained 52 weeks and ended on January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively. Fiscal year 2006
contained 53 weeks and ended on February 3, 2007.

Discontinued Operations

On July 5, 2005, Belk acquired from the Company for $622.7 million in cash substantially all of the assets
directly involved in the Company’s Proffitt’s business operations, plus the assumption of approximately $1
million in capitalized lease obligations and the assumption of certain other ordinary course liabilities associated
with the acquired assets. The assets sold included the real and personal property and inventory associated with 22
Proffitt’s stores and 25 McRae’s stores that generated fiscal 2004 revenues of approximately $784 million. The
Company realized a net gain of $155.5 million on the sale.

On March 6, 2006, the Company sold to Bon-Ton all outstanding equity interests of certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries that owned NDSG, either directly or indirectly. The consideration received consisted of
approximately $1.12 billion in cash (reduced as described below based on changes in working capital), plus the
assumption by Bon-Ton of approximately $35 million of unfunded benefit liabilities and approximately $35
million of capital leases. A working capital adjustment based on working capital as of the effective time of the
transaction reduced the amount of cash proceeds by approximately $75 million resulting in net cash proceeds to
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the Company of approximately $1.04 billion. The disposition included NDSG’s operations consisting of, among
other things, the following: the real and personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 142
NDSG units (31 Carson Pirie Scott stores, 14 Bergner’s stores, 10 Boston Store stores, 40 Herberger’s stores, and
47 Younkers stores), the administrative/headquarters facilities in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and distribution centers
located in Rockford, Illinois, Naperville, Illinois, Green Bay, Wisconsin, and Ankeny, Iowa. NDSG generated
fiscal 2005 revenues of approximately $2.2 billion. The Company realized a net gain of $204.7 million on the

- sale.

On October 2, 2006, the Company sold to Belk all of the outstanding equity interests of the Company’s
subsidiaries that conducted the Parisian specialty department store business (“Parisian”). The consideration
received consisted of $285.0 million in cash (increased in accordance with a working capital adjustment
described below). In addition, Belk reimbursed the Company at closing for $6.7 million in capital expenditures
incurred in connection with the construction of four new Parisian stores. Belk also paid the Company a premium
associated with the purchase of accounts and accounts receivable from Household Bank (SB), N.A. (now known
as HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., “HSBC”), in the amount of $2.3 million. A working capital adjustment based on
working capital as of the effective time of the transaction increased the amount of cash proceeds by $14.2 million
resulting in net cash proceeds of $308.2 million. The disposition included Parisian’s operations consisting of,
among other things, the following: real and personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 38
Parisian stores (which generated fiscal 2005 revenues of approximately $740 million), an administrative/
headquarters facility in Birmingham, Alabama and a distribution center located in Steele, Alabama. The
Company realized a net loss of $12.8 million on the sale.

As of January 31, 2009, the Company discontinued the operations of its CLL business, which consisted of
98 leased, mall-based specialty stores, targeting girls aged 4-12 years old. CLL generated revenues of
approximately $52.2 million for 2008 and was not profitable. The Company incurred charges of $44.5 million in
2008 associated with closing the stores. The Company expects to incur nominal charges relating to CLL in 2009.

Merchandising

SFA stores carry luxury merchandise from both core vendors and new and emerging designers. SFA has key
relationships with the leading American and European fashion houses, including Giorgio Armani, Chanel, Gucci,
Prada, Louis Vuitton, St. John, Zegna, Theory, Juicy Couture, David Yurman, Hugo Boss, Elie Tahari, Tory
Burch, Ralph Lauren, Akris and Burberry, among many others.

The Company has developed a knowledge of each of its trade areas and customer bases for its SFA and OFF
5% stores. This knowledge is gained through use of on-line merchandise information, store visits by senior
management and merchandising personnel, and frequent communication between merchandising staff and store
management. The Company strives to tailor each store’s merchandise assortment to the characteristics of its trade
areas and customer bases and to the lifestyle needs of its local customers.

Certain departments in the Company’s SFA stores are leased to independent companies in order to provide
high quality service and merchandise where specialization and expertise are critical. The leased departments are
designed to complement the Company’s owned merchandising departments. The principal leased departments in
the SFA stores are furs and certain designer handbags. The terms of the lease agreements typically are between
one and seven years and may require the lessee to pay for a portion of the fixtures and provide its own
employees. Management regularly evaluates the performance of the leased departments and requires compliance
with established customer service guidelines.



For the year ended January 31,'2009, SFA’s percentages of owned sales (exclusive of sales generated by
leased departments) by major merchandise category were as follows:

WOmen’s APParel . .......vetveteeeannnuuereessiotsoittitteaiainaas 35.5%
ACCESSOTIES « oo v v esenensennnsosenassssessnionsiosssnsasssassnsaons 20.2%
 COSIIEHICS "+ v e ve s e et e s e e st e a e 15.9%
Men’ s Apparel . ... ovu i e e 14.6%
WOMER’S SHOES .+t vtete it e i ianeeeeeoranssenensneaensnasnsonns e 9.6%
O . . o ittt ettt eseansnensesensasssensecessncassasossasnsnsosns __4._2_%
10772 N GO PO 100.0%

Inventory Purchasing and Distribution

Consistent with practices in the retail industry, the Company purchases merchandise assortments and
volumes to coincide with the seasonality of the business and expected customer demand. Retailers typically
purchase and receive larger amounts of merchandise in the fall as they prepare for the holiday shopping season
(primarily November and December).

The Company purchases merchandise from many vendors. Management monitors profitability and sales
history with most vendors and believes it has alternative sources available for each category of merchandise it
purchases. Management believes it maintains good relationships with its vendors.

The Company has two distribution facilities serving its stores. Refer to “Item 2. Properties” for additional
information about these facilities.

The Company’s distribution facilities operate on a modern warehouse management system that leverages
EDI (electronic data interchange) technology in conjunction with high-speed automated conveyor systems in
order to receive and distribute merchandise as economically as possible to the Company’s stores. Many of the
Company’s vendors also utilize EDI technology which permits merchandise to be ‘cross docked’ from the
receiving department to the shipping department, with very little handling. The distribution centers also use
 efficient radio frequency hand-held devices to scan barcodes on merchandise that is too large or fragile for the
conveyor system. The warehouse management system is interfaced to the Company’s mainframe to execute
" “booking’ of the merchandise to the stores and to pass the appropriate records to accounting for invoice payment
and reconciliation.

Return Policy

The Company offers its customers a fair and liberal return policy, consistent with other luxury retaﬂers at
SFA stores, OFF 5t stores, and online at www.saks.com. Approximately 25% of merchandise sold is later
returned, and the vast majority of merchandise returns occur within a matter of days of the selling transaction.
The Company uses historical return patterns to estimate expected returns. -

Information Technology

Company management believes that technological investments are necessary to support its business
strategies, and, as a result, the Company is continually upgrading its information systems to improve efficiency
and productivity. Between 2006 and 2008, the Company completed significant upgrades to its merchandising
planning and allocation systems and installed new point-of-sale equipment and software with enhanced
clienteling capabilities in each of its SFA stores.



The Company’s information systems provide information deemed necessary for management operating
decisions, cost management programs, and customer service enhancements. Individual data processing systems
include point-of-sale and sales reporting, purchase order management, receiving, merchandise planning and
control, payroll, human resources, general ledger, and accounts payable systems. Bar code ticketing is used, and
scanning is utilized at point-of-sale terminals. Information is made available on Company systems to
merchandising staff and store management on a timely basis.

The use of EDI technology allows the Company to speed the flow of information and merchandise in an
attempt to capitalize on emerging sales trends, maximize inventory turnover, and minimize out-of-stock
conditions. EDI technology includes an advance shipping notice system (“ASN”). The ASN system identifies
discrepancies between merchandise that is ready to be shipped from a supplier’s warehouse and that which was
ordered from the supplier. This early identification provides the Company with a window of time to resolve any
discrepancies in order to speed merchandise through the distribution facilities and into its stores.

Marketing‘

For the SFA stores, marketing principally emphasizes the latest fashion trends in luxury merchandise and
primarily utilizes direct mail advertising, supplemented with national and local marketing efforts. To promote its
image as one of the primary sources of luxury goods in its trade areas, SFA sponsors numerous fashion shows
and in-store special events highlighting the designers represented in the SFA stores. SFA also participates in
“cause-related” marketing. This includes special in-store events and related advertising designed to drive store
traffic, while raising funds for charitable organizations and causes such as women’s cancer research. In-house
advertising and sales promotion staffs produce most of the Company’s advertising.

For SFA, the Company utilizes data captured through the use of proprietary credit cards offered by HSBC to
develop advertising and promotional events targeted at specific customers who have purchasing patterns for
certain brands, departments, and store locations.

Proprietary Credit Cards

HSBC offers proprietary credit card accounts to the Company’s customers. Pursuant to a program
agreement with a term of ten years expiring in 2013, HSBC establishes and owns proprietary credit card accounts
for the Company’s customers, retains the benefits and risks associated with the ownership of the accounts,
receives the finance charge income and incurs the bad debts associated with those accounts. Pursuant to.a
servicing agreement with a ten-year term expiring in 2013, the Company continues to provide key customer
service functions, including new account opening, transaction authorization, billing adjustments and customer
inquiries, and receives compensation from HSBC for the provision of these services.

In September of 2006, the Company entered into agreements with HSBC and MasterCard International
Incorporated to issue co-branded MasterCard cards to new and existing proprietary credit card customers. Under
this program, qualifying customers are issued an SFA and MasterCard co-branded credit card that functions as a
traditional proprietary credit card when used at any SFA or OFF 5t store and at www.saks.com or as a
MasterCard card when used at any unaffiliated location that accepts MasterCard cards. HSBC establishes and
owns the co-brand accounts, retains the benefits associated with the ownership of the accounts, receives the
finance charge and other income from the accounts, and incurs the bad-debts associated with the accounts.

Historically, proprietary credit card holders have shopped more frequently with the Company and purchased
more merchandise than customers who pay with cash or third-party credit cards. The Company also makes
frequent use of the names and addresses of the proprietary credit card holders in its direct marketing efforts.
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The Company seeks to expand the number and use of the proprietary credit cards by, among other things,
providing monetary incentives to sales associates to open new credit accounts, which generally can be opened
while a customer is visiting one of the Company’s stores. Customers who open accounts are entitled to a discount
on the first day’s purchases. Customers using the proprietary credit card are eligible for the SaksFirst loyalty
program that rewards customers for spending on their proprietary charge cards. Additionally, co-brand card
customers earn SaksFirst points for purchases made at unaffiliated locations. Increased spending on the
proprietary cards is intended to result in an increased rate of reward. Rewards come in the form of electronic gift
cards that are redeemable on future purchases. In addition, members of the loyalty program are eligible for other
rewards and benefits including special shopping events and travel discounts.

As of January 31, 2009, there were approximately 800,000 proprietary credit accounts that have been active
within the prior twelve months, accounting for approximately 44.1% of the Company’s 2008 sales.

Trademarks and Service Marks

The Company owns many trademarks and service marks including, but not limited to, “Saks Fifth Avenue,”
“SFA,” “S5A,” “The Fifth Avenue Club,” “SAKSFIRST,” “Clothes (Real),” “SFA Signature,” “SFA Classic,”
“SFA Sport,” and “Saks Fifth Avenue OFF 5T.” Management believes its trademarks and service marks are
important and that the loss of certain of its trademarks or trade names, particularly the store nameplates, could
have a material adverse effect on the Company. Many of the Company’s trademarks and service marks are
registered in the United States Patent and Trademark Office. The terms of these registrations are generally ten
years, and they are renewable for additional ten-year periods indefinitely so long as the marks are in use at the
time of renewal. The Company is not aware of any claims of infringement or other challenges to its right to use
its marks that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of
operations, or liquidity.

Reliance on Fifth Avenue Store

The Company’s Flagship SFA store located on Fifth Avenue in New York City accounted for approximately
21% of total Company sales in 2008 and plays a significant role in creating awareness for the Saks Fifth Avenue
brand name.

Customer Service

The Company believes that good customer service contributes to increased store visits and purchases by its
customers.

The Company’s goal is to deliver an inviting, customer-focused shopping experience to each customer. At
SFA and OFF 5TH, the Company seeks to enable its customers to discover both accessible and high-end fashion
in a warm, welcoming environment, guided by knowledgeable sales associates. Compensation for sales
associates is generally a commission-based program. Sales associates undergo extensive service, selling, and
product-knowledge training and are encouraged to maintain frequent, personal contact with their customers.
Sales associates are encouraged to utilize detailed customer data available through the Company’s new
point-of-sale equipment and software for their clienteling efforts, send personalized thank-you notes and
routinely communicate with customers to advise them of new merchandise offerings and special promotions.
Typical SFA stores also provide comfortable seating areas, and most SFA stores offer a complimentary personal
shopping service called “The Fifth Avenue Club.”

Seasonality

The Company’s business, like that of many retailers, is subject to seasonal influences, with a significant
portion of its sales and net income realized during the second half of the fiscal year, which includes the holiday
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selling season. Approximately 30% of the Company’s sales are generated during the fourth quarter, and normally
a large portion of its operating income is generated during the Fall season.

Competition

The retail business is highly competitive. The Company’s stores primarily compete with several national
and regional department stores, specialty apparel stores, designer boutiques, outlet stores, and mail-order and
e-commerce retailers. Management believes that its knowledge of its trade areas and customer base, combined
with the Company’s high level of customer service, broad selection of quality fashion merchandise at appropriate
prices, innovative marketing, and strategic store locations, provides the opportunity for a competitive advantage.

Associates

As of January 31, 2009, the Company employed approximately 13,000 associates, of which approximately
18% were employed on a part-time basis. The Company hires additional temporary associates and increases the
hours of part-time associates during seasonal peak selling periods. Approximately 1.0% of the Company’s
associates are covered by collective bargaining agreements. The Company considers its relations with its
associates to be good.

Inflation and Deflation

Inflation and deflation affect the costs incurred by the Company in its purchase of merchandise and in
certain components of its selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”). The Company attempts to
offset the effects of inflation, which has occurred in recent years in SG&A, through price increases and control of
expenses, although the Company’s ability to increase prices is limited by consumer demand and competitive
factors in its markets.

Website Access to Information

The Company provides access, free of charge to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after the reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) through the Company’s website, www.saksincorporated.com.

Certifications

The Company filed the certification of its Chief Executive Officer with the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) in fiscal 2008 as required pursuant to Section 303A.12(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, and
the Company has filed the Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302 and Section 906 certifications of its principal executive
officer and principal financial officer with the SEC, which are attached hereto as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1, and
32.2.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following are certain risk factors that affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows, some of which are beyond the Company’s control. These risk factors should be
considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing the Company. If any of the
events described below were to actually occur, the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations
or cash flows could be adversely affected and results could differ materially from expected and historical resulits.
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A decline in the demand for luxury goods due to deteriorating macroeconomic conditions has had and
could continue to have an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations.

As a result of the sale of the SDSG businesses, the Company is focused on the luxury retail sector. SFA
stores, OFF 5t stores and www.saks.com offer a wide assortment of luxury fashion apparel, shoes, accessories,
jewelry, cosmetics and gift items. All of the goods that the Company sells are discretionary items. Changes in
consumer confidence and fluctuations in financial markets can influence cyclical trends, particularly in the
luxury sector. Consequently, the current severe downturn in the economy has resulted and may continue to result
in fewer customers shopping in the Company’s stores or online. In response, and in order to reduce inventory
levels, we have been and may continue to be forced to take additional markdowns and to increase promotional
events, which has had and may continue to have an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations. As a
result of a decrease in consumer spending, the Company has been forced to reduce costs. Despite these measures
and plans to further reduce costs and align inventory levels with sales in fiscal year 2009, there is no assurance
that the Company will be successful in restoring profitability.

Poor economic conditions have affected and may continue to affect consumer spending which has harmed
and may continue to significantly harm the Company’s business.

The retail industry is continuously subject to domestic and international economic trends. The success of the
Company’s business depends to a significant extent upon the level of consumer spending. A number of factors
affect the level of consumer spending on merchandise that the Company offers, including, among other things:

e General economic, industry and weather conditions;

o The performance of the financial equity and credit markets;

¢ Current and expected unemployment levels;

«  Crude oil prices, that affect gasoline and heating oil prices;

¢ The level of consumer debt;

«  Interest rates;

¢ Tax rates and policies;

e War, terrorism and other hostilities; and

¢ Consumer confidence in future economic conditions.

Reduced consumer confidence and spending has resulted in reduced demand for discretionary items and has

forced the Company to take significant markdowns. If the decrease in consumer demand for the Company’s
‘merchandise continues, the Company may be forced to take additional markdowns in future periods.

Additionally, several of the Company’s stores are in tourist markets, including the flagship SFA New York
store. A continuation of the downturn in economic conditions or other events such as terrorist activity could
further impact travel and thus negatively affect the results of operations for stores located within these tourist
markets. Increases in transportation and fuel costs, the financial condition of the airline industry and its impact on
air travel and sustained recessionary periods in the U.S. and internationally could also unfavorably impact results
of the stores located within these tourist markets.

The Company’s business and results of operations are also subject to uncertainties arising out of world
events. These uncertainties may include a global economic slowdown, changes in consumer spending or travel,
an increase in gasoline and commodity prices, epidemics and the economic consequences of natural disasters,
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military action or terrorist activity (including threats of terrorist activity). Any future events arising as a result of
terrorist activity, natural disasters or other world events may have a material impact on the Company’s business,
its ability to source products, results of operations and financial condition in the future.

The Company’s flagship SFA New York store is especially susceptible to volatility in the financial markets
and employment and compensation trends in the financial sector.

The Company is restricted in its ability to incur additional debt which may affect its ability to adequately
Jfinance its operations.

The Company is a party to a revolving credit agreement which generally prohibits additional debt, subject to
exceptions for certain unsecured debt and certain other items. The revolving credit agreement also prohibits the
Company from granting liens on its property, with limited exceptions. Subject to certain exceptions, the notes
restrict the Company from incurring secured debt or entering into sale/leaseback transactions that are, in the
aggregate greater than 15% (17.5% in the case of the senior notes due in 2013 and the convertible notes) of
consolidated net tangible assets of the Company. These restrictions under the revolving credit agreement and the
senior notes and convertible notes may affect the Company’s ability to obtain additional debt financing or
financing on favorable terms if its cash flow from operations and funds available under its revolving credit
facility are insufficient to satisfy its capital requirements.

We are unable to predict the impact of the recent downturn in the credit markets and the resulting costs or
constraints in obtaining financing on our business and financial results.

The Company’s principal sources of cash come from the Company’s operating activities and borrowings
under its revolving credit facility. The extraordinary ongoing disruption in the credit markets has had a
significant adverse impact on a number of financial institutions and has affected the cost of capital available to
the Company. The Company will continue to closely monitor its liquidity and the credit markets. The Company
cannot predict with any certainty the impact of any further disruption in the credit environment or any resulting
material impact on its liquidity, future financing costs or financial results.

The Company is dependent on its relationships with certain designers, vendors and other sources of
merchandise.

The Company’s relationships with established and emerging designers are a key factor in its position as a
retailer of luxury merchandise, and a substantial portion of its revenues are attributable to its sales of designer
merchandise. Many of the Company’s key vendors limit the number of retail channels they use to sell their
merchandise and competition among luxury retailers to obtain and sell these goods is intense. The Company’s
relationships with its designers have been a significant contributor to its past success. The Company has no
guaranteed supply arrangements with its principal merchandising sources. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that such sources will continue to meet the Company’s quality, style and volume requirements.
Moreover, nearly all of the top designer brands sold by the Company are also sold by competing retailers, and
many of these top designer brands also have their own dedicated retail stores. If one or more of these top
designers were to cease providing the Company with adequate supplies of merchandise or, conversely, were to
increase sales of merchandise through its own stores or to the stores of other competitors, the Company’s
business could be adversely affected. In addition, any decline in the popularity or quality of any of these designer
brands could adversely affect the Company’s business.

The Company’s business and results of operations may be adversely affected by weather conditions and
natural disasters.

The Company’s business is adversely affected by unseasonable weather conditions. Periods of unseasonably
warm weather in the fall or winter or unseasonably cold or wet weather in the spring or summer affect consumer
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apparel purchases and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial
condition. Additionally, natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes and floods may adversely
affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

The Company’s business is intensely competitive and increased or new competition could have a material
adverse effect on the Company.

The retail industry is intensely competitive. As a retailer offering a broad selection of luxury fashion
apparel, shoes, accessories, jewelry, cosmetics and gift items, the Company currently competes against a diverse
group of retailers, including e-commerce retailers, which sell, among other products, products similar to those of
the Company. The Company also competes in particular markets with a substantial number of retailers that
specialize in one or more types of products that the Company sells. Following the sale of the Company’s SDSG
and NDSG businesses, the Company has become less diversified and is now reliant on its luxury retail business.
A number of different competitive factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
results of operations and financial condition including:

e Increased operational efficiencies of competitors;

« Combpetitive pricing strategies, including deep discount pricing by a broad range of retailers during
periods of poor consumer confidence or economic instability;

«  Expansion of product offerings by existing competitors;
« Entry by new competitors into markets in which the Company currently operates; and

« . Adoption by existing conipetitoré of innovative retail sales methods.

The Company may not be able to continue to compete successfully with its existing or new competitors, or
be assured that prolonged periods of deep discount pricing by its competitors will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business.

The Company faces risks associated with consumer preferences, demand and fashion trends.

Changes in consumer preferences, demand and interest could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business. In addition, fashion trends could materially impact sales. Success in the retail business
depends, in part, on the Company’s ability to anticipate consumer preferences and demand. Early order
commitments often are made far in advance of consumer acceptance. If the Company fails to anticipate
accurately and respond to consumer preferences and demand, it could experience lower sales, excess inventories
and lower profit margins, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.

The Company faces a number of risks in opening new stores.

As part of its growth strategy, the Company could potentially increase the total number of stores, which may
include opening new stores in both new and existing markets. The Company may not be able to operate any new
stores profitably. Further, new stores may not achieve operating results similar to those of its existing stores. The
success of any future store openings will depend upon numerous factors, many of which are beyond the
Company’s control, including the following:

o  The ability of management to adequately analyze and identify suitable markets and individual store sites
within those markets;

-« The ability to attract appropriate vendors;
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*  The competition for suitable store sites;
* The ability to negotiate favorable lease terms with landlords;

¢ The availability of employees to staff new stores and the Company’s ability to hire, train, motivate and
retain store personnel; and

*  The ability to attract customers and generate sales sufficient to operate new stores profitably.

In future years, the Company may enter into additional markets. These markets may have different
competitive conditions, consumer trends and discretionary spending patterns than its existing markets, which
may cause new stores in these markets to be less successful than stores in existing markets.

The loss of, or disruption in, the Company’s centralized distribution centers would have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business and operations. : o

The Company depends on the orderly operation of the receiving and distribution process, which depends, in
turn, on adherence to shipping schedules and effective management of distribution centers. Although the
Company believes that its receiving and distribution process is efficient, and the Company has appropriate
contingency plans, unforeseen disruptions in operations due to fire, hurricanes or other catastrophic events, labor
disagreements or shipping problems, may result in delays in the delivery of merchandise to the Company’s
stores. :

Additionally, freight cost is impacted by changes in fuel prices. Fuel prices affect freight cost both on
inbound freight from vendors to the distribution centers and outbound freight from the distribution centers to the
Company’s stores.

Although the Company maintains business interruption and property insurance, management cannot be
assured that the Company’s insurance coverage will be sufficient, or that insurance proceeds will be timely paid
to the Company, if any of the distribution centers are shut down for any reason.

Loss of the Company’s trademarks and service marks or damage to the Company’s brand could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.

The Company owns many trademarks and service marks including, but not limited to, “Saks Fifth Avenue,”
“SFA,” “S5A,” “The Fifth Avenue Club,” “SAKSFIRST,” “Clothes (Real)”, “SFA Signature,” “SFA Classic,”
“SFA Sport” and “OFF 5t%.” Management believes its trademarks and service marks are important and that the
loss of certain of its trademarks or trade names, particularly the store nameplates, could have a material adverse
effect on the Company. Many of the Company’s trademarks and service marks are registered in the United States
Patent and Trademark Office. In addition, the Company has a well-recognized brand that it believes represents
unsurpassed customer service and quality merchandise. Any significant damage to the Company’s brand or
reputation may negatively impact same-store sales, lower employee morale and productivity, and diminish
customer trust, resulting in a reduction in shareholder value.

Fluctuations in foreign currency could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business.

The Company purchases a substantial portion of its inventory from foreign suppliers who price their
merchandise in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Although fluctuations in the Euro-U.S. dollar exchange rate
have the largest impact on the Company’s business, it procures goods from many countries and, consequently, is
affected by fluctuations in the U.S. dollar relative to the currencies of the countries from which the Company
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purchases goods. Accordingly, changes in the vatue of the dollar relative to foreign currencies may increase the
Company’s cost of goods sold. If the Company is unable to pass such cost increases on to its customers or the
higher cost of the products results in decreased consumption, gross margins, and ultimately earnings, would
decrease. :

A privacy breach could adversely affect the Company’s business.

The protection of customer, employee, and company data is critical to the Company. In particular, the
Company utilizes customer data captured through the use of proprietary credit cards to develop advertising and
promotional events. The regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly
demanding, with the frequent imposition of new and constantly changing requirements across business units. In
addition, customers have a high expectation that the Company will adequately protect their personal information.
A significant breach of customer, employee, or company data could damage the Company’s reputation and result
in lost sales, fines, or litigation.

Ownership and leasing of significant amounts of real estate exposes the Company to possible liabilities and
losses.

The majority of the SFA stores are owned while all of the OFF 5% stores are leased. Accordingly, the
Company is subject to all of the risks associated with owning and leasing real estate. In particular, the value of
the assets could decrease, and their costs to operate could increase, because of changes in the investment climate
for real estate, demographic trends and supply or demand for the use of the store, which may result from
competition from similar stores in the area, as well as liability for environmental conditions. Store leases
generally require the Company to pay a fixed minimum rent and a variable amount based on a percentage of
annual sales at that location. The Company generally cannot terminate these leases. If a store is not profitable,
and the Company decides to close it, the Company may be committed to perform certain obligations under the
applicable lease including, among other things, paying rent for the balance of the applicable lease term. In
addition, as each of the leases expires, the Company may be unable to negotiate renewals, either on commercially
acceptable terms or at all, which could cause the Company to close stores in desirable locations. If an existing
owned store is not profitable, and the Company decides to close it, the Company may be required to record an
impairment charge and/or exit costs associated with the disposal of the store. In addition, the Company may not
be able to close an unprofitable owned or leased store due to an existing operating covenant which may cause the
Company to operate the location at a loss and prevent the Company from finding a more desirable location.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 1C. Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The name, age, and position held with the Company for each of the executive officers of the Company are
set forth below. '

Name Age Position

Stephen I. Sadove ......... _5-7_ Chairman of the Board of Directofs; Chief Executive Officer; Director

RonaldL.Frasch .......... 59 President and Chief Merchandising Officer

Michael A. Brizel ......... 52 Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Jennifer S. De Winter ...... 48 = Executive Vice President of Stores ‘ o

Marc J. Metrick e ..... 35 Group Senior Vice Presideht of Merchandise Planning and Chief Strategy
' Officer L

Christine A. Morena ....... 53 Executive -Vice-Ptesident of Human Resources

Michael Rodgers .......... 44 Executive Vice President of Service Operations and Chief Information

Officer
Robert T. Wallstrom . ...... 43 President, OFF 5% and Group Senior Vice President
KevinG. Wills ........... 43 Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Stephen I. Sadove was named Chief Executive. Officer of the Company in January 2006 and assumed the
additional role of Chairman of the Board of Directors in May 2007. Mr. Sadove joined the Company in January
2002 as Vice Chairman and assumed the additional responsibility of Chief Operating Officer in March 2004.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Sadove served as Senior Vice President of Bristol-Myers Squibb and President
of Bristol-Myers Squibb Worldwide Beauty Care from 1996 until January 2002. From 1991 until 1996,

Mr. Sadove held various other executive positions with Bristol-Myers Squibb. From 1975 until 1991, Mr. Sadove
held various positions of increasing responsibility with General Foods USA. -

Ronald L. Frasch was named President and Chief Merchandising Officer of the Company in February 2007.
Mr. Frasch joined SFA in January 2004, served in a non-executive capacity through November 2004, and held
the post of Vice Chairman and Chief Merchant of SFA from November 2004 until January 2007. Prior to joining
the Company, he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Neiman Marcus Group’s Bergdorf
Goodman from April 2000 until January 2004. Prior to that, he held merchandising and executive posts with
other companies including GFT USA, Escada USA, Neiman Marcus, and SFA.

Michael A. Brizel joined the Company in April 2007 and was named to the post of Executive Vice President
and General Counsel in May 2007. M. Brizel served in a variety of positions of increasing responsibility with
The Reader’s Digest Association, Inc. between 1989 and April 2007, including Senior Vice President and
General Counsel, a position he assumed in 2002. Prior to Reader’s Digest, Mr. Brizel was a member of the legal
department of General Foods Corporation from 1983 to 1989 and an associate with the New York law firm of
Summit, Rovins and Feldesman (and its predecessors), from 1980 to 1983.

Jennifer S. De Winter was named Executive Vice President of Stores in June 2008. She joined Saks Fifth
Avenue in 1995 and held various merchandising positions of increasing responsibility, including her most recent
post of Group Senior Vice President and General Merchandise-Manager of Fashion and Fine Jewelry, Watches,
Women’s Shoes, Handbags and Soft Accessories. Ms. De Winter began her retail career in 1983 at Macy’s,
where she held various merchandising positions through 1995 including Vice President, Divisional Merchandise
Manager.
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Marc J. Metrick was named Group Senior Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer of the Company in
February 2007. Mr. Metrick joined the Company in June 1995 as an executive trainee. Beginning in June 1997,
M. Metrick served in various planning roles, including Vice President — Merchandise Planning and Senior Vice
President — Strategic Planning.

Christine A. Morena joined the Company in January 2007 as Executive Vice President of Human
Resources. Ms. Morena spent her career from 1976 through 2006 with AT&T Inc., where she held various
positions of increasing responsibility, including Senior Vice President of Human Resources for AT&T
Corporation, a subsidiary of AT&T Inc.

Michael Rodgers was named Executive Vice President of Service Operations and Chief Information Officer
for the Company in February 2008. Mr. Rodgers served as Executive Vice President of Information Technology,
Operations and Credit for the Company from May 2007 through January 2008. Mr. Rodgers joined McRae’s,
Inc. (acquired by the Company in 1994) in 1993 as Director of Credit. He was promoted to Vice President of
Credit for the Company in 1996 and to Senior Vice President of Credit in 1997, a position he held until 2002.
Mr. Rodgers served as Executive Vice President of Operations from 2002 until April 2007. Prior to joining the
Company, he held credit management positions with Boscov’s and Woodward & Lothrop.

Robert T. Wallstrom was named President, OFF 5th and Group Senior Vice President of the Company in
February 2007. Mr. Wallstrom joined the Company in June 1995 and has held various leadership positions since
that time, including Senior Vice President and General Manager of the SFA flagship store in New York City.
Prior to joining the Company, he was a store manager for Macy’s/Bullocks.

Kevin G. Wills was named Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in May
2007. Mr. Wills served as Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer from May 2005
until May 2007. He joined the Company in September 1997 and has served in the following capacities: Vice
President of Financial Reporting from September 1997 to August 1998; Senior Vice President of Strategic
Planning from September 1998 to August 1999; Senior Vice President of Planning and Administration of SDSG
from September 1999 to January 2003; and Executive Vice President of Operations for Parisian from February
2003 to May 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wills was Vice President and Controller for the Tennessee
Valley Authority and before that, he was an audit manager with Coopers and Lybrand (now
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP).

Item 2. Properties.

The Company currently operates two principal distribution facilities as follows:

Company Stores Served Location of Facility Square Feet. Owned/Leased
SFA,OFF 5ttand Saks Direct . .......oviviininnnvun. Aberdeen, Maryland 514,000 Leased
SFAand OFF 5B . . ittt enans Ontario, California 120,000 Leased

The Company’s principal administrative offices are as follows:

Office Location of Facility Square Feet Owned/Leased
Corporate Operations Center ......... ... v ivansvins Jackson, Mississippi 272,000 Owned
Corporate Office Headquarters and SFA Offices .......... New York, New York 298,000 Leased
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The following table sets forth information about the Company’s stores as of January 31, 2009. The majority
of the SFA stores are owned, while all of the OFF 5% stores are leased. Store leases generally require the
Company to pay a fixed minimum rent and a variable amount based on a percentage of annual sales at that
location. Generally, the Company is responsible under its store leases for a portion of mall promotion and
common area maintenance expenses and for certain utility, property tax, and insurance expenses. Generally, store
leases have initial terms ranging from 20 to 30 years and include renewal options ranging from 5 to 20 years.
OFF 5t leases typically have shorter terms.

Owned Locations Leased Locations Total
Number Gross Square Number Gross Square Number Gross Square  Primary
Store Name Of Units Feet (inmil.) OfUnits Feet(inmil) OfUnits Feet(inmil) Locations
SFA .. ... ..o 29 39 24 20 53 59 National
OFF 5% ... ............. — 0.0 51 14 51 14 National
Total ................... 29

39 5 3 14 13

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Vendor Litigation

On December 8, 2005 Adamson Apparel, Inc. filed a purported class action lawsuit against the Company in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama. In its complaint the plaintiff asserted
breach of contract claims and alleged that the Company improperly assessed chargebacks, timely payment
discounts, and deductions for merchandise returns against members of the plaintiff class. The lawsuit sought
compensatory and incidental damages and restitution. On June 8, 2008, the parties entered into a settlement
agreement which was approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California on
July 30, 2008. Pursuant to the settlement, on August 18, 2008 the Company paid the plaintiff $.4 million in
settlement of the claims (of which the Company was reimbursed approximately $.1 million from an unrelated
third party), at which time the lawsuit was formally dismissed.

Other

The Company is involved in legal proceedings arising from its normal business activities and has accruals
for losses where appropriate. Management believes that none of these legal proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.
Market Information

The Company’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol SKS.
The prices in the table below represent the high and low sales prices for the stock as reported by the NYSE.

Year Ended Year Ended
January 31, 2009 February 2, 2008
High Low High Low
FirstQuarter ............ccvvivniennnennnnn $18.36 $11.04 $22.00 $18.02
SecondQuarter ..............iiiiiiiieiann $1458 $9.15 $2325 $17.94
ThirdQuarter . .......cooutrneeininenenenns $12.25 $ 481 $22.63 $14.38
FourthQuarter .............cocvuiuiinenenn. $ 616 $225 $23.05 $14.70

Holders

As of March 16, 2009, there were approximately 2,352 shareholders of record of the Company’s common
stock.
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Performance Graph

The following graph and table compare cumulative total shareholder return among the Company, the S&P
Midcap 400 Index, the S&P 500 Department Stores Index, and a Retail Peer Group Index (weighted by market
capitalization and consisting of Dillard’s, Inc.; Macy’s, Inc.; Nordstrom, Inc.; J.C. Penney Company, Inc.; and, -
through the fiscal year ended January 29, 2005, The May Department Stores Company and The Neiman Marcus
Group, Inc., both of which were acquired in 2005 and are no longer public companies) assuming an initial
investment of $100 and reinvestment of dividends.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
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=0=—=SAKS INC ——0—S&P MIDCAP 400 INDEX —2—S&P 500 DEPARTMENT STORES - - - PEER GROUP

Stla;rting
Description ) 1/32‘13754 1/29/05 1/28/06 2/3/07 2/2/08 1/31/09
Saks Incorporated ...............c..iuiunann $100.00 $ 91.84 $126.51 $199.93 $188.62 $25.92
S&PMidcap400 ...........civiiiiiiinaana, $100.00 $109.50 $134.89 $148.45 $146.80 $90.41
S&P 500 Department Stores . ................. $100.00 $117.76 $137.50 $197.75 $126.26 $59.64

Retail Peer Group .....:.....cvvvvvviiiinin. $100.00  $125.52 $175.12 '$237.74 . $155.29  $51.71

This “Performance Graph” section shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed with the
SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

Dividends

During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company did not declare any
dividends. Future dividends, if any, will be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors in light of
circumstances then existing, including earnings, financial requirements, and general business conditions. The
Company does not anticipate declaring dividends in the foreseeable future.
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The Company has a share repurchase program that authorizes it to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock. The Company repurchased approximately 2.9 million shares of its common stock during the year
ended January 31, 2009 at an average price of $11.83 per share and a total cost of approximately $34.9 million.
The Company has remaining availability of approximately 32.7 million shares under its 70 million authorized
share repurchase program. The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes thereto and the other information contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended
January 31, February 2, February 3, January 28, January 29,
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS) 2009 2008 2007* 2006 2005
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
NEESALES v v e veee et eee e it e e aaa s $3,029,743 $3,224,076 $2,888,427 $2,732,428 $2,737,324
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) ......... 2,062,494 1972251 1,780,127 1,731,142 1,666,126
GIOSS MATZIN .« v v v erneeeeiineeeeinineeaneaeeeeens 967,249 1,251,825 1,108,300 1,001,286 1,071,198
Selling, general and administrative expenses .................. 770,815 827,624 799,292 813,321 785,568
Other Operating EXPENSeS . ... ....vwnureenneanennreeenrnes 320,683 317,046 312,486 317,760 311,967
Impairments and dispositions . .......... ... .ol 11,139 4,279 11,775 (8,349) 20,768
Operating income (JOSS) ........oovriiiiraieeinn e (135,388) 102,876 (15,253)  (121,446) 47,105)
INtErESt EXPENSE ... vvvv ettt e iiiirae e ei e (39,306) (42,314) (50,136) (77,188)  (104,773)
Gain (loss) on extinguishmentofdebt ....................... — (5,634) 7 (29,375) —
Other iNCOME, NEL . . . v vt v et ieeineetier e ennerennen 5,600 24912 28,407 7,705 4,061
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
BAKES .« v v ee et ee e e e (169,094) 79,840 (36,975)  (220,304) (147,817)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ............... i (46,332) 29,153 (33,026) (90,950) (69,883)
Income (loss) from continuing operations .................... (122,762) 50,687 (3,949) (129,354) (77,934)
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income
BAXES .« ot eveee et e ee e a e (52,727) (4,860) 188,227 314,943 232,055
Provision (benefit) for incometaxes ..................... ... (20,548) (1,646) 130,536 163,241 93,036
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .............. (32,179) (3,214) 57,691 151,702 139,019
Netincome (JOSS) .. .vveeineernennnieeiniernnennns $(154941) $ 47473 $ 53,742 § 22,348 $ 61,085
Basic earnings per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ................ $ (.89 $ 36 $ (03) % 93) 3% (.56)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .............. $ (23) % 02) $ 43 $ 1.10 $ 1.00
NetIncome (JOSS) .. ovvvvnneeeennnnnrsereeeennnns $ (1.12) $ 34 % 40 $ 16 $ .44
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ................ $ (.89) $ 33 $ 03) $ (93) $ (.56)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .............. $ (23) % (02) $ 43 8 1.10 $ 1.00
Net IncOme (J0SS) . .o vvvvvreeneeeerennninnerenanns $ (1.12) $ 31 3 40 $ 16 $ 44
Weighted average common shares:
BaSIC .ottt e 138,384 140,402 135,880 138,348 139,470
Diluted .. ... e e 138,384 153,530 135,880 138,348 139,470
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital .............iiiiiii e $ 503,952 $ 345,097 $ 388,061 $ 799,601 $1,115460
TOtAl @SSELS & v v vt ettt ie e ie e e $2,165,008 $2,371,024 $2,544,303 $3,850,725 $4,709,014
Long-term debt, less current portion ...........oceeinan.. $ 635400 $ 253,346 $ 450,010 $ 722,736 $1,346,222
Shareholders’ equity . .........oouveiiiiiiiii e $ 965,620 $1,175,606 $1,096,139 $1,999,383 $2,062,418
Cash dividends (pershare) ...............ccoiiiiiiinan.. $ —  $ — $ 8.00 $ — 8 2.00

* The year ended February 3, 2007 includes an extra week, creating a 53-week fiscal year that occurs every six
years in the accounting cycle.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to provide an analytical view of the
business from management’s perspective of operating the business and is considered to have these major
components:

*  Overview
* Results of Operations
* Liquidity and Capital Resources

*  Critical Accounting Policies

MD&A should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto
contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW
GENERAL

The operations of Saks Incorporated, a Tennessee corporation first incorporated in 1919, and its subsidiaries
(together the “Company”) consist of Saks Fifth Avenue (“SFA”), Saks Fifth Avenue OFF 5% (“OFF 5%y and
SFA’s e-commerce operations. Previously, the Company also operated Saks Department Store Group (“SDSG™),
which consisted of Proffitt’s and McRae’s (“Proffitt’s”) (sold to Belk, Inc. (“Belk”) in July 2005), the Northern
Department Store Group (“NDSG™) (operated under the nameplates of Bergner’s, Boston Store, Carson Pirie
Scott, Herberger’s and Younkers and sold to The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. (“Bon-Ton”) in March 2006), Parisian
(sold to Belk in October 2006), and Club Libby Lu (“CLL”) (the operations of which were discontinued in
January 2009). The sold businesses and discontinued operations are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the current and prior year
periods and are discussed below in “Discontinued Operations.”

The Company is primarily a fashion retail organization offering a wide assortment of distinctive luxury
fashion apparel, shoes, accessories, jewelry, cosmetics and gifts. SFA stores are principally free-standing stores
in exclusive shopping destinations or anchor stores in upscale regional malls. Customers may also purchase SFA
products by catalog or online at www.saks.com. OFF 5% is intended to be the premier luxury off-price retailer in
the United States. OFF 5% stores are primarily located in upscale mixed-use and off-price centers and offer
luxury apparel, shoes, and accessories, targeting the value-conscious customer. As of January 31, 2009, the
Company operated 53 SFA stores with a total of approximately 5.9 million square feet and 51 OFF 5t stores with
a total of approximately 1.4 million square feet.

As a result of the sale of the SDSG and NDSG businesses, the Company is primarily focused on the luxury
retail sector. All of the goods that the Company sells are discretionary items. Consequently, a downturn in the
economy or difficult economic conditions may result in fewer customers shopping in the Company’s stores or
online. In response, the Company may have to increase the duration and/or frequency of promotional events and
offer larger discounts in order to attract customers, which would reduce gross margin and adversely affect results
of operations.

The Company continues to make targeted investments in key areas to improve customer service and
enhance merchandise assortment and allocation effectiveness. In addition, strategic investments are being made
to remodel and expand existing selling space with a heightened focus on return on investment. The Company
believes that its long-term strategic plans can deliver additional operating margin expansion in future years.
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The Company seeks to create value for its shareholders by improving returns on its invested capital. The
Company attempts to generate improved operating margins by generating sales increases while improving
merchandising margins and controlling expenses. The Company uses operating cash flows to reinvest in the
business and to repurchase debt or equity. The Company actively manages its real estate portfolio by routinely
evaluating opportunities to improve or close underproductive stores and open new stores.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On July 5, 2005, Belk acquired from the Company for approximately $622.7 million in cash substantially all
of the assets directly involved in the Proffitt’s business operations, plus the assumption of approximately $1.0
million in capitalized lease obligations and the assumption of certain other ordinary course liabilities associated
with the acquired assets. The assets sold included the real and personal property and inventory associated with 22
Proffitt’s stores and 25 McRae’s stores that generated fiscal 2004 revenues of approximately $784.0 million. The
Company realized a net gain of $155.5 million on the sale.

Upon the closing of the transaction, Belk entered into a Transition Services Agreement (“Proffitt’s TSA”)
whereby the Company continued to provide certain back office services related to the Proffitt’s operations.
Beginning with the second quarter of 2006, the back office services were substantially complete, and therefore,
the Proffitt’s TSA no longer qualified as continuing involvement in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

On March 6, 2006, the Company sold to Bon-Ton all outstanding equity interests of certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries that owned NDSG, either directly or indirectly. The consideration received consisted of
approximately $1.12 billion in cash (reduced as described below based on changes in working capital), plus the
assumption by Bon-Ton of approximately $35 million of unfunded benefit liabilities and approximately $35
million of capital leases. A working capital adjustment based on working capital as of the effective time of the
transaction reduced the amount of cash proceeds by approximately $75 million resulting in net cash proceeds to
the Company of approximately $1.04 billion. The disposition included NDSG’s operations consisting of, among
other things, the following: the real and personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 142
NDSG units (31 Carson Pirie Scott stores, 14 Bergner’s stores, 10 Boston Store stores, 40 Herberger’s stores, and
47 Younkers stores), the administrative/headquarters facilities in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and distribution centers
located in Rockford, Illinois, Naperville, Illinois, Green Bay, Wisconsin, and Ankeny, Iowa. The Company
realized a net gain of $204.7 million on the sale.

Bon-Ton entered into a Transition Service Agreement with the Company (“NDSG TSA”), whereby the
Company continued to provide, for varying transition periods, back office services related to the NDSG operations.
The back-office services included certain information technology, telecommunications, credit, accounting and store
planning services, among others. Bon-Ton compensated the Company for these services, as outlined in the NDSG
TSA. The results of the NDSG operations are reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows for fiscal year 2006.

On October 2, 2006, the Company sold to Belk of all of the outstanding equity interests of the Company’s
subsidiaries that conducted the Parisian specialty department store business (“Parisian”). The consideration
received consisted of $285.0 million in cash (increased in accordance with a working capital adjustment
described below). In addition, Belk reimbursed the Company at closing for $6.7 million in capital expenditures
incurred in connection with the construction of four new Parisian stores. Belk also paid the Company a premium
associated with the purchase of accounts and accounts receivable from Household Bank (SB), N.A. (now known
as HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., “HSBC”), in the amount of $2.3 million. A working capital adjustment based on
working capital as of the effective time of the transaction increased the amount of cash proceeds by $14.2 million
resulting in total net cash proceeds of $308.2 million.
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The disposition included Parisian’s operations consisting of, among other things, the following: real and
personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 38 Parisian stores, an administrative/
headquarters facility in Birmingham, Alabama and a distribution center located in Steele, Alabama. The
Company realized a net loss of $12.8 million on the sale.

In connection with the consummation of the Parisian transaction, the Company entered into a Transition
Services Agreement with Belk (“Parisian TSA”). Pursuant to the Parisian TSA, the Company provided, for
varying transition periods, back-office services related to the Company’s former Parisian specialty department
store business. The back-office services included information technology, telecommunications, credit, accounting
and store planning services, among others. The results of the Parisian operations are reflected as discontinued
operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows
for fiscal year 2006.

As of January 31, 2009, the Company discontinued the operations of its CLL business, which consisted of
98 leased, mall-based specialty stores, targeting girls aged 4-12 years old. Charges incurred during 2008
associated with the closing of the stores included inventory liquidation costs of approximately $7.0 million, asset
impairment charges of $17.0 million, lease termination costs of $14.0 million, severance and personnel related
costs of $5.1 million and other closing costs of $1.4 million. The amount payable relating to the disposition of the
CLL business as of January 31, 2009 is $13.6 million and is expected to be paid during the year ending
January 30, 2010. These amounts and the results of operations of CLL are included in discontinued operations in
the consolidated statements of income for fiscal year 2008.

SAKS FIFTH AVENUE NEW ORLEANS STORE

In late August 2005, the SFA store in New Orleans suffered substantial water, fire, and other damage related
to Hurricane Katrina. The Company reopened the store in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2006 after necessary repairs
and renovations were made to the property.

The SFA New Orleans store was covered by both property damage and business interruption insurance. The
property damage coverage paid to repair and/or replace the physical property damage and inventory loss, and the
business interruption coverage reimbursed the Company for lost profits as well as continuing expenses related to
loss mitigation, recovery, and reconstruction for the full duration of the reconstruction period plus three months.
The Company recorded in 2005 both (i) a $14.7 million gain on the excess of the replacement insurance value
over the recorded net book value of the lost and damaged assets and (ii) $2.6 million of expenses related to the
insurance deductible. In 2006, the Company recorded an adjustment (credit) of $1.6 million related to the
insurance deductible. In 2007, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $13.5 million associated with the
proceeds from the business interruption claims.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

On a consolidated basis, total net sales and comparable store sales for the year ended January 31, 2009
decreased 6.0% and 6.1%, respectively. The Company recorded a loss from continuing operations of $122.8
million, or $0.89 per share compared to income from continuing operations of $50.7 million, or $0.33 per share,
for the years ended January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively. After recognition of the Company’s
after-tax loss from discontinued operations of $32.2 million, or $0.23 per share, net loss totaled $154.9 million,
or $1.12 per share for the year ended January 31, 2009. After recognition of the Company’s after-tax loss from
discontinued operations of $3.2 million, or $0.02 per share, net income totaled $47.5 million, or $0.31 per share
for the year ended February 2, 2008.
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The year ended January 31, 2009 included net after-tax charges totaling $26.2 million or $0.19 per share,
primarily related to $7.0 million or $0.05 per share of asset impairment charges incurred in the normal course of
business and approximately $6.7 million or $0.05 per share of severance costs related to the Company’s 2008
downsizing initiative and the Ft. Lauderdale store closing. The year ended January 31, 2009 also included a
write-off and adjustment of $14.6 million or $0.11 per share of certain deferred tax assets primarily associated
with Federal Net Operating Loss tax credits that expired at the end of fiscal 2008. These expenses were partially
offset by a net gain of $2.1 million or $0.02 per share related to the sale of three unutilized properties.

The year ended February 2, 2008 included net after-tax charges totaling $16.0 million, or $0.10 per share,
primarily related to $18.1 million, or $0.12 per share, for retention, severance, and transition costs related to the
Company’s downsizing and consolidation following the disposition of its SDSG businesses. Additionally, legal
and investigation costs totaled $3.7 million, or $.02 per share, associated with the previously disclosed
investigation by the SEC (which has been concluded) and the investigation by the Office of the United States
Attorney for the Southern District of New York as well as the settlement of two related vendor lawsuits. The year
ended February 2, 2008 also included a loss on extinguishment of debt totaling $3.4 million or $.02 per share,
related to the repurchase of $106.3 million of senior notes, $2.7 million, or $.02 per share, related to asset
impairments and dispositions, and $0.8 million expense related to a state tax adjustment. These expenses were
partially offset by an insurance adjustment (credit) of $8.1 million, or $0.05 per share, related to the New Orleans
Store, as well as a gain of $1.6 million, or $.01 per share, related to an OFF 5th store closing and the sale of an
unused support facility. Lastly, there was a $3.0 million, or $.02 per share, state income tax valuation adjustment
(credit).

The year ended February 3, 2007 included net after-tax charges totaling $33.9 million, or $0.25 per share,
primarily due to $22.3 million, or $0.16 per share, for retention and severance and a $21.0 million, or $0.15 per
share, non-cash charge related to the accounting treatment under the Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(“SFAS”) No. 123R “Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R”) for the discretionary anti-dilution adjustment
made to outstanding options in connection with the Company’s $4 per common share dividends paid in May and
November 2006. Additionally, there was a charge of $7.4 million, or $0.06 per share, primarily related to asset
impairments and dispositions, and expenses of $3.6 million, or $0.03 per share, related to legal and other costs
associated with the previously disclosed investigations. This was partially offset by income of $16.8 million, or
$0.12 per share, due to the favorable conclusion of certain tax examinations and the adjustment of certain tax
valuation allowances, a gain of $2.6 million, or $0.02 per share, related to a one-time gain on the curtailment of
the Company’s pension plan, and an insurance adjustment (credit) of $1.0 million, or $0.01 per share, related to
the New Orleans store.

The year ended February 3, 2007 included an extra week, creating a 53-week fiscal year that occurs every
six years in the accounting cycle for many retailers. Management estimates that the 53 week added $0.06 per
share to earnings per share for the year ended February 3, 2007.

The retail environment is challenging and competitive. Uncertain conditions make the forecasting of near-
term results difficult. The Company believes that execution of key strategic initiatives provides the Company an

opportunity and the resources to enhance shareholder value.

The Company believes that an understanding of its reported financial condition and results of operations is
not complete without considering the effect of all other components of MD&A included herein.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected items from the Company’s consolidated
statements of income, expressed as percentages of net sales (numbers may not total due to rounding):

Year Ended
January 31, February2, February3,
2009 2008 2007
Netsales ......oietiin i e e 100% 100% 100%
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) ................ @ @ EE
Grossmargin . . ....ovvinnt it i e 31.9 38.8 384
Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . . . i e 254 25.7 277
Other operating €Xpenses . .............c.ceeeivieeiineeinnnneann... 10.6 9.8 10.8
Impairments and dispositions . ..............c.vviiii i 04 0.1 04
Operating income (10ss) ...................... e e e 4.5) 32 0.5)
Interest eXPensSe . ...\ e i (1.3) (1.3) .7
Gain (loss) on extinguishment of debt ................. ..o, 0.0 0.2) 0.0
Other inCOME, NEL . . ...\ttt ettt et e et e 02 0.8 E
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes. . .. ... (5.6) 2.5 (1.3)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ...............uiininnnnnnnn. (1.5) 09 (1.1)
Income (loss) from continuing operations ....................... @.1) 1.6 0.1
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .............. .. ..c..... L.7) 0.2) 6.5
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ................. iiiei ... ©.7) (0.1) 45
Income (loss) from discontinued operations ..................... a.1 .1) 20
Netincome (JOSS) «ovvvinnne ittt ettt e (5.D)% 1.5% 1.9%
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2009 (“2008”) COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED
FEBRUARY 2, 2008 (“2007”)
DISCUSSION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) — CONTINUING OPERATIONS
The following table shows the changes in operating income (loss) from 2007 to 2008:
Total
(In Millions) Company
2007 Operating Income — Continuing Operations ........................ccooivinennn.... $ 102.9
Store sales and MArgin . .. ....... .ot i (284.6)
Operating eXpenses . ...........oveeieinennnnnn... it e b e e ee e e e e e ey 532
Impairments and dispositions ................ ... ittt [P (6.9)
Change . ... (238.3)
2008 Operating Loss — Continuing Operations .. ................ouuuurrrennnnnnnn. $(135.4)

For the year ended January 31, 2009, the Company’s operating loss totaled $135.4 million, a 770 basis point
decrease from operating income of $102.9 million in the same period last year. Operating loss was driven bya
6.1% decrease in comparable store sales and a gross margin rate decline of 690 basis points for the year ended
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January 31, 2009. The decline in gross margin dollars and the gross margin rate was principally due to aggressive
markdowns taken in the fourth quarter of 2008 as the Company initiated promotional activities in an effort to
stimulate consumer demand and reduce inventory levels.

NET SALES

For the year ended January 31, 2009, total sales decreased 6.0% to $3,029.7 million from $3,224.1 million
for the year ended February 2, 2008. Consolidated comparable store sales decreased $197.3 million, or 6.1%
from $3,211.7 million for the year ended February 2, 2008 to $3,014.4 million for the year ended January 31,
2009.

Comparable store sales are calculated on a rolling 13-month basis. Thus, to be included in the comparison, a
store must be open for 13 months. The additional month is used to transition the first month impact of a new
store opening. Correspondingly, closed stores are removed from the comparable store sales comparison when
they begin liquidating merchandise. Expanded, remodeled, converted and re-branded stores are included in the
comparable store sales comparison, except for the periods in which they are closed for remodeling and
renovation.

GROSS MARGIN

For the year ended January 31, 2009, gross margin was $967.2 million, or 31.9% of net sales, compared to
$1,251.8 million, or 38.8% of net sales, for the year ended February 2, 2008. The decline in gross margin dollars
and gross margin rate was primarily driven by incremental markdowns as the Company reacted to the rapidly
deteriorating economic conditions and aggressively worked to clear excess inventory.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the year ended January 31, 2009, SG&A was $770.8 million, or 25.4% of net sales, compared to $827.6
million, or 25.7% of net sales, for the year ended February 2, 2008. The decrease of $56.8 million in expenses
was primarily driven by lower variable expenses associated with the year over year sales decrease of $194.4
million, general expense reduction and a decrease in severance, retention and transition costs of $19.6 million
from the prior year. As a percentage of sales, SG&A decreased by 20 basis points over the prior year.

Amounts received from vendors in conjunction with compensation programs and cooperative advertising
were consistent with the related gross compensation and cooperative advertising expenditures and therefore had
no significant impact on SG&A expense, in dollars or as a percentage of net sales.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

For the year ended January 31, 2009, other operating expenses were $320.7 million, or 10.6% of net sales,
compared to $317.0 million, or 9.8% of net sales, for the year ended February 2, 2008. The increase of $3.7
million was principally driven by higher depreciation and amortization expense and property and equipment
rentals of $3.0 million and $1.0 million, respectively and an increase in store pre-opening costs of $1.6 million.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease in taxes other than income taxes of $1.9 million.

IMPAIRMENTS AND DISPOSITIONS

For the year ended January 31, 2009, the Company recognized net charges from impairments and
dispositions of $11.1 million compared to net charges of $4.3 million for the year ended February 2, 2008. The
current and prior year net charges were primarily due to asset impairments in the normal course of business.
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INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense decreased to $39.3 million in 2008 from $42.3 million in 2007 and, as a percentage of net
sales, was 1.3% in 2008 and 2007. The decrease of $3.0 million was primarily due to lower interest rates due in
part to utilizing the revolving credit facility to retire approximately $84.1 million in principal amount of senior
notes which matured in November 2008.

GAIN/(LOSS) ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT

During the year ended February 2, 2008, the Company repurchased a total of approximately $106.3 million
of senior notes. The repurchase of these notes resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $5.6 million. There
were no such losses recorded during the year ended January 31, 2009.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income decreased to $5.6 million in 2008 from $24.9 million in 2007. Other income in 2008 included
a $3.4 million gain on the sale of three unutilized properties. Other income in 2007 included approximately $13.5
million of business interruption insurance settlement proceeds received for the SFA New Orleans store, which
was destroyed in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, $6.2 million of interest income and $2.7 million related to
an OFF 5% store closing and the sale of an unused support facility.

INCOME TAXES

For 2008 and 2007, the effective income tax rate for continuing operations differs from the federal statutory
tax rate due to state income taxes and other items such as executive compensation, tax-exempt interest, change in
state tax law, the change in the valuation allowance against state net operating loss carryforwards, the effect of
concluding tax examinations and other tax reserve adjustments, and the write-off of an expired Federal NOL.
Including the effect of these items, the Company’s effective income tax rate for continuing operations was 27.4%
and 36.5% in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

2007 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 3, 2007 (“2006”)
DISCUSSION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) — CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The following table shows the changes in operating income (loss) from 2006 to 2007:

Total

(In Millions) Company
2006 Operating Loss — Continuing Operations . . ................coitiiiieiiinnnnnnnnn.. $(15.3)
Store sales and MATZIN . ... oot e 143.5
OPerating EXpenSES . ... ... .utt e ittt ettt e e e e (32.8)
Impairments and dispositions .. .......... ... .o it e e e e 7.5

Change ... ... e e e e 118.2
2007 Operating Income — Continuing Operations ......................... . cuieeeueinn. $102.9

For the year ended February 2, 2008, the Company’s operating income totaled $102.9 million, a 370 basis
point improvement from an operating loss of $15.3 million for the year ended February 3, 2007. Operating
income was driven by a 11.9% increase in comparable store sales and expense management which resulted in a
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300 basis point improvement in the expense rate as a percentage of sales. Additionally, the gross margin rate
improved 40 basis points for the year ended February 2, 2008. The improvement in gross margin dollars and the
gross margin rate was principally attributable to the higher sales driven by the strengthening of merchandise
assortments by store and enhancements to the merchandise planning and allocation process.

NET SALES

For the year ended February 2, 2008, total sales increased 11.6% to $3,224.1 million from $2,888.4 million
for the year ended February 3, 2007. The fiscal year ended February 3, 2007 included an extra week, creating a
53-week fiscal year that occurs every six years in the accounting cycle for many retailers which accounted for an
additional $42.7 million in sales. Consolidated comparable store sales increased $332.9 million, or 11.9% from
$2,805.3 million for the 52-week period ended January 27, 2007 to $3,138.2 million at February 2, 2008. The
previously mentioned 53 week has been excluded from the comparable store sales calculation.

GROSS MARGIN

For the year ended February 2, 2008, gross margin was $1,251.8 million, or 38.8% of net sales, compared to
$1,108.3 million, or 38.4% of net sales, for the year ended February 3, 2007. The improvement in gross margin
dollars and gross margin rate was principally attributable to the higher sales driven by the strengthening of
merchandise assortments by store and enhancements to the merchandise planning and allocation process.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the year ended February 2, 2008, SG&A was $827.6 million, or 25.7% of net sales, compared to $799.3
million, or 27.7% of net sales, for the year ended February 3, 2007. The net increase of $28.3 million in expenses
was primarily driven by higher variable expenses associated with the year over year sales increase of $335.6
million. The fiscal 2006 period included a $33.4 million charge associated with the anti-dilution adjustment made
to outstanding options related to the Company’s $4 per share dividend paid on May 1, 2006 and the $4 per share
dividend paid on November 30, 2006. As a percentage of sales, SG&A decreased by 200 basis points from the
year ended February 3, 2007; however, excluding the anti-dilution adjustment noted above, SG&A expense as a
percentage of sales declined 80 basis points over the same period.

Amounts received from vendors in conjunction with compensation programs and cooperative advertising
were consistent with the related gross compensation and cooperative advertising expenditures and therefore had
no impact on SG&A expense, in dollars or as a percentage of net sales.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

For the year ended February 2, 2008, other operating expenses were $317.0 million, or 9.8% of net sales,
compared to $312.5 million, or 10.8% of net sales, for the year ended February 3, 2007. The increase of $4.5
million was principally driven by higher depreciation and amortization expense of $5.9 million and an increase in
taxes other than income taxes of $5.9 million. This is partially offset by a decrease in property and equipment
rentals of $7.5 million for the year ended February 2, 2008. As a percentage of sales, other operating expenses
decreased slightly, reflecting the ability to leverage expenses as store sales increased.

IMPAIRMENTS AND DISPOSITIONS

For the year ended February 2, 2008, the Company recognized net charges from impairments and
dispositions of $4.3 million compared to net charges of $11.8 million for the year ended February 3, 2007. The
current and prior year net charges were primarily due to asset impairments in the normal course of business.
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INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense declined to $42.3 million in 2007 from $50.1 million in 2006 and, as a percentage of net
sales, decreased to 1.3% in 2007 from 1.7% in 2006. The decrease of $7.8 million was primarily due to the
reduction in debt resulting from the repurchase of approximately $106.3 million of senior notes during the year
ended February 2, 2008.

GAIN/(LOSS) ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT

During the year ended February 2, 2008, the Company repurchased a total of approximately $106.3 million
of senior notes. The repurchase of these notes resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $5.6 million. For
the year ended February 3, 2007, the Company repurchased a total of approximately $0.2 million in principal
amount of senior notes. The repurchase of these notes resulted in a gain on extinguishment of debt of $7
thousand.

OTHER INCOME, NET

Other income decreased to $24.9 million in 2007 from $28.4 million in 2006 primarily due to the decrease
in interest income of $18.6 million as the Company invested the cash proceeds from the NDSG and Parisian
dispositions prior to the payment of the May and November $4 per common share dividends in 2006. This is
partially offset by an increase to other income of approximately $13.5 million due to the business interruption
insurance settlement proceeds received for the SFA New Orleans store, which was destroyed in the aftermath of
Hurricane Katrina. Other income in 2007 also included $2.7 million related to an OFF 5t store closing and the
sale of an unused support facility.

INCOME TAXES

For 2007 and 2006 the effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate due to state
income taxes and other items such as executive compensation, tax-exempt interest, the change in valuation
allowance against state net operating loss carryforwards, and the effect of concluding tax examinations and other
tax reserve adjustments. Including the effect of these items, the Company’s effective income tax rate for
continuing operations was 36.5% and 89.3% in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The effective income tax rate for
2006 was impacted by a favorable settlement of certain tax examinations as well as the effect of the allocation of
state taxes to discontinued operations.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
CASH FLOW

The primary needs for cash are to fund operations, acquire or construct new stores, renovate and expand
existing stores, provide working capital for new and existing stores, invest in technology and distribution centers
and service debt. The Company anticipates that cash on hand, cash generated from operating activities and
borrowings under its revolving credit facility will be sufficient to sustain its current level of operations.

Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $17.2 million in 2008, $67.4 million
in 2007 and $153.8 million in 2006. The accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows identify major
differences between net income and net cash provided by operating activities for each of those years. Cash
provided by operating activities principally represents income before depreciation and non-cash charges and after
changes in working capital. Working capital is significantly impacted by changes in inventory and accounts
payable. Inventory levels typically increase or decrease to support expected sales levels and accounts payable
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fluctuations are generally determined by the timing of merchandise purchases and payments. The $50.2 million
decrease in cash flows from continuing operations in 2008 from 2007 was primarily driven by the loss from
continuing operations of $122.8 million in 2008 compared to income from continuing operations of $50.7 million
in 2007 and a year over year decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of approximately $114.6
million. This was partially offset by an inflow of cash resulting from a decrease in inventory of approximately
$118.5 million. The decrease in inventory and accounts payable is due to the Company’s effort to more closely
align inventories with current consumption trends. The $86.4 million decrease in cash flows from continuing
operations in 2007 from 2006 was primarily due to a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
increased inventory levels, partially offset by higher net income.

Cash used in investing activities from continuing operations was $123.0 million in 2008, $124.4 million in
2007 and $121.2 million in 2006. Cash used in investing activities principally consists of construction of new
stores and renovation and expansion of existing stores and investments in support areas (e.g., technology and
distribution centers). The $1.4 million decrease in cash used in 2008 is primarily related to a decrease in capital
expenditures of approximately $9.4 million, partially off-set by a decrease in proceeds from the sale of property
and equipment of approximately $8.0 million. The $3.2 million increase in cash used in 2007 is primarily related
to an increase in capital expenditures of approximately $15.4 million, partially offset by the increase in proceeds
from the sale of SFA property of approximately $12.2 million.

Cash provided by financing activities from continuing operations was $35.5 million in 2008. Cash used in
financing activities from continuing operations was $119.6 million in 2007 and $1,041.2 million in 2006. The
2008 cash provided by financing activities relates to proceeds of $156.7 million from the revolving credit facility
and $4.1 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock associated with stock option exercises partially
off-set by the repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations of approximately $89.2 million and
$34.9 million of common stock repurchases. The 2007 use relates to the repurchase of approximately $106.3
million in principal amount of senior notes and $27.5 million of common stock repurchases partially off-set by
$34.3 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock associated with stock option exercises. The 2006
use primarily relates to the payment of cash dividends totaling $1,095.0 million and $6.5 million of common
stock repurchases partially off-set by $51.7 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock associated
with stock option exercises.

On March 6, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common share
totaling approximately $547.5 million, and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity by that amount.
Approximately $539.0 million of the dividend was paid on May 1, 2006 to shareholders of record as of April 14,
2006. The remaining portion of the dividend payable will be paid prospectively as, and to the extent, awards of
restricted stock vest.

On October 3, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common
share totaling approximately $558.6 million, and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity by that amount.
Approximately $552.0 million of the dividend was paid on November 30, 2006 to shareholders of record as of
November 15, 2006. The remaining portion of the dividend payable will be paid prospectively as, and to the
extent, awards of restricted stock vest. ‘

During the year ended February 3, 2007, the Company repurchased approximately 0.5 million shares of its
common stock at an average price of $14.51 and a total cost of approximately $6.5 million.

During the year ended February 2, 2008, the Company repurchased approximately 1.7 million shares of its
common stock at an average price of $15.95 and a total cost of approximately $27.5 million.
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During the year ended January 31, 2009, the Company repurchased approximately 2.9 million shares of its
common stock at an average price of $11.83 per share and a total cost of approximately $34.9 million. At
January 31, 2009, there were 32.7 million shares remaining available for repurchase under the Company’s
existing shares repurchase program.

CASH BALANCES AND LIQUIDITY

The Company’s primary sources of short-term liquidity comprises cash on hand and availability under its
revolving credit facility. At the Company’s request, due to the sale of NDSG, the revolving credit facility was
reduced from $800 million to $500 million in March 2006. In September 2006, the maturity date of the revolving
credit facility was extended to September 2011. At January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company
maintained cash and cash equivalent balances of $10.3 million and $101.2 million, respectively. Exclusive of
approximately $10.0 million and $15.7 million of store operating cash at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008,
respectively, cash was invested principally in various money market funds. There was no restricted cash at
January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008.

At January 31, 2009, the Company had $156.7 million of direct borrowings under its revolving credit
facility, and had $21.5 million in unfunded letters of credit. The Company had maximum unfunded letters of
credit of $34.3 million on its revolving credit facility during 2008, which reduces the amount of borrowings
under the facility. Borrowings are limited to a prescribed percentage of eligible inventories and receivables.
There are no debt ratings-based provisions in the revolving credit facility. The facility includes a fixed-charge
coverage ratio requirement of 1 to 1 that the Company is subject to only if availability under the facility becomes
less than $60 million. The Company had unutilized availability under the facility of $261.8 million after factoring
in the outstanding borrowings and outstanding letters of credit at year end and excluding the last $60 million of
availability due to the fixed charge ratio falling below the required. 1 to 1 coverage. The amount of cash on hand
and borrowings under the facility are influenced by a number of factors, including sales, inventory levels, vendor
terms, the level of capital expenditures, cash requirements related to financing instruments, and the Company’s
tax payment obligations, among others.

The Company is very focused on cash management and capital preservation and has implemented a number
of actions in an effort to be free cash flow positive in 2009. The planned actions include an approximate 50%
reduction in year over year capital expenditures, an approximate 20% reduction in year over year inventory
purchases, an approximate 9% reduction in force that was implemented in January 2009, and general operating
expense reductions throughout the Company. Based on these actions and the fact that the Company has no
maturities of debt until late 2010, the Company expects to have sufficient liquidity to fund operations in 2009.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company continuously evaluates its debt-to-capitalization ratio in light of economic trends, business
trends, levels of interest rates, and terms, conditions and availability of capital in the capital markets. At
January 31, 2009, the Company’s capital and financing structure was comprised of a revolving credit agreement,
senior unsecured notes, convertible senior unsecured notes, and capital and operating leases. At January 31,
2009, total debt was $640.1 million, representing an increase of $67.5 million from the balance of $572.6 million
at February 2, 2008. This increase in debt was primarily the result of $156.7 million in new borrowings under the
revolving credit agreement partially off-set by the $84.1 million maturity of senior notes in 2008. Additionally,
the debt-to-capitalization ratio increased to 39.9% in 2008, from 32.8% in 2007, primarily as a result of the
increase in debt in 2008.

At January 31, 2009, the Company maintained a senior revolving credit facility. maturing in 2011, which is
secured by inventory and certain third party credit card accounts receivable. Borrowings are limited to a
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prescribed percentage of eligible inventories and receivables. There are no debt ratings-based provisions in the
revolving credit facility. The facility includes a fixed-charge coverage ratio requirement of 1 to 1 that the
Company is subject to only if availability under the facility becomes less than $60 million. At January 31, 2009,
the Company’s fixed charge coverage was below the 1 to 1 requirement; however, the Company is not subject to
the fixed charge coverage ratio as its availability under the facility exceeds $60 million. The facility contains
default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, including a provision that would trigger a default of
the facility if a default were to occur in another debt instrument resulting in the acceleration of principal of more
than $20 million in that other instrument. At January 31, 2009, the Company had $156.7 million in borrowings
under the revolving credit facility. The senior revolving credit facility has a maximum capacity of $500 million.
The Company plans to reduce its inventory levels in 2009, and consequently, the maximum availability is
expected to be below $500 million in certain periods during 2009.

At January 31, 2009, the Company had $192.3 million of senior notes outstanding, excluding the convertible
notes, comprising four separate series having maturities ranging from 2010 to 2019 and interest rates ranging
from 7.00% to 9.88%. The terms of each senior note call for all principal to be repaid at maturity. The senior
notes have substantially identical terms except for the maturity dates and interest rates payable to investors. Each
senior note contains limitations on the amount of secured indebtedness the Company may incur. The Company
believes it will have sufficient cash on hand, availability under its revolving credit facility and access to various
capital markets to repay these notes at maturity.

On April 12, 2007, the Company announced the results of its modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer to
purchase a portion of its 8.25% senior notes due November 15, 2008 for an aggregate purchase price not to
exceed $100 million (the “offer cap™). The offer expired on April 11, 2007. The aggregate principal amount of
notes validly tendered at or above the clearing spread exceeded the offer cap and the Company accepted $95.9
million aggregate principal amount of the notes, resulting in an aggregate purchase price of $100 million (plus an
additional $3.2 million in aggregate accrued interest on such notes). The Company accepted for purchase first, all
notes tendered at spreads above the clearing spread, and thereafter, the notes validly tendered at the clearing
spread on a prorated basis according to the principal amount of such notes. During the three months ended
May 5, 2007, the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of approximately $5.2 million related to the
repurchase of the notes.

During June and July 2007, the Company repurchased an additional $10.4 million in principal amount
primarily relating to its 8.25% senior notes. The repurchase of these notes resulted in a loss on extinguishment of
approximately $412 thousand. The remainder of the 8.25% notes were retired upon maturity on November 15,
2008.

The Company had $230 million of convertible senior notes, at January 31, 2009, that bear interest of 2.0%
and mature in 2024. The provisions of the convertible notes allow the holder to convert the notes to shares of the
Company’s common stock at a conversion rate of 83.5609 shares per one thousand dollars in principal amount of
notes. The most significant terms and conditions of the senior notes include: the Company can settle a conversion
with shares and/or cash; the holder may put the debt back to the Company in 2014 or 2019; the holder cannot
convert until the Company’s share price is greater than 120% of the applicable conversion price for a certain
trading period; the Company can call the debt on or after March 11, 2011; the conversion rate is subject to a
dilution adjustment; and the holder can convert upon a significant credit rating decline and upon a call. The
Company used approximately $25 million of the proceeds from the issuances to enter into a convertible note
hedge and written call options on its common stock to reduce the exposure to dilution from the conversion of the
notes. The Company believes it will have sufficient cash on hand, availability under its revolving credit facility
and access to various capital markets to repay both the senior notes and convertible notes at maturity.
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At January 31, 2009, the conversion criteria with respect to the credit rating requirements were met,
however the share price was significantly below the conversion price. Due to the share price being significantly
below the conversion price, the Company has classified the convertible notes in “long-term debt” on the
Company’s balance sheet as of January 31, 2009. At February 2, 2008, the holders of the convertible notes had
the ability to exercise their conversion rights as a result of the Company’s share price exceeding 120% of the
applicable conversion price for the trading period. Therefore, the convertible notes were classified within
“current portion of long-term debt” on the Company’s balance sheet as of February 2, 2008.

At January 31, 2009, the Company had $61.1 million in capital leases covering various properties and pieces
of equipment. The terms of the capital leases provide the lessor with a security interest in the asset being leased
and require the Company to make periodic lease payments, aggregating between $4 million and $6 million per
year. ’

The Company is obligated to fund a cash balance pension plan. The Company’s current policy is to maintain
at least the minimum funding requirements specified by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
The Company expects funding requirements of up to $1.0 million in 2009. As part of the sale of NDSG to
Bon-Ton, the NDSG pension assets and liabilities were acquired by Bon-Ton. Additionally, the Company
amended the SFA Pension Plan during 2006, freezing benefit accruals for all participants except those who have
attained age 55 and completed 10 years of credited service as of January 1, 2007, who are considered to be
non-highly compensated employees. In January 2009, the Company suspended future benefit accruals for all
remaining participants in the plan, effective March 13, 2009.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The contractual cash obligations at January 31, 2009 associated with the Company’s capital structure, as
well as other contractual obligations are illustrated in the following table:

Payments Due by Period
(Dollars in Millions) Within 1 year Years2-3 = Years4-5 After Year 5 Total
Long-Term Debt, including interest . .. ............. $ 27 $388 $13 $279 $ 707
Capital Lease Obligations, including interest ........ 12 23 21 55 111
OperatingLeases ...........coviiineinnnnnnnens 67 126 95 189 477
Purchase Obligations .................cceevnnn.. 378 31 20 — 429
Total Contractual Cash Obligations ............ $484 $568 $149 $523 $1,724

The Company’s purchase obligations principally consist of purchase orders for merchandise, store
construction contract commitments, maintenance contracts, and services agreements and amounts due under
employment agreements. Amounts committed under open purchase orders for merchandise inventory represent
approximately $329.3 million of the purchase obligations within one year, a substantial portion of which are
cancelable without penalty prior to a date that precedes the vendor’s scheduled shipment date.

On March 6, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common share,
and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity for the $547.5 million dividend. Approximately $539.0 million of
the dividend was paid on May 1, 2006 to shareholders of record as of April 14, 2006. On October 3, 2006 the
Company’s Board of Directors declared another cash dividend of $4.00 per common share, and the Company
reduced shareholders’ equity for the $558.6 million dividend. Approximately $552.0 million of the dividend was
paid on November 30, 2006 to shareholders of record as. of November 15, 2006. The remaining portion of the
dividends will be paid prospectively as, and to the extent, certain awards of restricted stock vest.
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Each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock has one preferred stock purchase right attached.
The rights generally become exercisable ten days after an outside party acquires, or makes an offer for, 20% or
more of the common stock. Each right entitles its holder to purchase 1/100 share of Series C Junior Preferred
Stock for $50 once the rights become exercisable. The rights expire in November 2018. Once exercisable, if the
Company is involved in a merger or other business combination or an outside party acquires 20% or more of the
common stock, each right will be modified to entitle its holder (other than the acquirer) to purchase common
stock of the acquiring company or, in certain circumstances, common stock having a market value of twice the
exercise price of the right.

Additionally, at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company had accrued approximately $13.9
million and $4.0 million, respectively, related to severance compensation. Substantially all amounts accrued at
January 31, 2009 are expected to be paid during the year ending January 30, 2010.

Other long-term liabilities excluded from the above table include deferred compensation obligations of
$10.3 million. The timing of payments for this obligation is subject to employee elections and other employment
factors. Other long-term liabilities also include non-cash obligations for deferred rent and deferred property
incentives. Other unrecorded obligations that have been excluded from the contractual obligations table include
contingent rent payments, amounts that might come due under change-in-control provisions of employment
agreements, and common area maintenance costs. The Company expects funding requlrements for its pension
plan of up to $1.0 miltion in 2009.

Due to the uncertainty with respect to the timing of future cash flows associated with the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefits at January 31, 2009, the Company is unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of
the period of cash settlement with the respective taxing authority. Therefore, $45.0 million of unrecognized tax
benefits have been excluded from the contractual obligations table above.

The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements which would be reasonably likely to
have a current or future material effect, such as obligations under certain guarantees or contracts; retained or
contingent interests in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity or similar arrangements; obligations under
certain derivative arrangements; and obligations under material variable interests.

From time to time the Company has issued guarantees to landlords under leases of stores operated by its
subsidiaries. Certain of these stores were sold in connection with the SDSG and NDSG transactions. If the
purchasers fail to perform certain obligations under the leases guaranteed by the Company, the Company could
have obligations to landlords under such guarantees. Based on the information currently available, management
does not believe that its potential obligations under these lease guarantees would be material.

CREDIT CARDS

Prior to April 15, 2003, the Company’s proprietary credit cards were issued by National Bank of the Great
Lakes (“NBGL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. On April 15, 2003, the Company sold its
proprietary credit card portfolio, consisting of the proprietary credit card accounts owned by NBGL. and the
Company’s ownership interest in the assets of a trust, to HSBC, a third party financial institution.

As part of the transaction, for a term of ten years expiring in 2013 and pursuant to a program agreement,
HSBC established and owns proprietary credit card accounts for customers of the Company’s operating
subsidiaries, retains the benefits and risks associated with the ownership of the accounts, receives the finance
charge income and incurs the bad debts associated with those accounts. During the ten-year term, pursuant to a
servicing agreement, the Company continues to provide key customer service functions, including new account
opening, transaction authorization, billing adjustments and customer inquiries, and receives compensation from
HSBC for these services.
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At the end of the ten-year term expiring in 2013, the agreement can be renewed for two two-year terms. At
the end of the agreement, the Company has the right to repurchase, at fair value, all of the accounts and
outstanding accounts receivable, negotiate a new agreement with HSBC or begin issuing private label credit
cards itself or through others. The agreement allows the Company to terminate the agreement early following the
occurrence of certain events, the most significant of which would be HSBC’s failure to pay owed amounts,
bankruptcy, a change in control or a material adverse change in HSBC'’s ability to perform under the agreement.
The agreement also allows for HSBC to terminate the agreement if the Company fails to pay owed amounts or
enters bankruptcy. Should either the Company or HSBC choose to terminate the agreement early, the Company
has the right, but not the requirement, to repurchase the credit card accounts and associated accounts receivable
from HSBC at their fair value. The Company is contingently liable to pay monies to HSBC in the event of an
early termination or a significant disposition of stores. The contingent payment is based upon a declining portion
of an amount established at the beginning of the ten-year agreement and on a prorated portion of significant store
closings. The maximum contingent payment had the agreement been terminated early at January 31, 2009 would
have been approximately $21.8 million. Management believes the risk of incurring a contingent payment is
remote. ‘

In September of 2006 the Company entered into agreements with HSBC and MasterCard International
Incorporated to issue a co-branded MasterCard card to new and existing proprietary credit card customers. Under
this program, qualifying customers are issued a SFA and MasterCard-branded credit card that functions as a
traditional proprietary credit card when used at any SFA or OFF 5t store and at Saks Direct or as a MasterCard
card when used at any unaffiliated location that accepts MasterCard cards. HSBC establishes and owns the
co-brand accounts, retains the benefits and sales associated with the ownership of the accounts, receives the
finance charge and other income from the accounts, and incurs the bad-debts associated with the accounts.

CAPITAL NEEDS

The Company estimates capital expenditures for 2009 will be approximately $60 million, net of any
proceeds, primarily for store expansions and renovations, enhancements to management information systems,
maintenance capital and replacement capital expenditures.

The Company anticipates that working capital requirements related to existing stores, store expansions,
store renovations and capital expenditures will be funded through cash on hand, cash provided by operations and
the revolving credit facility. Maximum availability under the revolving credit facility is $500 million and there is
no debt rating trigger. During periods in which availability under the facility exceeds $60 million, the Company
is not subject to financial covenants. If availability under the facility were to decrease to less than $60 million,
the Company would be subject to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1 to 1. During 2008, weighted
average letters of credit issued under this credit facility were $28.6 million and letters of credit reduce the amount
available to borrow. The highest amount of letters of credit outstanding under the facility during 2008 was $34.3
million. The Company expects that its cash flows from operating activities combined with borrowings under its
revolving credit facility will be sufficient to sustain its current level of operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates are discussed.in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. Certain judgments and estimates utilized in implementing these accounting policies are
likewise discussed in each of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The following discussion
aggregates the judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies and estimates and the
likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported under varying conditions and assumptions.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

Sales and the related gross margin are recorded at the time customers provide a satisfactory form of
payment and take ownership of the merchandise. Revenue associated with gift cards is recognized upon
redemption of the card. There are minimal accounting judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of
this policy. The Company estimates the amount of goods that will be returned for a refund based on historical
trends and reduces sales and gross margin by that amount. However, given that approximately 25% of
merchandise sold is later returned and that the vast majority of merchandise returns occur within a short time
after the selling transaction, the risk of the Company realizing a materially different amount for sales and gross
margin than reported in the consolidated financial statements is minimal.

COST OF SALES AND INVENTORY VALUATION, EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTIZATION

Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the retail method. On February 3,
2008, the Company elected to change its method of costing its inventories to the retail “first-in, first-out” (FIFO)
method, whereas in all prior periods inventory was costed using the retail “last-in, first-out” (LIFO) method. The
new method of accounting had no impact on the fiscal years ending January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and
February 3, 2007 as the LIFO value exceeded the FIFO market value and inventory had been adjusted to reflect
FIFO market value in all periods. Under the retail method, the valuation of inventories at cost and the resulting
gross margins are determined by applying a calculated cost-to-retail ratio to the retail value of inventories. The
cost of the inventory reflected on the consolidated balance sheet is decreased with a charge to cost of sales
contemporaneous with the lowering of the retail value of the inventory on the sales floor through the use of
markdowns. Hence, earnings are negatively impacted as the merchandise is being devalued with markdowns
prior to the sale of the merchandise. The areas requiring significant management judgment include (1) setting the
original retail value for the merchandise held for sale, (2) recognizing merchandise for which the customer’s
perception of value has declined and appropriately marking the retail value of the merchandise down to the
perceived value, and (3) estimating the shrinkage that has occurred through theft during the period between
physical inventory counts. These judgments and estimates, coupled with the averaging processes within the retail
method, can, under certain circumstances, produce varying financial results. Factors that can lead to different
financial results include setting original retail prices for merchandise held for sale too high, failure to identify a
decline in perceived value of inventories and process the appropriate retail value markdowns and overly
optimistic or overly conservative shrinkage estimates. The Company believes it has the appropriate merchandise
valuation and pricing controls in place to minimize the risk that its inventory values would be materially under or
overvalued. :

The Company receives vendor provided support in different forms. When the vendor provides support for
inventory markdowns, the Company records the support as a reduction to cost of sales. Such support is recorded
in the period that the corresponding markdowns are taken. When the Company receives inventory-related support
that is not designated for markdowns, the Company includes this support as a reduction in cost purchases.

SELF-INSURANCE RESERVES

The Company self-insures a substantial portion of the exposure for costs related primarily to employee
medical, workers’ compensation and general liability. Expenses are recorded based on estimates for reported and
incurred but not reported claims considering a number of factors, including historical claims experience, severity
factors, litigation costs, inflation and other assumptions. Although the Company does not expect the amount it
will ultimately pay to differ significantly from its estimates, self-insurance reserves could be affected if future
claims experience differs significantly from the historical trends and assumptions.
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DEPRECIATION AND RECOVERABILITY OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Over forty percent of the Company’s assets at January 31, 2009 are represented by investments in property
and equipment. Determining appropriate depreciable lives and reasonable assumptions for use in evaluating the
carrying value of capital assets requires judgments and estimates.

The Company principally utilizes the straight-line depreciation method and a variety of depreciable
lives. Land is not depreciated. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 20 to 40 years. Store
fixtures are depreciated over 10 years. Equipment utilized in stores (e.g., escalators) and in support areas
(e.g., distribution centers, technology) and fixtures in support areas are depreciated over 3 to 15 years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or their related
lease terms, generally ranging from 10 to 20 years. Internally generated computer software is amortized
over 3 to 10 years. Generally, no estimated salvage value at the end of the useful life of the assets is
considered.

When constructing stores, the Company receives allowances from landlords. If the landlord is
determined to be the primary beneficiary of the property, then the portion of those allowances
attributable to the property owned by the landlord is considered to be a deferred rent liability, whereas
the corresponding capital expenditures related to that store are considered to be prepaid rent.
Allowances in excess of the amounts attributable to the property owned by the landlord are considered
improvement allowances and are recorded as deferred rent liabilities that are amortized over the life of
the lease. Capital expenditures are also reduced when the Company receives cash and allowances from
merchandise vendors to fund the construction of vendor shops.

To the extent the Company remodels or otherwise replaces or disposes of property and equipment prior
to the end of their assigned depreciable lives, the Company could realize a loss or gain on the
disposition. To the extent assets continue to be used beyond their assigned depreciable lives, no
depreciation expense is being realized. The Company reassesses the depreciable lives in an effort to
reduce the risk of significant losses or gains at disposition and utilization of assets with no depreciation
charges. The reassessment of depreciable lives involves utilizing historical remodel and disposition
activity and forward-looking capital expenditure plans.

Recoverability of the carrying value of store assets is assessed upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g., opening a new store near an existing store or announcing plans for a store closing) and, absent
certain triggering events, annually during the fourth quarter. The recoverability assessment requires
judgment and estimates for future store generated cash flows. The underlying estimates for cash flows
include estimates for future sales, gross margin rates, inflation and store expenses. During the years
ended January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008 -and February 3, 2007, the Company incurred charges of
$11.1 million, $4.3 million, and $7.2 million, respectively, related to asset impairments and other costs
in the normal course of business.

LEASES

The Company leases stores, distribution centers, and administrative facilities under operating leases. Store
lease agreements generally include rent holidays, rent escalation clauses and contingent rent provisions for a
percentage of sales in excess of specified levels. Most of the Company’s lease agreements include renewal
periods at the Company’s option. The Company recognizes rent holiday periods and scheduled rent increases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term beginning with the date the Company takes possession of the leased space
and includes such rent expense in Store Pre-Opening Costs. The Company records tenant improvement
allowances and rent holidays as deferred rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and amortizes the
deferred rent over the terms of the lease to rent expense in the consolidated statements of income. The Company
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records rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets for contingent percentage of sales lease provisions
when the Company determines that it is probable that the specified levels will be reached during the fiscal year.

INCOME AND OTHER TAXES -

The majority of the Company’s deferred tax assets at January 31, 2009 consist of federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards that will expire between 2009 and 2028. During 2008, the valuation allowance
against net operating loss carryforwards was increased based on projections of future profitability. At January 31,
2009 the Company believes that it will be sufficiently profitable during the periods from 2009 to 2028 to utilize
all of its federal NOLSs and a portion of its state NOLs. To the extent management’s estimates of future taxable
income by jurisdiction are greater than or less than management’s current estimates, future increases or decreases
in the income tax benefit for net operating losses could occur. '

The Company is routinely under audit by federal, state and local authorities in the areas of income taxes and
the remittance of sales and use taxes. Audit authorities may question the timing and amount of deductions, the
allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance with federal, state and local tax laws. In
evaluating the exposure associated with various tax filing positions, the Company often accrues for exposures
related to uncertain tax positions.

During 2008, an additional reserve of $.5 million was established for issues raised in current state tax
examinations and previously filed federal tax returns relating to prior periods. During 2007, an additional reserve
of $1.8 million was established for issues raised in current state tax examinations and previously filed federal tax
returns relating to prior periods. During 2006, the Company concluded a federal income tax examination for the
2003 and 2004 tax years and concluded a number of state income tax examinations as well which resulted in a
decrease in the amount previously accrued for exposures related to uncertain tax positions of $10.2 million. At
January 31, 2009, the Company believes it has appropriately accrued for future exposures related to uncertain tax
positions. To the extent the Company were to prevail in matters for which accruals have been established or be
required to pay amounts in excess of reserves, the Company’s effective tax rate in a given financial statement
period may be materially impacted.

The Company adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”)
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of SFAS No. 109” (“FIN No. 48”)
effective as of the beginning of fiscal year 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN No. 48, the Company
recorded a $33.7 million decrease in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits which was accounted for as an
increase to the beginning shareholder’s equity. Including the cumulative effect of the decrease, at the beginning
and end of 2008 the Company had approximately $44.6 million and $45.3 million (net of federal and state
benefits) of total unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. Of these totals, $13.3 million and $14.0 million (net of
federal and state benefits) represents the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect
the effective income tax rate in any future periods. It is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax
benefits will increase or decrease in the next twelve months as a result of settling uncertain tax positions.
However, the Company does not anticipate this to result in any material changes to the amount of unrecognized
tax benefits.

As a result of the analysis of uncertain tax positions upon the adoption of FIN No. 48, the net deferred tax
asset related to state net operating loss carryforwards increased. Therefore, the Company performed a valuation
allowance analysis to determine the realization of this asset. This analysis resulted in an additional valuation
allowance of $19.3 million with the offset recorded to shareholders’ equity in accordance with Statement of
Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code”
(“SOP 90-7""). The Company is subject to the provisions of SOP 90-7 for these net operating losses since these
losses were acquired through the acquisition of a company that had previously filed bankruptcy.
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The Company files a consolidated U.S. Federal income tax return as well as state tax returns in multiple
state jurisdictions. The Company has completed examinations by the Internal Revenue Service for taxable years
through January 29, 2005 with no significant adjustments. With respect to the state and local jurisdictions, the
Company has completed examinations in many jurisdictions through the same period and beyond and currently
has examinations in progress for several jurisdictions.

PENSION PLANS

Pension expense is based on actuarial models used to estimate the total benefits ultimately payable to
participants and is allocated to the respective service periods. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate pension
costs are reviewed annually. The Company’s funding policy provides that contributions to the pension trusts shall
be at least equal to the minimum funding requirement of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
The Company may provide additional contributions from time to time, generally not to exceed the maximum
tax-deductible limitation. Beginning in fiscal year 2008, the pension plans are valued annually as of the
Company’s fiscal year-end balance sheet date. In prior years, the pension plans were valued annually on
November 1¢t. The projected unit credit method is utilized in recognizing the pension liabilities.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 158 “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans” (“SFAS No. 158”). This Statement requires employers to (i) recognize the funded status of
their defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans on the consolidated balance sheet, (ii) recognize as a
component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that
arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost and (iii) measure
defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of the employer’s statement of financial position. The
Company adopted the recognition and disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 158 prospectively on February 3,
2007. Effective January 31, 2009, in accordance with SFAS No. 158, the Company adopted the measurement
date requirements of SFAS No. 158 and changed the measurement date from November 1 to the date of the
Company’s fiscal year end. ' :

Upon adoption of the recognition and disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 158, the Company recorded a
pension asset of $4.6 million and eliminated the prepaid pension asset of $47.7 million. Based on the funded
status of the defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans as of February 3, 2007, the Company also
recorded a net decrease in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) of $26.0 million. The adoption
of SFAS No. 158 on February 3, 2007 had no impact on the Company’s earnings. Upon adoption of the
measurement date requirements of SFAS No. 158, the Company recorded a $0.3 million decrease to 2008 ending
retained earnings.

Pension assumptions are based upon management’s best estimates as of the annual measurement date.

* The assumed discount rate utilized is based upon pension discount curves and bond portfolio curves
over a duration similar to the plan’s liabilities as of the measurement date. The discount rate is utilized
principally in calculating the Company’s pension obligation, which is represented by the Accumulated
Benefit Obligation (“ABO”) and the Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBO”) and in calculating net
pension expense. At January 31, 2009, the discount rate was 6.5%. To the extent the discount rate
increases or decreases, the Company’s ABO is decreased or increased, respectively. The estimated
effect of a 0.25% change in the discount rate is approximately $2.0 million on the ABO and
approximately $8 thousand on annual pension expense. To the extent the ABO increases, the after-tax
effect of such increase serves to reduce Other Comprehensive Income and Shareholders’ Equity.

¢ The assumed expected long-term rate of return on assets is the weighted average rate of earnings
expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the PBO. It is the
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Company’s policy to invest approximately 65% of the pension fund assets in equities, 30% in fixed
income securities and 5% in real estate. The Company’s estimate of the expected long-term rate of
return considers the historical returns on plan assets, as well as the future expectations of returns on
classes of assets within the target asset allocation of the plan asset portfolio. This rate is utilized
principally in calculating the expected return on plan assets component of the annual pension expense.
To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized is greater than the assumed rate, that year’s
annual pension expense is not affected. Rather, this gain reduces future pension expense over a period of
approximately 10 years. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets is less than the assumed rate,
that year’s annual pension expense is likewise not affected. Rather, this loss increases pension expense
over approximately 10 years. The Company’s expected long-term rate of return on assets was 8.0% in
2008 and 2007.

The assumed average rate of compensation increase is the average annual compensation increase
expected over the remaining employment periods for the participating employees. This rate is estimated
to be 4% for the periods following January 31, 2009 and is utilized principally in calculating the PBO
and annual pension expense. The estimated effect of a 0.25% change in the assumed rate of
compensation increases would not be material to the PBO or annual pension expense.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

On February 3, 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
(“SFAS No. 157”"), which clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market
participants would use when pricing an asset or a liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the information used to develop those assumptions. In February 2008, the FASB amended SFAS No. 157 to
exclude FASB Statement No. 13 “Accounting For Leases™ and its related interpretive accounting
pronouncements that address leasing transactions. The FASB also issued a final Staff Position to allow a
one-year deferral of adoption of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a non-recurring basis. The Company is in the
process of evaluating the impact of applying SFAS No. 157 to nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured on a
non-recurring basis. The impact of applying SFAS No. 157 to financial assets and liabilities did not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements for the year ending January 31, 2009.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value that currently are not required to be measured at fair value. This
Statement is effective no later than fiscal years beginning on or after November 15, 2007. The Company elected
to continue to record long-term debt at its amortized cost. Accordingly, this standard has no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141R”), which
addresses the recognition and accounting for identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-controlling
interests in business combinations. SFAS No. 141R also establishes expanded disclosure requirements for
business combinations. SFAS No. 141R will become effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year. The
effect of adopting SFAS No. 141R will depend on the circumstances of any potential future acquisitions made by
the Company.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements” (“SFAS No. 160”). This standard outlines the accounting and reporting for ownership interest in a
subsidiary held by parties other than the parent. SFAS No. 160 is effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal
year. The adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS No. 161”). This Statement amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”), to require an entity
to provide an enhanced understanding of its use of derivative instruments, how they are accounted for under
SFAS No. 133 and their effect on the entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The
provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year. The adoption of this
standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”") Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No.14-1
“Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial
Cash Settlement)” (“FSP APB 14-17). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be
settled in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB
Opinion No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants.”
Additionally, FSP APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability
and equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest
cost is recognized in subsequent periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company will adopt
the provisions of FSP APB 14-1 on February 1, 2009 and will be required to retroactively apply its provisions.
The adoption of FSP APB 14-1 is expected to result in approximately $71.9 million of the carrying value of the
2.00% convertible senior notes to be reclassified to equity as of the March 2004 issuance date. This amount
represents the equity component of the proceeds from the notes calculated assuming a 6.25% non-convertible
borrowing rate. The discount will be accreted to interest expense over the 10 year period to the first put date of
the notes in 2014. Accordingly, beginning in fiscal year 2009, the Company will revise its consolidated
statements of income to reflect the pre-tax non-cash interest expense of approximately $6.4 million, $6.0 million,
$5.6 million, $5.4 million, and $4.4 million for 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 03-6-1, “Determining Whether
Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-17).
This FSP provides that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or
dividend equivalents, whether paid or unpaid, are participating securities and shall be included in the
computation of both basic and diluted earnings per share. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The
adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132R-17), which provides additional guidance on employers’ disclosures about
the plan assets of defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans. The disclosures required by FSP
FAS 132R-1 include a description of how investment allocation decisions are made, major categories of plan
assets, valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets, the impact of measurements using
significant unobservable inputs and concentrations of risk within plan assets. The disclosures about plan assets
required by this FSP must be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. For the Company, FSP
FAS 132R-1 will be effective for the fiscal year ending January 30, 2010 and will result in additional disclosures
related to the assets of defined benefit pension plans in notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
See Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, in this Form 10-K.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

The information contained in this Form 10-K that addresses future results or expectations is considered
“forward-looking” information within the definition of the Federal securities laws. Forward-looking information
in this document can be identified through the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “intend,” “plan,” “project,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “should,” “would,” “believe,” “estimate,” “contemplate,” “possible,” and “point.” The
forward-looking information is premised on many factors, some of which are outlined below. Actual
consolidated results might differ materially from projected forward-looking information if there are any material

changes in management’s assumptions.

The forward-looking information and statements are or may be based on a series of projections and
estimates and involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include such factors as: the level of
consumer spending for luxury apparel and other merchandise carried by the Company and its ability to respond
quickly to consumer trends; macroeconomic conditions and their effect on consumer spending; the Company’s
ability to secure adequate financing; adequate and stable sources of merchandise; the competitive pricing
environment within the retail sector; the effectiveness of planned advertising, marketing, and promotional
campaigns; favorable customer response to relationship marketing efforts of proprietary credit card loyalty
programs; appropriate inventory management; effective expense control; successful operation of the Company’s
proprietary credit card strategic alliance with HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A.; geo-political risks; the performance of
the financial markets; changes in interest rates; and fluctuations in foreign currency. For additional information
regarding these and other risk factors, please refer to Item 1A of Part I in this Form 10-K.

Management undertakes no obligation to correct or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events, or otherwise. Persons are advised, however, to consult any further
disclosures management makes on related subjects in its reports filed with the SEC and in its press releases.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company’s exposure to market risk primarily arises from changes in interest rates and the U.S. equity
and bond markets. The effects of changes in interest rates on earnings generally have been small relative to other
factors that also affect earnings, such as sales and operating margins. The Company seeks to manage exposure to
adverse interest rate changes through its normal operating and financing activities, and if appropriate, through the
use of derivative financial instruments. Such derivative instruments can be used as part of an overall risk
management program in order to manage the costs and risks associated with various financial exposures. The
Company does not enter into derivative instruments for trading purposes. The Company is exposed to interest
rate risk primarily through its borrowings under its revolving credit facility.

During 2004 the Company terminated all remaining interest rate swap agreements resulting in net losses.
When combined with net gains from other previously cancelled interest rate swap agreements, the Company had
total unamortized net losses of $53 thousand at January 31, 2009 that are being amortized as a component of
interest expense through 2010. The Company had no net losses at February 2, 2008.

Based on the Company’s market risk sensitive instruments outstanding at January 31, 2009, the Company
has determined that there was no material market risk exposure to the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows as of such date.

Ttem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Information called for by this item is set forth in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
supplementary data contained in this report beginning on page F-1.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of such date. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s
objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or
fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been
detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design
of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there
can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on criteria set forth in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Commiitee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this evaluation and
management’s assessment, management believes that, as of January 31, 2009, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective “at the reasonable assurance level” based on those criteria.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial
statements included in this report, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting which appears in Item 15.
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CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
quarter ended January 31, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
Not applicable.
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" PARTIII

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s directors is set forth in the section
titled “Election of Directors” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on June 3, 2009 (the “Proxy Statement™) and is incorporated herein by reference. The information
required by this Item with respect to the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Audit Committee
(including the Company’s “audit committee financial expert”) is set forth in the section of the Proxy Statement
titled “Corporate Governance” and is also incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s executive officers is included in
Item 1C of this report under “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

The information required by this Item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act by
the Company’s directors, executive officers and persons who own more than 10% of the Company’s common
stock is set forth in the section of the Proxy Statement titled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item with respect to director and executive officer compensation and the
Company’s Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors is included in the section
of the Proxy Statement titled “Executive Compensation” and is incorporated herein by reference, except that the
“Report of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors” shall not be deemed
to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, or to the liabilities
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

7 The information required by this Item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
‘management is set forth in the section of the Proxy Statement titled “Outstanding Voting Securities” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s equity compensation plans is set forth
in the section titled “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item with respect to transactions with related parties and the independence
of the Company’s independent directors is set forth in the sections titled “Certain Transactions and Other
Matters” and “Corporate Governance — Director Independence,” respectively, in the Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item with respect to auditors’ services and fees is set forth in the section of
the Proxy Statement titled “Ratification of Appointment of Registered Public Accounting Firm —
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Fees and Services in 2008 and 2007” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)

(b)

(©

The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements — The financial statements listed on page F-1 herein.

(2) Financial Statement Schedule — The financial statement schedule listed on page F-1 herein.
(3) Exhibits — The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits appearing at page E-1.

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits appearing at page E-1 are filed as exhibits to this
report.

Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission are either included in the financial statements or notes thereto or are not required or
are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d).of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant

has duly caused this report to be s1gned on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 23,
2009.

SAKS INCORPORATED
By: /s/ KEVIN G. WILLs
Kevin G. Wills
Executive Vice President and
s Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the followmg persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 23, 2009.

/s/  STEPHEN I. SADOVE

Stephen I. Sadove
Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board
Principal Executive Officer
/s/" KEVIN G. WILLS
, Kevin G. Wills
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
/s/ DoONALD E. HEss
Donald E. Hess
Lead Director
/s/ - 'ROBERT B. CARTER
" Robert B. Carter
i Director
/sl - MICHAEL S. GROSS
Michael S. Gross
Director
/s/ MARGUERITE S. KONDRACKE
Marguerite S. Kondracke
Director
/s/ - JERRY W. LEVIN
' Jerry W. Levin
Director )
/s/- NORA P. MCANIFF
Nora P. McAniff
Director
/s/ C. WARREN NEEL
C. Warren Neel
Director
/s/ .- CHRISTOPHER J. STADLER
" Christopher J. Stadler
: Director
/s/' RONALD DE WAAL

Ronald de Waal
Director

45



Exhibit No.
2.1

22

2.3

24

3.1

32

4.2

4.2.1

422

423

424

4.2.5

4.2.6

FORM 10-K — ITEM 15(a)(3) AND 15(c)
SAKS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
EXHIBITS

Description
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 28, 2005, between Saks Incorporated and Belk, Inc.

(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on May 2,
2005)

Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2005, between Saks Incorporated and The Bon-Ton
Stores, Inc. (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated
filed on November 3, 2005)

Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 16, 2006, between Saks
Incorporated and The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. (incorporated by reference form the Exhibits to the
Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2006)

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2006, between Saks Incorporated and Belk, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on
August 7, 2006)

Amended and Restated Charter of Saks Incorporated (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 10-Q of Saks Incorporated for the quarterly period ended May 3, 2008)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Saks Incorporated (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 10-Q of Saks Incorporated for the quarterly period ended May 3, 2008)

Indenture, dated as of December 2, 1998, among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary Guarantors,
and The First National Bank of Chicago, as trustee (7 2% Notes due 2010) (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on December 4, 1998)

*First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 17, 1999, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7Y2% Notes due
2010)

*Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 18, 2000, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 V2% Notes due 2010)

*Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 18, 2001, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 ¥2% Notes due 2010)

*Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2001, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 ¥2% Notes due 2010)

*Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2002, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 ¥2% Notes due 2010)

*Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 23, 2004, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association,
successor-in-interest to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 ¥2% Notes due 2010)
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Exhibit No.

4.2.7

4.3

4.3.1

43.2

4.3.3

434

435

44

44.1

442

443

45

4.6

‘ Description
*Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 19, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the

Subsidiary Guarantors and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association,
successor-in-interest to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7 ¥2% Notes due 2010)

Indenture, dated as of February 17, 1999, among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary Guarantors,
and The First National Bank of Chicago, as trustee (7%8% Notes due 2019) (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on February 19, 1999)

~*Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 18, 2000, among Saks Incorporated, the

Subsidiary. Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First Natienal Bank of Chi_cagq, as Tmstee (7%8% Notes due 2019)

*Th1rd Supplemental Indenture, -'dated as of April 18, 2001, among Saks Incorporated, the

. Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One:Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest

to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7¥38% Notes due 2019)

*Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2001, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chlcago as Trustee (7¥3% Notes due 2019)

*Fifth Supnlementa] Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2002, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, successor-in-interest
to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7¥8% Notes due 2019)

*Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 23, 2004, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, -
successor-in-interest to The First National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (7%3% Notes due 2019)

Indenture, dated as of October 4, 2001 among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary Guarantors, and
Bank One Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (97s% Notes due 201 1) (incorporated
by refereiice from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on October 11, 2001)

*First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2001, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantofs and Bank One Trust Company, Natlonal Association, as Trustee (973%

Notes due 2011)

*Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2002, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and Bank One Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee (97:%
Notes due 2011) R

*Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 23 2004, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association,
successor-in-interest to Bank One Trust Company, Nat10na1 Association, as Trustee (9738% Notes
due 2011) o

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 8, 1996, between Proffitt’s, Inc. and Parisian, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form S-4/A Registration Statement
No. 333-09043 of Proffitt’s, Inc. filed on August 16, 1996)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 4, 1998, between Proffitt’s, Inc. and specified
stockholders of Saks Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K
of Proffitt’s, Inc. filed on July 8, 1998)
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Exhibit No.
4.7

4.8

4.8.1

49

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

Description

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2008, by and between Saks Incorporated and The
Bank of New York Mellon, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the
Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on November 26, 2008)

Indenture, dated as of December 8, 2003, among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary Guarantors
named therein, and the Bank of New York, as Trustee (7% Notes due 2013) (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on December 11, 2003)

*First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 20, 2004, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors and the Bank of New York, as Trustee (7% Notes due 2013)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2003, among Saks Incorporated, certain
of its subsidiaries named therein, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Company,
Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, Banc One Capital Markets, Inc. and ABN AMRO Incorporated
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on
December 11, 2003)

Indenture, dated as of March 23, 2004, between Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary Guarantors
named therein, and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (2.00% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2024) (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks
Incorporated filed on March 26, 2004)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2004, among Saks Incorporated, certain
subsidiaries of Saks Incorporated named therein, Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., as representatives of the purchasers (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to
the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on March 26, 2004)

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary
Guarantors named therein, and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (2.00%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2024) (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K
of Saks Incorporated filed on July 6, 2005)

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the Subsidiary
Guarantors named therein, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as trustee (97%s% Notes due 2011)
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on July 6,
2005)

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 19, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors named therein, and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, as
Trustee (7¥2% Notes due 2010) (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of
Saks Incorporated filed on July 21, 2005)

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 19, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors named therein, and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A,, as
trustee (7% Notes due 2013) (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks
Incorporated filed on July 21, 2005)

Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 19, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, the
Subsidiary Guarantors named therein, and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, as
Trustee (7¥3% Notes due 2019) (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of
Saks Incorporated filed on July 21, 2005) :
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Exhibit No.

4.17

4.18

4.19

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

Description

' Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of August 22, 2005, among

Saks Incorporated, J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, and The Bank Of New
York Trust Company, N.A. (7%2% Notes due 2010) (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on August 25, 2005)

Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of August 22, 2005, among
Saks Incorporated, J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, and The Bank Of New
York Trust Company, N.A. (978% Notes due 2011) (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on August 25, 2005)

Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated as of August 22, 2005, among
Saks Incorporated, J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, and The Bank Of New
York Trust Company, N.A. (7%8% Notes due 2019) (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on August 25, 2005)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 26, 2003, among Saks
Incorporated, as borrower, Fleet Retail Group, Inc., as Agent, and the other financial institutions
party thereto, as lenders (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks
Incorporated filed on March 16, 2004)

First Amendment and Waiver to Credit Agreement and Second Amendment to Security
Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2005, among Saks Incorporated, as borrower; Fleet Retail Group,
Inc., as Agent; Citicorp North America, Inc., as Syndication Agent; Wachovia Bank, National
Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank and General Electric Capital Corporation, as
Co-Documentation Agents; and the other financial institutions party thereto, as lenders
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal
year ended January 29, 2005) '

Second Amendment and Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 26, 2006, among Saks
Incorporated, as borrower; Fleet Retail Group, Inc., as Agent; Citicorp North America, Inc., as
Syndication Agent; Wachovia Bank, National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
General Electric Capital Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents; and the other financial
institutions party thereto, as lenders (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K

of Saks Incorporated filed on February 1, 2006)

Third Amendment and Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 22, 2006, among Saks
Incorporated, as borrower; Bank of Amenca N.A. (as successor in interest to Fleet Retail Group,
LLC (f/k/a Fleet Retail Group, Inc. ), as Agent; Citicorp North America, Inc., as Syndication
Agent; Wachovia Bank, National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and General Electric
Capital Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents; and the other financial institutions party
thereto, as lenders (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-Q of Saks
Incorporated for the quarterly period ended October 28, 2006)

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 15, 2008 by and among Saks
Incorporated, as borrower; Bank of America, N.A. (as successor in interest to Fleet Retail Group, -
LLC (f/k/a Fleet Retail Group, Inc.)), as Agent; Citicorp North America, Inc., as Syndication
Agent; Wachovia Bank, National Association, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and General Electric
Capital Corporation, as Co-Documentation Agents; and the other financial institutions party
thereto, as lenders (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form: 10-K of Saks
Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)
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Exhibit No.

10.6

10.7

10.7.1

10.8

10.8.1

10.8.2

10.8.3

10.8.4

10.9

10.10

Description
Supplemental Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 14, 2003, among Saks Incorporated,
National Bank of the Great Lakes, Saks Credit Corporation, Household Finance Corporation, and
Household Bank (SB), N.A. (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits from the Form 8-K of
Saks Incorporated filed on April 29, 2003)

Servicing Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2003, between Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as
successor to McRae’s, Inc., and Household Corporation (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on April 29, 2003)

First Amendment to Servicing Agreement , dated May 27, 2005, between Household Corporation
and Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc. (incorporated by reference from
the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Program Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2003, among Saks Incorporated, Jackson Office
Properties, Inc. (as successor to McRae’s, Inc.), and Household Bank (SB), N.A. (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on April 29, 2003)

Second Amendment to Program Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2004, between Household Bank
(SB), N.A., Saks Incorporated and Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc.
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal
year ended February 2, 2008)

Third Amendment to Program Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2005, between Saks
Incorporated, Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc., and HSBC Bank
Nevada, National Association (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of
Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Fourth Amendment to Program Agreement, dated as of November 28, 2007, between Saks
Incorporated, Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc., and HSBC Bank
Nevada, National Association (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of
Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Amendment to Servicing Agreement between Household Corporation and Jackson Office
Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc., and Program Agreement between Saks
Incorporated, Jackson Office Properties, Inc., as successor to McRae’s, Inc., and HSBC Bank
Nevada, National Association dated April 4, 2007 (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to
the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Amended and Restated Transition Service Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2006, between Saks
Incorporated and The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the
Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on March 10, 2006)

Transition Service Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2006, between Saks Incorporated and Belk,
Inc. (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on
October 6, 2006)

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS, COMPENSATORY PLANS OR ARRANGEMENTS, ETC.

10.11

Saks Incorporated Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan, effective September 16,
2008 (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-Q of Saks Incorporated for the
quarterly period ended November 1, 2008
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Exhibit No.

10.12
10.13.
10.14

10.15
10.15.1
10.16

10.17

1018

10.19
10.20
1021

10.22

10.23

10.24

1025

Description
Saks Incorporated Amended and Restated 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by

reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended
January 30, 1999)

Saks‘Incorporated Amended and Restated 1997 Stock-Based Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended
February 3, 2001)

Form of Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to the Saks Incorporated Amended and Restated 1997
Stock-Based Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks
Incorporated for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2005)

Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit B to

 the proxy statement of Saks Incorporated filed on Apnl 28, 2004)
'Amendment No. 1 to the Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-tenn Incentive Plan (mcorporated by

reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on July 31, 2007)

*Saks Incorporated Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1,
2009

Carson Pirie Scott & Co. 1993 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated as of March 19,
1997 (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Carson Pirie Scott & Co.
for the fiscal year ended February 2, 1997)

Carson Pirie Scott & Co. 1996 Long—Term Incentlve Plan (mcorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Carson Pirie Scott & Co. for the fiscal year ended February 2, 1997)

Saks Holdings, Inc. 1996 Management Stock Incentive Plan, dated as of February 1, 1996
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form S-1 of Saks Holdings, Inc. Registration
Statement No. 333-2426)

Amendment to the Saks Holdings, Inc. 1996 Management Stock Incentive Plan, dated as of
February 1, 1996 (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form S-1 of Saks Holdings,
Inc. Registration Statement No. 333-2426)

Form of Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to the Saks Holdings, Inc. 1996 Management Stock -
Incentive Plan, dated February 1, 1996 (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the
Form S-1 of Saks Holdings, Inc. Registration No. 333-2426)

Saks Incorporated 2003 Senior Executive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from Attachment A
to the Saks Incorporated Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders)

Amended and Restated 2000 Change of Control and Material Transaction Severance Plan
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on
November 18, 2004)

Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2005, between Kevin Wills and Saks
Incorporated and the Supplement to the Restricted Stock Agreement, dated May 18, 2005
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on
May 18, 2005)

Form of Saks Incorporated Performance Share Agreement pursuant to Saks Incorporated 2004
Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks

Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)
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Exhibit No.

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.32.1

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.35.1

10.36

10.36.1

10.37

Description
Form of Supplement to Saks Incorporated Performance Share Agreement pursuant to Saks

Incorporated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the
Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Form of Saks Incorporated Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks
Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Form of Supplement to Saks Incorporated Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to Saks

- Incorporated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the

Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008) -

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Saks Incorporated, and each of the counterparties
thereto (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the
fiscal year ended January 28, 2006)

Agreement, dated April 19, 2007, between R. Brad Martin and Saks Incorporated (incorporated by
reference from the Exhibit 99.2. to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on April 19, 2007)

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2006, between Saks Incorporated and James A.
Coggin, President and Chief Administrative Officer (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on June 9, 2006)

Employment Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2007, between Saks Incorporated and Kevin G.
Wills, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (incorporated by reference from the
Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on April 19, 2007)

* Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Kevin G. Wills,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, dated as of December 18, 2008

Form of Stock Option Agreement with respect to the Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks
Incorporated for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2008)

Form of Stock Option Grant Letter pursuant to Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-K of Saks Incorporated for the fiscal
year ended February 2, 2008)

Employment Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2007, between Saks Incorporated and Stephen L.
Sadove, Chief Executive Officer (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of
Saks Incorporated filed on July 31, 2007)

* Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Stephen 1. Sadove, Chief
Executive Officer, dated as of December 16, 2008

Employment Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2007, between Saks Incorporated and Ronald L.
Frasch, President and Chief Merchandising Officer (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to
the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on July 31, 2007)

* Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Ronald L. Frasch,
President and Chief Merchandising Officer, dated as of December 18, 2008

2007 Saks. Incorporated Senior Executive Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference from
the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated filed on June 7, 2007).

52



Exhibit No.

10.38
10.39

10.40

10.40.1

10.40.2

1041

1041.1

10.42

21.1

23.1
31.1

312

32.1

322

99.1

Description
*Form of Employment Agreement for Executive Officers

Saks Incorporated Severance Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 10-Q
of Saks Incorporated for the quarterly period ended November 3, 2007)

*Employment Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007, between Saks Incorporated and Carolyn
R. Biggs, Executive Vice President of Stores, Store Visual, Planning and Construction.

*Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Carolyn R. Biggs, dated
as of June 13, 2008

*Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Carolyn R. Biggs, dated
as of December 15, 2008

*Employment Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2007, between Saks Incorporated and Michael
Rodgers, Executive Vice President, IT Operations

*Amendment to Employment Agreement between Saks Incorporated and Michael Rodgers, dated
as of December 17, 2008

Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement pursuant to Saks Incorporated 2004 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from the Exhibits to the Form 8-K of Saks Incorporated
filed on March 2, 2009)

*Subsidiaries of the registrant
*Consents of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

*Certification of the principal executive officer of Saks Incorporated required by Rule 13a-14(a)
or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

*Certification of the principal accounting officer of Saks Incorporated required by Rule 13a-14(a)
or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

*Certification of the principal executive officer of Saks Incorporated Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*Certification of the principal accounting officer of Saks Incorporated Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

*Saks Incorporated Employee Stock Purchase Plan Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007

* Filed herewith

53



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . .. ........ .0 uuiinriiiiiinniiinan... F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and ;
© o February 3, 2007 ... e e e e e e i F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets at January 31, 2009 and February 2,2008 .. .............co0iciinennn.. F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended January 31, v
2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3,2007 ... .....oittiintiiiieeiiiieeiiinnenennnn. . FE5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008 .
and February 3, 2007 . . ...t e e e e s ‘F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ............ P e F-7
Financial Statement Schedule : _ v
Schedule II — Valuation and Quahfymg ACCOUNES .o vi s ieeee et e F-48

All other schedules for which prbvision is'made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been
omitted.



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Board of Directors and Stockholders of Saks Incdrpbrated:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Saks Incorporated and its subsidiaries at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2009 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial
statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein
when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2009, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financial statement
schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report On Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement
schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, effective February 4, 2007, the Company adopted the
recognition and measurement provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. As discussed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, effective
January 31, 2009, the Company changed the measurement date for defined benefit plan assets and liabilities to coincide with
its fiscal year end to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) (SFAS
No. 158), and effective February 3, 2007, the Company began to recognize the funded status of its defined benefit plans in its
consolidated balance sheets to conform to SFAS No. 158.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Cuisalichouarloo pus ¢33

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Birmingham, Alabama
March 23, 2009



SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In Thousands, except per share amounts)

NETSALES ... ...ttt i i
Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) .........

GrossSmargin .......... ..ot enneneennnn,
Selling, general and administrative €Xpenses ..................

Other operating expenses

Property and equipmentrentals . ......... ... ... o0 0L
Depreciation and amortization .................c.00.... .
Taxes other than income taxes . ..........cocvieinnvennn
Store pre-opening Costs . ... ..o SRR e v
Impairments and dispositions .............c.oiiviiian i v

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) ........ccveevnn..
INterest EXPense .. ..o ovvi ittt ittt i e .
Gain (loss) on extinguishment ofdebt .......................
Other INCOME, NEL . ..t vttt ittt et it inieenaennnrans

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES . .....
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .......... .. oo it i

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS ......... .. i,

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (including gain on

disposal of $0, $0, and $191,918, respectively) ..............
Provision (benefit) forincome taxes ..............c.covian..

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS ... . ... i
NETINCOME (LOSS) . ...t e

Per share amounts — Basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations ....................
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . ..................

Netincome (I0SS) .. .oitntiivennenenneeaaenonsnonnnns

Per share amounts — Diluted

Income (loss) from continuing operations ....................
Income (loss) from discontinued operations ...................
Netincome (I0SS) . ... oviiieliine it in e iiiennens

Weighted average common shares:

BaSIC o vt e e e et e e
Diluted . ..o e e e it e

Year Ended
January 31, February 2, February 3,
2009 2008 2007
$3,029,743  $3,224,076 . $2,888,427
2,062,494 1,972,251 1,780,127
967,249 1,251,825 1,108,300
770,815 827,624 799,292
101,063 100,106 107,645
134,694 131,737 125,849
82,598 84,496 78,584
2,328 707 408
11,139 4,279 11,775
(135,388) 102,876 (15,253)
(39,306) 42,314) (50,136)
— (5,634) 7
5,600 24,912 28,407
(169,094) 79,840 (36,975)
(46,332) 29,153 (33,026)
(122,762) 50,687 (3,949)
(52,727) (4,860) 188,227
- (20,548) (1,646) 130,536
(32,179) (3.214) 57,691
$(154941) $ 47473 $ 53,742
$ ©0.89) $ 036 $ 0.03)
$ 0.23) $ 0.02) $ 043
$ (12 $ 034 § 0.40
$. (089 $ 033§ (0.03)
$ 023) $ 0.02) $ 0.43
$ (112) $ 0.31 $ 0.40
138,384 140,402 135,880
138,384 153,530 135,880

The accompanying notes.are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

January 31, February 2,
(In Thousands, except per share amounts) 2009 2008

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cashandcashequivalents .. ........c.uuuiiiiiiiiniiiiiniineeenenenn., $ 10273 $ 101,162
Merchandise INVENTOTIES . . oo v vv ittt et ittt eee et e eansenaneaananans 728,841 857,173
Other CUITENE ASSEES & v v oot ittt ittt it et eee et inteenenanannenesans 105,350 124,973
Deferred income taXes, NEL ... oo vvt vttt ntereneeeeeensneeoensnennnnsns 29,916 42,827
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ... ... it itiiieenannnns 874,380 1,126,135
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET OF DEPRECIATION ................ 1,057,417 1,092,004
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES,NET ...... N R P PN 211,833 97,108
OTHERASSETS .. ... it iiinan. U AU PP 21,378 55,771
TOTAL ASSETS ..ot e e e e aieaa $2,165,008 $2,371,024
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable . ... ..ttt $ 90208 $ 176,844
ACCTUEA EXPENSES & .o ettt eieine s int it iiien e it 233,504 233,739
Accrued compensation and related items ......... ... .. il iien e, 42,043 51,213
Current portion of long-termdebt .. .........0 ... o i 4,673 319,242
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES . .. ... i iieiieennnn 370,428 781,038
LONG-TERM DEBT ..ottt ittt ittt e ettt aiaaaenenns 635,400 253,346
OTHERLONG-TERMULIABILITIES . ... ... ottt ittt innannnnn 193,560 161,034
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES . ........ciiiiiiiiiiianennnnnn — —
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock — $1.00 par value; Authorized — 10,000 shares; Issued and _
outstanding —none ...... e e e — —
Common stock — $0.10 par value; Authorized — 500,000 shares; Issued and
outstanding — 142,170 shares and 141,784 shares ...................... 14,218 14,180
Additional paid-incapital ....... ... e 1,105,199 1,119,192
Accumulated other comprehensiveloss ............ .. .o il (56,436) (15,002)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) ........... ... ..ol (97,361) 57,236
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’EQUITY ...........ciiviiiiinennnnn. 965,620 1,175,606

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY .......... $2,165,008 $2,371,024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Retained Accumulated

Common Common Additional Earnings Other Total
: Stock Stock Paid-In = (Accumulated Comprehensive Shareholders’
wumnds_) Shares Amount  Capital Deficit) Loss Equity
Balance at January 28,2006 ................ 136,005 $13,601 $ 1,994,979 $ 63,270 $(72,467) . $ 1,999,383
Netincome ...........iievevuvivnen.. 53,742 . 53,742
Change in minimum pension liability, net '
oftaX vttt e 39,380 39,380
Elimination of NDSG minimum pension
Lability ............ ... ool - 30,757 30,757
Comprehensive income ................ ' 123,879
Adoption of SFASNo. 158 ............. (26,016) (26,016)
Issuance of common stock ............. 5,031 503 51,227 ‘ 51,730
- Dividends Paid ......... S N ' (1,001,733).. . (104,392) S (1,106,125)
Income tax benefit related to employee S ‘ . S
stockplans........... .o i 13,470 o 13,470
Activity under.stock compensation : C :
plans .......... .. ceiiiiiea., (146) 11) (5,712) (5,723)
Stock-based compensation ............. 18,722 _ 18,722
Stock-based compensation — SFAS
No. 123R dividend adjustment ........ 33,350 33,350
Repurchase of common stock ........... 450) 45) (6,486) (6,531)
Balance at Febroary 3,2007 ................ 140,440 $14,048 $ 1,097,817 $ 12,620 $(28,346) $ 1,096,139
Netincome .................. e 47,473 47,473
Change in minimum pension liability, net Qe e ,
3 S R SO - S 13,344 13,344
Comprehensive income . ............... 60,817
Adoptionof FIN48 ................... 36,528 (2,857) 33,671
Issuance of common stock ............. 2,930 293 34,014 34,307
Income tax provision adjustment related to
employee stockplans ............... 454) 454)
Increase in tax valuation allowance ...... (19,258) (19,258)
Activity under stock compensation '
plans ........ ... o i, 136 11 9,887) . - (9.876)
Stock-based compensation ............. 7,724 o : : 7,724
- Repurchase of common stock ........... 1,722) 172) 27,292) - (27,464)
Balance at February 2,2008 ................ 141,784 $14,180 $ 1,119,192 $ 57,236 $(15,002)  $ 1,175,606
“Netloss ..voeviiiiiiiii e - (154941) (154,941)
Change in minimum pension liability, net
Oftax ..ovviviiiin it - (41,434) (41,434)
Comprehensiveloss .................. (196,375)
SFAS No. 158 measurement date
change ...........ovivninrinnann. » } 344 344
Issuance of common stock ............. 636 64 4,025 e 4,089
Income tax provision adjustment related to L ' L ' s
employee stock plans ............... 1,352 - 1,352
Activity under stock compensation K '
plans ........ .. oo, 2,699 269 (1,130) . (861)
Stock-based compensation ............. 16,354 16,354
Repurchase of common stock ........... (2,949) (295) (34,594 (34,889)
Balance at January 31,2009 ................ 142,170 $14,218 $ 1,105,199 $ (97,361)  $(56,436) $ 965,620

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES ‘
Netincome (IOSS) + v v e vttvutee e eteen i eiie e tranaernnnaanaensnnnons
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations . ..........c.covvviirieneeenn

Income (loss) from continuing operations ...............coeeeiiienieeennn.
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Loss (gain) on extinguishmentof debt .............. ...,
Depreciation and amortization . .............oueeviuneeaineenaneanns
Equity COMPENSation . . . ..ottt tiie e eeiiieree e
Deferred inCOME tAXES . .o v v v vetiiinn et iiiinerriianreeannaeseeees
Impairments and diSpOSItions .. .........eeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation ............... ...
Gainon lease termination .. .........viiiiiiiiiiiriettii i
Gainon sale of Property . ..........oiuiiiiiinerriinenereaneeeens
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Merchandise inVentories . .......c..vviiein e inerineennan
Other CUITENE ASSELS .+ o o oo v e e e eee e iie ettt aecinenanannnnens
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..........................
Other operating assets and liabilities ................ ...

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities — Continuing Operations . ..........
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities — Discontinued
(0175 Vi 1o 1 V-3 I

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES ...........

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment .. ...........oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiein
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment .. ......... ... o .t

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities — Continuing Operations ...............
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities — Discontinued
OPEIatioNS . ... oot v v intiiiiii it e aaaan s

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES ............

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from revolving credit facility . ............ .. ... i
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations .....................
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation . ............... ... ...
CashdividendS paid ..........c.ouniiiin i
Purchases of commoOn StoCK .. ... .cuuiiiiiin it it
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . ....... ... il il

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities — Continuing Operations ..
Net Cash Used In Financing Activities — Discontinued Operations . ............

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES ............

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS .............
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR ..............
PLUS: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCLUDED IN ASSETS

HELD FOR SALE ATBEGINNINGOFYEAR . .......................
LESS: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCLUDED IN ASSETS

HELD FORSALEATENDOFYEAR .............. ...,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATENDOFYEAR ......................

Year Ended

January 31, February 2, February 3,
2009 2008 2007

$(154,941) $ 47473 $ 53,742

(32,179)  (3214) 57,691
(122,762) 50,687 (3,949)

— 5,634 o)
134,604 131,737 125,849
16,395 7,724 52,072
(47210) 26,186 93,625
11,139 4279 11,775

= (16,027)

— (1,669) —
(3400) (1,069 —
118,539  (71,032)  (143,349)
20,990 12,495 (9,930)
(114577) (119.846) 52,111
3362 22273 (8.381)
17,170 67,399 153,789
(18,667) 4,080  (98,504)
(1,497 71479 55,285
(127,305) (136,726)  (121,355)
4338 12352 171
(122,967) (124374)  (121,184)
(1,875  (4.259) 1,304,701
(124,842) (128,633) 1,183,517
156,675 — —
(89,242) (118,980)  (7,371)

— o 16,027
(1,183)  (7,430) (1,095,025)
(34.889) (27464)  (6,531)
4,080 34307 51,730
35450 (119,567) (1,041,170)

— — (149)
35450 (119,567) (1,041,319)
(90,889) (176,721) 197,483
101,162 277,883 77,312

— — 3,088

$ 10,273 $101,162 $§ 277,883

Non-cash investing and financing activities are further described in the accompanying notes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 — GENERAL
ORGANIZATION

The Company’s operations consist of Saks Fifth Avenue (“SFA”), Saks Fifth Avenue OFF 5t (“OFF 5%”),
and SFA’s e-commerce operations. Previously, the Company also operated Saks Department Store Group
(“SDSG”), which consisted of Proffitt’s and McRae’s (“Proffitt’s”) (sold to Belk, Inc. (“Belk™) in July 2005), the
Northern Department Store Group (“NDSG”) (operated under the nameplates of Bergner’s, Boston Store, Carson
Pirie Scott, Herberger’s and Younkers and sold to The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. (“Bon-Ton”) in March 2006),
Parisian (sold to Belk in October 2006), and Club Libby Lu (“CLL”) (the operations of which were discontinued
in January 2009). The sold businesses and discontinued operations are presented as discontinued operations in
the consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash ﬂows for the current and. pnor
year periods and are discussed below at “Discontinued Operations.”

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On July 5, 2005, Belk acquired from the Company for approximately $623,000 in cash substantially all of
the assets directly involved in the Proffitt’s business operations, plus the assumption of approximately $1,000 in
capitalized lease obligations and the assumption of certain other ordinary course liabilities associated with the
acquired assets. The assets sold included the real and personal property and inventory associated with 22
Proffitt’s stores and 25 McRae’s stores that generated fiscal 2004 revenues of approximately $784,000. The
Company realized a net gain of $155,525 on the sale.

Upon the closing of the transaction, Belk entered into a Transition Services Agreement (“Proffitt’s TSA”)
whereby the Company continued to provide certain back office services related to the Proffitt’s operations.
Beginning with the second quarter of 2006, the back office services were substantially complete, and therefore,
the Proffitt’s TSA no longer qualified as continuing involvement in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
(“SFAS No. 144”).

On March 6, 2006, the Company sold to Bon-Ton all outstanding equity interests of certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries that owned NDSG, either directly or indirectly. The consideration received consisted of
approximately $1,115,000-in cash (reduced as described below based on-changes in working capital), plus the
assumption by Bon-Ton of approximately $35,000 of unfunded-benefit liabilities and approximately $35,000 of
capital leases. A working capital adjustment based on working capital as of the effective time of the transaction
reduced the amount of cash proceeds by approximately $75,000 resulting in net cash proceeds to the Company of
approximately $1,040,000. The disposition included NDSG’s operations consisting:of, among other things, the
following: the real and personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 142 NDSG units (31
Carson Pirie Scott stores, 14 Bergner’s stores, 10 Boston Store stores, 40 Herberger’s stores, and 47 Younkers
stores), the administrative/headquarters facilities in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and distribution centers located in
Rockford, linois, Naperville, Illinois, Green Bay, Wisconsin, and Ankeny, Iowa. The Company realized a net
gain of $204,729 on the sale.

Bon-Ton entered into a Transition Service Agreement with the Company (“NDSG TSA™), whereby the
Company continued to provide, for varying transition periods, back office services related to.the NDSG

operations. The back-office services included certain information technology, telecommunications, credit,
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
~ (In thousands, except per share amounts)

accounting and store planning services, among others. Bon-Ton compensated the Company for these services, as
outlined in the NDSG TSA. The results of the NDSG operations are reflected as discontinued operations in the
accompanying consolidated statement of income and the consolidated statement of cash flows for fiscal year
2006.

On October 2, 2006, the Company sold to Belk of all of the outstanding equity interests of the Company’s
subsidiaries that conducted the Parisian specialty department store business (“Parisian”). The consideration
received consisted of $285,000 in cash (increased in accordance with a working capital adjustment described
below). In addition, Belk reimbursed the Company at closing for $6,700 in capital expenditures incurred in
connection with the construction of four new Parisian stores. Belk also paid the Company a premium associated
with the purchase of accounts and accounts receivable from Household Bank (SB), N A. (now known as HSBC -
Bank Nevada, N.A., “HSBC™), in the amount of $2,300. A working capital adjustment based on working capital
as of the effective time of the transaction increased the amount of cash proceeds by $14,200 resulting in total net
cash proceeds of $308,200.

The disposition included Parisian’s operations consisting of, among other things, the following: real and
personal property, operating leases and inventory associated with 38 Parisian stores (which generated fiscal 2005
revenues of approximately $740,000), a 125,000 square foot administrative/headquarters facility in Birmingham,
Alabama and a 180,000 square foot distribution center located in Steele, Alabama. The Company realized a net
loss of $12,811 on the sale.

In connection with the consummation of the Parisian transaction, the Company entered into a Transition
Services Agreement with Belk (“Parisian TSA”). Pursuant to the Parisian TSA, the Company provided, for
varying transition periods, back-office services related to the Company’s former Parisian specialty department
 store business. The back-office services included information technology, telecommunications, credit, accounting
and store planning services, among others. The results of the Parisian operations are reflected as discontinued
operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows
for fiscal year 2006.

As of January 31, 2009, the Company discontinued the operations of its CLL business, which consisted of
98 leased, mall-based specialty stores, targeting girls aged 4-12 years old. Charges incurred during 2008
associated with the closing of the stores included inventory liquidation costs of approximately $6,965, asset
impairments charges of $16,993, lease termination costs of $14,045, severance and personnel related costs of
- $5,074 and other closing costs of $1,444. These amounts and the results of operations of CLL are included in
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income and the consolidated statements of cash flows
for fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Net sales of the aforementioned businesses that are included within discontinued operations in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income are $52,231, $58,564, and $675,866 for 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to January 31. Fiscal year 2008 contained 52 weeks
and ended on January 31, 2009, while fiscal year 2007 contained 52 weeks and ended on February 2, 2008 Fiscal
year 2006 contained 53 ‘weeks and ended on February 3 2007.

Certain 2007 and 2006 amounts in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and consolidated
statements of cash flows have been revised to reflect the CLL results of operations and cash flows as
discontinued operations.

NET SALES

Net sales include sales of merchandise (net of returns and exclusive of sales taxes), commissions from
leased departments, shipping and handling revenues related to merchandise sold and breakage income from
unredeemed gift cards. Net sales are recognized at the time customers provide a satisfactory form of payment and
take ownership of the merchandise or direct its shipment. Revenue associated with gift cards is recognized upon
redemption of the card.

- The Company estimates the amount of goods that will be returned for a refund and reduces sales and gross
- margin by that amount.

- Commissions from leased departments included in net sales were $28,083, $30,189, $26,558 in 2008, 2007, .
and 2006, respectively. Leased department sales were $210,284, $217,636, and $180,639 in 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively, and were excluded from net sales.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

, Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash on hand in the stores, deposits with banks, and

- investments with banks and financial institutions that have original maturities of three months or less. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents totaled $236 and $85,492 at
January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively, primarily consisting of money market funds, demand and
time deposits. Income earned on cash equivalents was $1,958, $6,190, and $27,963 for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3, 2007, respectively, and was reflected in Other Income in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. There were no balances of restricted cash at January 31, 2009
and February 2, 2008.

On March 6, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common share
- to shareholders of record as of April 14, 2006, and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity for the $547,537
dividend. On October 3, 2006 the Company’s Board of Directors declared another cash dividend of $4.00 per
common share to shareholders of record as-of November 15, 2006, and the Company reduced shareholders’
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equity for the $558,587 dividend. For the year ended February 3, 2007, the Company made dividend cash
payments totaling $1,095,025, primarily relating to the aggregate $8.00 per common share dividends. The
remaining portion of the dividends will be paid prospectively as, and to the extent, awards of restricted stock
vest.

MERCHANDISE INVENTORIES AND COST OF‘SALES (excluding depreciation and amortization)

Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and include freight, buying and
distribution costs. The Company takes markdowns related to slow moving inventory, ensuring the appropriate
inventory valuation. On February 3, 2008, the Company elected to change its method of costing its inventories to
the retail “first-in, first-out” (FIFO) method, whereas in all prior periods inventory was costed using the retail
“last-in, first-out” (LIFO) method. The new method of accounting had no impact on the fiscal years ending
January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3, 2007 as the LIFO value exceeded the FIFO market value
and inventory had been adjusted to reflect FIFO market value in all periods.

Consignment merchandise on hand of $138,762 and $150,527 at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008,
respectively, is not reflected in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company receives vendor provided support in different forms. When the vendor provides support for
inventory markdowns, the Company records the support as a reduction to cost of sales. Such support is recorded
in the period that the corresponding markdowns are taken. When the Company receives inventory-related support
that is not designated for markdowns, the Company includes this support as a reduction in the cost of purchases.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) are comprised principally of the costs related to
employee compensation and benefits in the selling and administrative support areas, exclusive of payroll taxes;
advertising; store and headquarters occupancy, operating and maintenance costs exclusive of rent, depreciation,
and property taxes; proprietary credit card promotion, issuance and servicing costs; insurance programs;
telecommunications; and other operating expenses not specifically categorized elsewhere in the consolidated
statements of income. Advertising and sales promotion costs are generally expensed in the period in which the
- advertising event takes place. The Company receives allowances and expense reimbursements from merchandise
vendors and from the owner of the proprietary credit card portfolio which are netted against the related expense:

«  Allowances received from merchandise vendors in conjunction with incentive compensation programs
for employees who sell the vendors’ merchandise and netted against the related compensation expense
were $54,653, $57,348, and $55,007 in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

o Allowances received from merchandise vendors in conjunction with jointly produced and distributed
print and television media and netted against the gross expenditures for such advertising were $45,813,
$48,896, anid $42,584 in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Net advertising expenses were $39,358,
$42,058, and $43,875 in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

« Expense reimbursements received from the owner of the Company’s proprietary credit card portfolio are
discussed at Note 3 to these financial statements.

F-10



SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

STORE PRE-OPENING COSTS

Store pre-opening costs primarily consist of rent expense incurred during the construction of new stores and
payroll and related media costs incurred in connection with new store openings and are expensed when incurred.
Rent expense is generally incurred for six to twelve months prior to a store’s opening date.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. For financial reporting
purposes, depreciation is computed principally using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 20 to 40 years while fixtures and equipment are
primarily depreciated over 3 to 15 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their
estimated useful lives or their related lease terms, generally ranging from 10 to 20 years. Terms of leases used in
the determination of estimated useful lives may include renewal periods at the Company’s option if exercise of
the option is determined to be reasonably assured at the inception of the lease. Costs incurred for the
development of internal computer software are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over 3 to
10 years. Costs incurred in the discovery and post-implementation stages of internally created computer software
are generally expensed as incurred.

When constructing stores, the Company receives allowances from landlords. If the landlord is determined to
be the primary beneficiary of the property, then the portion of those allowances attributable to the property
owned by the landlord is considered to be a deferred rent liability, whereas the corresponding capital
expenditures related to that store are considered to be prepaid rent. Allowances in excess of the amounts
attributable to the property owned by the landlord are considered leasehold improvement allowances and are
recorded as deferred rent liabilities that are amortized over the life of the lease. Capital expenditures are reduced
when the Company receives cash and allowances from merchandise vendors to fund the construction of vendor
shops.

On a yearly basis and as changes in circumstances arise, the Company evaluates the recoverability of its
property and equipment based upon the utilization of the assets and expected future cash flows, in accordance
with SFAS No. 144. Write-downs associated with the evaluation are reflected in Impairments and Dispositions in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

IMPAIRMENTS & DISPOSITIONS

The Company continuously evaluates its real estate portfolio and closes individual underproductive stores in
the normal course of business as leases expire or as other circumstances indicate. The Company also performs an
asset impairment analysis at each fiscal year end. During the year ended January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008 and
February 3, 2007, the Company incurred charges of $11,139, $4,279 and $5,676, respectively, related to asset
impairments and other costs in the normal course of business.

OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases stores, distribution centers, and administrative facilities under operating leases. Store
lease agreements generally include rent holidays, rent escalation clauses and contingent rent provisions for
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percentage of sales in excess of specified levels. Most of the Company’s lease agreements include renewal
periods at the Company’s option. The Company recognizes rent holiday periods and scheduled rent increases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term beginning with the date the Company takes possession of the leased space
and includes such rent expense in Store Pre-Opening Costs. The Company records tenant improvement
allowances and rent holidays as deferred rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and amortizes the
deferred rent on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease to rent expense in the consolidated statements of
income. The Company records rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets for contingent percentage of
sales lease provisions when the Company determines that it is probable that the specified levels will be reached
during the fiscal year.

SELF-INSURANCE RESERVES

The Company self-insures a substantial portion of its exposure for costs related primarily to employee
medical, workers’ compensation and general liability. Expenses are recorded based on estimates for reported and
incurred but not reported claims considering a number of factors, including historical claims experience, severity
factors, litigation costs, inflation and other assumptions. Although the Company does not expect the amount it
will ultimately pay to differ significantly from its estimates, self-insurance reserves could be affected if future
claims experience differs significantly from the historical trends and assumptions.

DERIVATIVES

The Company uses financial derivatives to manage its costs and risks in conjunction with specific business
transactions. All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. The Company cancelled
all of its interest rate swap agreements during 2004 resulting in $3,100 of net losses. The Company had total
unamortized net gains (losses) of $53, $0, and ($350) at January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3,
2007, respectively, that are being amortized as a component of interest expense through 2010.

The Company issued $230,000 of convertible senior unsecured notes during 2004 that bear interest of 2.0%
and mature in 2024. The Company used approximately $25,000 of the proceeds from the issuance of the notes to
enter into a convertible note hedge and written call options on its common stock to reduce the Company’s
exposure to dilution from the conversion of the notes.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company maintains an equity incentive plan for the granting of options, stock appreciation rights,
performance shares, restricted stock, and other forms of equity awards to employees and directors. Options
granted generally vest over a four-year period after grant and have an exercise term of seven to ten years from the
grant date. Restricted stock and performance shares generally vest in three years after the grant date, although the
plan permits accelerated vesting in certain circumstances at the discretion of the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

Compensation cost for restricted stock and performance shares that cliff vest is expensed on a straight line
basis over the requisite service period. Restricted stock and performance shares with graded vesting features are
treated as multiple awards based upon the vesting date. The Company records compensation costs for these
awards on a straight line basis over the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award.
Compensation cost for stock option awards with graded vesting are expensed on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period.
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Effective January 29, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No.123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment”
(“SFAS No. 123R”) under the modified prospective method. The Company adopted the alternative transition
method, as permitted by FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 123R-3, “Transition Election Related to
Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” (“FSP FAS 123R-3”) to calculate the tax
effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123R for these awards that were outstanding upon
adoption of SFAS No. 123R. The alternative transition method allows the use of simplified methods to calculate
the beginning capital-in-excess-of-par pool for the consolidated statements of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R, the Company presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock options as operating
cash inflows in the consolidated statements of cash flows, in accordance with the provisions of Emerging Issues
Task Force (“EITF”) No. 00-15, “Classification in the Statements of Cash Flows of the Income Tax Benefit
Received by a Company upon Exetcise of a Nonqualified Employee Stock Option.” SFAS No. 123R requires the
benefits of tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized for those options to be classified as
financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows, on a prospective basis. This amount is shown as
“Excess tax benefit from stock based compensation” in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

In December 2007, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 110, “Year-End Help For Expensing Employee Stock Options” (“SAB 110”), which was
effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2008. SAB 110 amends the SEC’s views discussed in
-Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment” (“SAB 107”) regarding the use of the simplified
method in developing estimates of the expected lives of share options in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. The
amendment, in part, allowed the continued use, subject to specific criteria, of the simplified method in estimating
the expected lives of share options granted after December 31, 2007. The Company will continue to use the
simplified method until it has the historical data necessary to provide reasonable estimates of expected lives in
accordance with SAB 107, as amended by SAB 110.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) have been computed based on the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding.

2008 2007 2006
Per Per Per
Share Net Share Net Share
Net Loss Shares - Amount Income . Shares Amount Income  Shares Amount
BasicEPS ............ $(154,941) 138,384 $(1.12) | $47,473 140,402 $0.34 | $53,742 135,880 $0.40
Effect of dilutive stock
options and
convertible
debentures ......... —_ —_— — — 13,128 (.03) — — —
Diluted EPS .......... $(154,941) 138,384 $(1.12) | $47,473 153,530 $0.31 | $53,742 135,880 $0.40

For the years ended January 31, 2009 and February 3, 2007, the Company generated net losses from
continuing operations, and therefore the inclusion of potential common shares would have had an anti-dilutive
effect on the Company’s calculation of the diluted loss per share. Accordingly, the Company’s diluted loss per
share equals basic loss per share for both of these periods.
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The following table presents additional potentially dilutive common shares excluded from diluted earnings
(loss) per share because the effect of including these potential shares would have been anti-dilutive:

2008 Eﬂﬂ 2006
Stock Options and Employee Stock Purchase Plan Shares ....................... ... 346 — 1,266
Unvested Restricted Stock Awards and Performance Shares . ........................ 1,889 — 1,161
07721 O OO AU AN 2,235 — @ 2427

Securities excluded from the diluted earnings (loss) per share calculation because the
exercise prices was greater than the average market price
Stock Options (1) .. oo e e 1,811 688 1,722
Securities excluded from the diluted earnings (loss) per share calculation because the
performance criteria were not met:
Performance Shares . ..........c..ovuiinnint i e rnenennennarareanns 845 — —

(1) These options represent the number outstanding at the end of the respective year. At the point that the
exercise price is less than the average market price, these options have the potential to be dilutive and
application of the treasury method would reduce this amount.

There were also 19,219 potentially exercisable shares under the convertible notes that were not included in
the computation of diluted EPS for the year ended January 31, 2009 because inclusion of the potential common
shares would have been anti-dilutive as the Company generated a net loss for the period. Included in the
computation of diluted EPS for the year ended February 2, 2008 are 11,190 potentially dilutive shares associated
with shares the Company would issue to settle the difference between fair value and the par value of the
convertible notes upon conversion and the shares to be issued upon the exercise of a call option the Company
sold at the time of issuance of the convertible debentures. There were also 19,219 potentially exercisable shares
under the convertible notes that were not included in the computation of diluted EPS due to the assumption of net
share settlement as discussed below.

In 2007, if the holders of the convertible notes exercised their conversion rights, the Company intended to
pay cash equal to 100 percent of the principal amount of the convertible notes. In the event that the cash
conversion price exceeded 100 percent of the principal amount of the 2% convertible notes, the Company’s
intention was to issue common stock for the difference between the par value and fair value at the time of
conversion. The Company had $101,162 of cash available as well as availability under the senior revolving credit
facility as of February 2, 2008. The cash on hand as well as the availability of borrowings under the senior credit
facility provided an adequate source of liquidity to pay 100% of the principal amount of the notes if the holders
had elected to exercise their conversion rights.

For the year ended February 3, 2007, there were also 19,219 potentially exercisable shares under the
convertible notes that were not included in the computation of diluted EPS due to the assumption of net share
settlement.

The FASB is contemplating an amendment to SFAS No. 128 “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS No. 128”) that
would require the Company to ignore the cash presumption of net share settlement and to assume share
settlement for purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share. Although the Company is now required to
ignore the contingent conversion provision on its convertible notes under EITF 04-8 “The Effect of Contingently
Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share,” it can still presume that it will satisfy the net share
settlement of the par value upon conversion of the notes in cash, and thus exclude the effect of the conversion of
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the notes in its calculation of diluted earnings per share. If and when the FASB amends SFAS No. 128, the effect
of the changes would require the Company to use the if-converted method in calculating diluted earnings per
share except when the effect would be anti-dilutive. The effect of adopting the amendment to SFAS No. 128 as
of January 31, 2009 would not change the diluted share count as the effect would be anti-dilutive due to the loss
from continuing operations for the year.

PENSION PLANS

Pension expense is based on actuarial models used to estimate the total benefits ultimately payable to
participants and is allocated to the respective service periods. The Company’s funding policy provides that
contributions to the pension trusts shall be at least equal to the minimum funding requirement of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The Company may provide additional contributions from time to time,
generally not to exceed the maximum tax-deductible limitation.

Beginning in fiscal 2008, the Company’s pension plans are valued annually as of the fiscal year-end balance
sheet date in accordance with SFAS No. 158 “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans.” (“SFAS No. 158”). In prior years, the pension plans were valued annually on
November 1st. The projected unit credit method is utilized in recognizing the Company’s pension liabilities.

GIFT CARDS

“The Company sells gift cards with no expiration dates. At the time gift cards are sold, no revenue is
recognized; rather a liability is established for the value of the card. The liability is relieved and revenue is
recognized when the gift cards are redeemed by the customer for merchandise. The liability for unredeemed gift
cards aggregated $33,315 and $33,844 at January 31, 2009, and February 2, 2008, respectively.

Outstanding gift cards may be subject to state escheatment laws. The Company periodically evaluates
unredeemed gift cards and if a determination is made that it is remote that the gift card will be redeemed and if it
is determined that the gift card is not subject to escheatment, then the Company will reverse the unredeemed
liability. The total reversal reflected in net sales for the years ended January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008 was
$5,397 and $11,701, respectively. There was no such reversal for gift card breakage reflected in net sales in fiscal
2006. -

INCOME TAXES

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company derives all of its revenue from the sale of luxury merchandise. Accordingly, the Company has
identified the operation of its retail stores and e-commerce business as the Company’s one reportable segment.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

On February 3, 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
(“SFAS No. 157”), which clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market
participants would use when pricing an asset or a liability and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the information used to develop those assumptions. In February 2008, the FASB amended SFAS No. 157 to
exclude FASB Statement No. 13 “Accounting for Leases” and its related interpretive accounting pronouncements
that address leasing transactions. The FASB also issued a final Staff Position to allow a one-year deferral of
adoption of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at
fair value in the financial statements on a non-recurring basis. The Company is in the process of evaluating the
impact of applying SFAS No. 157 to nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis. The
impact of applying SFAS No. 157 to financial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ending January 31, 2009.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value that currently are not required to be measured at fair value. This
Statement is effective no later than fiscal years beginning on or after November 15, 2007. The Company elected
to continue to record long-term debt at its amortized cost. Accordingly, this standard has no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141R”), which
addresses the recognition and accounting for identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and non-controlling
interests in business combinations. SFAS No. 141R also establishes expanded disclosure requirements for
business combinations. SFAS No. 141R will become effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year.
Generally, the effect of SFAS No. 141R will depend on the circumstances of any potential future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements” (“SFAS No. 160”). This standard outlines the accounting and reporting for ownership interest in a
subsidiary held by parties other than the parent. SFAS No. 160 is effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal
year. The adoption of this standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS No. 161”). This Statement amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”), to require an entity
to provide an enhanced understanding of its use of derivative instruments, how they are accounted for under
SFAS No. 133 and their effect on the entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The
provisions of SFAS No. 161 are effective as of the beginning of the 2009 fiscal year. The adoption of this
standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No.14-1 “Accounting for
Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash
Settlement).” (“ESP APB 14-1”). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible debt instruments that may be settled in
cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) are not addressed by paragraph 12 of APB Opinion
No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants.” Additionally, FSP
APB 14-1 specifies that issuers of such instruments should separately account for the liability and equity
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components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company will adopt the
provisions of FSP APB 14-1 on February 1, 2009 and will be required to retroactively apply its provisions. The
adoption of FSP APB 14-1 is expected to result in approximately $71,852 of the carrying value of the 2.00%
convertible senior notes to be reclassified to equity as of the March 2004 issuance date. The amount represents
the equity component of the proceeds from the notes calculated assuming a 6.25% non-convertible borrowing
rate. The discount will be accreted to interest expense over the 10 year period to the first put date of the notes.
Accordingly, the Company will revise its consolidated statements of income to reflect the pre-tax non-cash
interest expense of approximately $6,433, $5,989, $5,557, $5,351, and $4,440 for 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP EITF 03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-
Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” (“FSP EITF 03-6-1""). This FSP provides that unvested
share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents, whether paid
or unpaid, are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of both basic and diluted earnings
per share. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this standard will not have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132R-1”), which provides additional guidance on employers’ disclosures about
the plan assets of defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans. The disclosures required by FSP
FAS 132R-1 include a description of how investment allocation decisions are made, major categories of plan
assets, valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets, the impact of measurements using
significant unobservable inputs and concentrations of risk within plan assets. The disclosures about plan assets
required by this FSP shall be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. For the Company, FSP
FAS 132R-1 will be effective for fiscal year end 2009 and will result in additional disclosures related to the
assets of defined benefit pension plans in notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 — PROPRIETARY CREDIT CARDS

On April 15, 2003, the Company sold its proprietary credit card portfolio, consisting of the proprietary
credit card accounts owned by the National Bank of the Great Lakes and the Company’s ownership interest in the
assets of the trust, to HSBC, a third party financial institution.

HSBC, an affiliate of HSBC Holdings PLC, offers proprietary credit card accounts to the Company’s
customers. Pursuant to a program agreement with a term of ten years expiring in 2013, HSBC establishes and
owns proprietary credit card accounts for the Company’s customers, retains the benefits and risks associated with
the ownership of the accounts, receives the finance charge income and incurs the bad debts associated with those
accounts. During the ten-year term, pursuant to a servicing agreement, the Company continues to provide key
customer service functions, including new account opening, transaction authorization, billing adjustments and
customer inquiries, and receives compensation from HSBC for these services.

At the end of the ten-year term expiring in 2013, the agreement can be renewed for two two-year terms. At
the end of the agreement, the Company has the right to repurchase, at fair value, all of the accounts and
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outstanding accounts receivable, negotiate a new agreement with HSBC or begin issuing private label credit
cards itself or through others. The agreement allows the Company to terminate the agreement early following the
occurrence of certain events, the most significant of which would be HSBC’s failure to pay owed amounts,
bankruptcy, a change in control or a material adverse change in HSBC’s ability to perform under the agreement.
The agreement also allows for HSBC to terminate the agreement if the Company fails to pay owed amounts or
enters bankruptcy. Should either the Company or HSBC choose to terminate the agreement early, the Company
has the right, but not the requirement, to repurchase the credit card accounts and associated accounts receivable
from HSBC at their fair value. The Company is contingently liable to pay monies to HSBC in the event of an
early termination or a significant disposition of stores. The contingent payment is based upon a declining portion
of an amount established at the beginning of the ten-year agreement and on a prorated portion of significant store
closings. The maximum contingent payment had the agreement been terminated early at January 31, 2009 would
have been approximately $21,787. Management believes the risk of incurring a contingent payment is remote.

In September of 2006 the Company entered into agreements with HSBC and MasterCard International
Incorporated to issue a co-branded MasterCard card to new and existing proprietary credit card customers. Under
this program, qualifying customers are issued a SFA and MasterCard branded credit card that functions as a
traditional proprietary credit card when used at any SFA or OFF 5th store and at Saks Direct or as a MasterCard
card when used at any unaffiliated location that accepts MasterCard cards. HSBC establishes and owns the
co-brand accounts, retains the benefits and sales associated with the ownership of the accounts, receives the
finance charge and other income from the accounts, and incurs the bad-debts associated with the accounts.

With the exception of depreciation expense, all components of the credit card operations are included in
SG&A. The credit contribution comprises program compensation and servicing compensation. For 2008, 2007,
and 2006, the components of the credit contribution included in SG&A were $29,899, $28,754 and $58,038,

respectively _

NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

A summary of property and equipment is as follows:

January 31,  February 2,
2009

2008
Land and land improvements . ..............ooiiion i e $ 177,069 $ 177,040
BUildings .. ...vttttttt et i i e e 594,578 593,635
Leasehold iMProVEIMEnts . . . .. .vvvvvuuireiiiiiiaaaaas s aeaeaanseeeeeeenen 340,343 349,141
Fixtures and equipment . ... ...ttt e 811,642 797,366
ConStruction iN PrOZTESS . ..o v 'ttt iie et e ernee e 24,968 24,540
1,948,600 1,941,722

Accumulated depreciation ... ... ..o i e (891,183) = (849,718)
‘ $1,057,417 $1,092,004

Depreciation expense was $134,669, $131,710, and $125,822 in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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NOTE 5 — INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations were as follows:
2008 2007 2006
Current: ' o e »
Federal ............c. ..o, e et idireeshed $ 1,717 $ 826 $(100,085)
State ............ B I R PR (839) 2,141 - (26,566)
878 2,967 (126,651)
Deferred:
Federal ... .. i i et (48,870) 27,745 85,893
R T O 1,660  (1,559) 7,732
(47,210) 26,186 93,625
Total expense (benefit) from continuing operations ........ e $(46,332) $29,153 $ (33,026)

Components of the net deferred tax asset or liability recognized in the consolidated balance sheets were as
follows:

January 31, February 2,
2009 2008

Current:
Deferred tax assets:
ACCTUE BXPEIISES . ..t o i i inites i iete et e i i i e $ 28,099 $ 27,543
NOL carryforwards . .. ....uoiii it in i e ieeeens et 1,029 23,828
Valuation allowance . ...........iiueiinininerieieenneninnnennnns (2,322) (10,609)
Deferred tax liabilities: L
LN 1T .7 3,110 2,065
Netcurrent deferred taX @sset .. .....ovvirrin it teeinreneenaennn $ 29916 $ 42,827
Non-current:
 Deferred tax assets:
Capital 168S€S ... u ot vttt e e Ve $ 23,968  $ 26,018
Rent Adjustments ...........c...iiii iy idiineennnn. e e 18,433 —_
) 113 o) 1 R R PETATIt 15,993 —_
Other long-term Habilities . ... ... ... it i, 45913 52,678
AMT Credit . .o oe ettt i i e e e e e 24,269 24,269
NOL carryforwards . .....oovtttiiieiiiie e ieiiniinenennennenns 134,557 66,611
Valuation allowWancCe . ..........ouieiuirennnennnrsonnennneenneesnns (39,868) (53,228)
- Deferred tax liabilities: B :
" Property andequipment ... ... .. . . iee s i e e (11,446)  (19,259)
Otherassets ................ T RN 14 19
Net non-current deferred tax @sset ..........cvuiiiveue s rnenncinennnnns $211,833 $ 97,108
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At January 31, 2009, the Company had deferred tax assets of $78,905 related to U.S. Federal Net Operating
Loss (NOL) carryforwards of $225,444. The total Federal NOL carryforwards are $251,956 which includes
$26,512 of excess tax deductions associated with our stock option plans which have yet to reduce taxes payable.
Upon the utilization of these carryforwards, the associated tax benefits of $9,279 will be recorded to Additional
Paid-in-Capital. This amount considers the fact that the carryforwards are restricted under federal income tax
change-in-ownership rules. The federal and state NOL carryforwards will expire between 2009 and 2028. The
Company believes it is more likely than not that it will be sufficiently profitable during the periods from 2009 to
2028 to utilize all of its federal NOLs and a portion of its existing state NOLs. A valuation allowance has been
established against that portion of the existing state NOLs that the Company does not anticipate being able to
utilize based on current projections.

During 2008, the valuation allowance was evaluated on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis which resulted in
a net increase to the overall valuation allowance of $6,110 based on projections of future profitability. A similar
analysis was performed in 2007, which resulted in a net reduction to the overall valuation allowance of $2,957.

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes, an interpretation of SFAS No.109” (“FIN No. 48”) as of February 4, 2007. As a result of the
analysis of uncertain tax positions upon the adoption of FIN No. 48, the net deferred tax asset related to the state
net operating loss carryforwards increased. Therefore, the Company performed a valuation allowance analysis to
determine the realization of this asset. This analysis resulted in an additional valuation allowance of $19,258 with
the offset recorded to shareholders’ equity in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial
Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code”(“SOP 90-7"). The Company is subject to
the provisions of SOP 90-7 for these net operating losses since these losses were acquired through the acquisition
of a.company that had previously filed bankruptcy.

Income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations varies from the amounts computed by applying the
statutory federal income tax rate to income before taxes. The reasons for these differences were as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Expected federal income taxes at 35% . ............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiits $(59,182) $27,944 $(12,941)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit .......... ... ... ... i (6,520) 3,335 (10,779)
State NOL valuation allowance adjustment ...............ccccnninnenn.n 6,110 (2,957) (1,465)
Effect of settling tax exams and other tax reserve adjustments .............. 624 690  (10,150)
Executive Compensation . ..........c..oiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiians 318 367 2,439
Tax-Exempt Interest ..........oovieinieeniniiiiiiiiiiieannn. — 662) (1,761
ChangeinState Tax Law ... ..o 414) — —
Write-off of Expired Federal NOL .. ......... ..., 10,980 — —
Other items, ML . .. oo vttt iee e e iiae ettt e e aaee et 1,752 436 1,631
Provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations . ............ $(46,332) $29,153 $(33,026)

During 2008, an additional reserve of $505 was established for issues raised in current state tax
examinations and previously filed federal tax returns related to prior periods. In addition, the Company favorably
concluded certain tax examinations which resulted in an income tax benefit of $189. During 2007, an additional
reserve of $1,793 was established for issues raised in current state tax examinations and previously filed federal
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tax returns related to prior periods. During 2006, the Company favorably concluded certain tax examinations
which resulted in an income tax benefit of $10,150. The Company analyzed its positions related to the reserve for
tax exposures and determined that the amount was adequate. The Company will continue to analyze its positions
related to the reserve for tax exposures on an ongoing basis.

The Company made income tax payments, net of refunds received of $(10,214), $(17,492) and, $34,222
during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

As aresult of the implementation of FIN No. 48, the Company recorded a $33,671 decrease in the liability
for unrecognized tax benefits which was accounted for as an increase to the beginning shareholder’s equity. A
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits follows:

" January 31, February 2,
2009 2008

Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year .......................ccooviu... $47,648  $46,278
Gross amount of increases for tax positions of prior years ........................ 505 1,793
Gross amount of decreases for tax positions of prior years ........................ (761) —
Gross amount of decreases due to statute exXpirations .......................uu... (1,256) (423)
Gross amount of decreases due to tax settlements .. ............ovevennnnnnn.. .. (105) —
Balance atend of year ... ...t i e $46,031 $47,648

Including the cumulative effect decrease, at the beginning and ending of 2008 the Company had $44,646
and $45,339 (net of federal and state benefits) of total unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. Of these totals,
$13,264 and $13,958 (net of federal and state benefits) represents the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits that,
if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate in future periods. It is reasonably possible that the
amount of unrecognized tax benefits will increase or decrease in the next twelve months as a result of settling
uncertain tax positions. However, the Company does not anticipate this to result in any material changes to the
amount of unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company recognizes interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties in income tax
expense. During the years ended January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company recognized $1,688 and
$377, respectively. in interest and penalties. The Company had $4,918 and $3,230 for the payment of interest and
penalties accrued as of January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively.

The Company files a consolidated U.S. Federal income tax return as well as state tax returns in multiple
state jurisdictions. The Company has completed examinations by the Internal Revenue Service for taxable years
through January 29, 2005 with no significant adjustments. With respect to the state and local Jjurisdictions, the
Company has completed examinations in many jurisdictions through the same period and beyond and currently
has examinations in progress for several jurisdictions.
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NOTE 6 — DEBT
A summary of long-term debt and capital lease obligations is as follows:

January 31, February 2,
2009

2008

Notes 8.25%, maturing fiscal year 2008 . .. ..........ooviiriiiitiineaieeneenne. $ — § 84,132
Notes 7.50%, maturing fiscal year 2010 ... ...t 45,872 45,872
Notes 9.875%, maturing fiscal year 2011 .. .......... ..ot 141,557 141,557
Notes 7.00%, maturing fiscal year 2013 . ... 2,922 2,922
Notes 7.375%, maturing fiscal year 2019 . ......... ..ot 1,911 1,911
Convertible Notes 2.00%, maturing fiscal year2024 . ........... ... ... .. ..ot 230,000 230,000
Revolving credit facility ........ ... 156,675 —
Terminated interest rate SwWap agreements, NEt . . . ....voveerneenreernneenneceenn. 53 —
Capital lease ObLZAtONS . .. ...ttt ittt 61,083 66,194

640,073 572,588
CUITENt POTHON . o e vttt ettt ttiiaaaat e anataasaannaeseoeananseseeenos (4,673) (319,242)

$635,400 $ 253,346

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

The Company has a $500,000 revolving credit facility, subject to a borrowing base equal to a specified
percentage of eligible inventory and certain credit card receivables. The facility matures in September 2011. The
obligations under the facility are guaranteed by certain of Company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries,
and the obligations are secured by the Company’s and the guarantors’ merchandise inventories and certain third
party accounts receivable. Borrowings under the facility bear interest at a per annum rate of either LIBOR plus a
percentage ranging from 1.00% to 1.50% or at the higher of the prime rate and federal funds rate. Letters of
credit are charged a per annum fee equal to the then applicable LIBOR borrowing spread (for standby letters of
credit) or fifty percent of the LIBOR borrowing spread (for documentary or commercial letters of credit). The
Company also pays an unused line fee of 0.25% per annum on the average daily unused revolver.

During periods in which availability under the agreement is $60,000 or more, the Company is not subject to
financial covenants. If and when availability under the agreement decreases to less than $60,000, the Company
will be subject to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1 to 1. There is no debt rating trigger.

The revolving credit agreement restricts additional debt to specific categories including the following (each
category being subject to limitations as described in the revolving credit agreement): debt arising from permitted
sale and leaseback transactions; debt to finance purchases of machinery, equipment, real estate and other fixed
assets; debt in connection with permitted acquisitions; and unsecured debt. The revolving credit agreement also
places certain restrictions on, among other things, asset sales, the ability to make acquisitions and investments,
and to pay dividends.

The Company routinely issues stand-by and documentary letters of credit principally related to the funding

of insurance reserves. Outstanding letters of credit reduce availability under the revolving line of credit. During
2008, weighted average letters of credit issued under the credit agreement were $28,594. The highest amount of
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letters of credit outstanding under the agreement during 2008 was $34,326. At J anuary 31, 2009, the Company
had $156,675 of direct outstanding borrowings and had letters of credit outstanding of $21,459. The credit
agreement contains default provisions that are typical for this type of financing, including a provision that would
trigger a default under the credit agreement if a default were to occur in another debt instrument resulting in the
acceleration of principal of more than $20,000 under that other instrument.

SENIOR NOTES

At January 31, 2009, the Company had $192,262 of unsecured senior notes outstanding, excluding the
convertible notes, comprised of four separate series having maturities ranging from 2010 to 2019 and interest
rates ranging from 7.00% to 9.88%. The senior notes are guaranteed by all of the subsidiaries that guarantee the
Company’s credit facility and have substantially identical terms except for the maturity dates and interest rates
payable to investors. Subject to certain exceptions, the notes restrict the Company from incurring secured debt or
entering into sale/leaseback transactions that are, in the aggregate greater than 15% (17.5% in the case of the
notes due in 2013) of consolidated net tangible assets of the Company. The notes permit certain sale/leaseback
transactions but place certain restrictions around the use of proceeds generated from a sale/leaseback transaction.
The terms of each senior note require all principal to be repaid at maturity. There are no financial covenants
associated with these notes, and there are no debt-rating triggers.

On April 12, 2007, the Company announced the results of its modified “Dutch Auction” tender offer to
purchase a portion of its 8.25% senior notes due November 15, 2008 for an aggregate purchase price not to
exceed $100 million (the “offer cap™). The offer expired on April 11, 2007. The aggregate principal amount of
notes validly tendered at or above the clearing spread exceeded the offer cap and the Company accepted $95,872
aggregate principal amount of the notes, resulting in an aggregate purchase price of approximately $100,000
(plus an additional $3,230 in aggregate accrued interest on such notes). The Company accepted for purchase first,
all notes tendered at spreads above the clearing spread, and thereafter, the notes validly tendered at the clearing
spread on a prorated basis according to the principal amount of such notes. During the three months ended
May 5, 2007, the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $5,222 related to the
repurchase of the notes. ,

During June and July 2007, the Company repurchased an additional $10;420 in principal amount primarily
relating to its 8.25% senior notes. The repurchase of these notes resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of
approximately $412.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

The Company had $230,000 of convertible senior unsecured notes outstanding at J anuary 31, 2009. The
notes bear interest at a rate of 2.0% per annum and mature in 2024. Interest is payable on the convertible notes on
March 15 and September 15 of each year. The convertible notes are guaranteed by all of the subsidiaries that
guarantee the Company’s revolving credit facility.

In certain circumstances, the provisions of the convertible notes allow the holder to convert the notes to
shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion rate of 83.5609 shares per one thousand dollars in
principal amount of notes (subject to an anti-dilution adjustment). The Company can settle a conversion of the
notes with shares and/or cash. The holders may convert the notes at the following times, among others: if the
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Company’s share price is greater than 120% of the applicable conversion price for a certain trading period; if the
credit ratings of the notes are below a certain threshold; or upon the occurrence of certain consolidations, mergers
or share exchange transactions involving the Company.

The convertible notes are also subject to repurchase at the option of the holders in the event of a change of
control or a termination of trading of the Company’s common stock, and the holders may put the notes back to
the Company in 2014 or 2019. The Company can call the notes for redemption on or after March 21, 2011.

Subject to certain exceptions, the convertible notes restrict the Company from incurring secured debt or
entering into sale and leaseback transactions that are, in the aggregate, greater than 17.5% of consolidated net
tangible assets of the Company.

At January 31, 2009, the conversion criteria with respect to the credit rating requirements were met,
however the share price was significantly below the conversion price. Due to the share price being significantly
below the conversion price, the Company has classified the convertible notes in “long-term debt” on the
Company’s balance sheet as of January 31, 2009. At February 2, 2008, the holders of the convertible notes had
the ability to exercise their conversion rights as a result of the Company’s share price exceeding 120% of the
applicable conversion price for the trading period. Therefore, the convertible notes were classified within
“current portion of long-term debt” on the Company’s balance sheet as of February 2, 2008.

The Company used approximately $25,000 of the proceeds from the issuances of the convertible notes to
enter into a convertible note hedge and written call options on its common stock to reduce the exposutre to
dilution from the conversion of the notes. The terms and conditions of the note hedge include: the strike price is
$11.97; the contract is indexed to 19,219 shares of the Company’s common stock; the maturity dates of the hedge
instruments range from March 24, 2011 to April 20, 2011. The fair value of the bond hedge is approximately
$4,382 at January 31, 2009. The sensitivity of the fair value to a $1 increase in the price of the underlying
common stock would be to increase the value of the hedge by approximately $5,151. The sensitivity of the fair
value to a $1 decrease in the price of the underlying common stock would be to decrease the value of the hedge
by approximately $3,190.

The terms of the written call options include: the strike price is $13.81; the contract is indexed to 19,219
shares of the Company’s common stock; the maturity date of the written call option instruments is August 2,
2011. The fair value of the call option is approximately $4,382 at January 31, 2009. The sensitivity of the fair
value to a $1 increase in the price of the underlying common stock would be to increase the value of the call
option by approximately $5,151. The sensitivity of the fair value to a $1 decrease in the price of the underlying
common stock would be to decrease the value of the call option by approximately $3,190.

These transactions were accounted for as a net reduction of stockholders’ equity of approximately $25,000
in 2004.
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MATURITIES

At January 31, 2009, maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations for the next five years and
thereafter are as follows:

. Y;ear Maturities
2000 .t P $ 4,673
2000 L 50,924
200 L o 303,500
20012 o 5,308
2003 e 8,746
Thereafter . ... ...ovi et e e e 266,922

' $640,073

The Company made interest payments of $31,741, $34,982, and $50,409, of which $1,308, $1,830, and
$3,807 was capitalized into property and equipment during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 7 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES .
OPERATING LEASES AND OTHER PURCHASE COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain property and equipment under various non-cancelable capital and operating
leases. The leases provide for monthly fixed amount rentals or contingent rentals based upon sales in excess of
stated amounts and normally require the Company to pay real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance
costs and other occupancy costs. Generally, the leases have primary terms ranging from 20 to 30 years and
include renewal options ranging from 5 to 20 years.

At January 31, 2009, future minimum rental commitments under capital leases and non-cancelable operating
leases consisted of the following: :

Operating Capital
. Leases

. Leases
2000 . i $66,857 % 11,562
2010 ... el 65,356 11,454
2011 ..o S S e 60,537 11,234
200 L e 50,184 10,771
2008 e e 45,329 10,746
Thereafter .......coviiinii i e 188,609 54,908
$476,872 110,675
Amounts representing interest . ... ..... ... .. ie.. A AN (49,592)
Capital leaseobligations ............. ..o ve it $ 61,083

Total rental expense for operating leases was $101,063, $100,106, and $107,645 during 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively, including contingent rent of $17,381, $19,612, and $17,897, respectively, and common area
maintenance costs of $12,702, $10,297, and $8,236, respectively. The gross amount of assets recorded under
capital leases as of January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008 was $130,946 and 134,825 respectively.
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As of January 31, 2009, the Company had two potential commitments tied to the value of its common stock.
First, the Company may be required to deliver shares and/or cash to holders of the convertible notes described in
Note 6 prior to the stated maturity date of said notes based on the value of the Company’s common stock.
Second, in connection with the issuance of the convertible notes, the Company bought and sold call options to
limit the potential dilution from conversion of the notes. The Company may be required to deliver shares and/or
cash to the holders of the call options based on the value of the Company’s common stock.

In the normal course of business, the Company purchases merchandise under purchase commitments; enters
into contractual commitments with real estate developers and construction companies for new store construction
and store remodeling; and maintains contracts for various information technology, telecommunications,
maintenance and other services. Commitments for purchasing merchandise generally do not extend beyond six
months and may be cancelable several weeks prior to the vendor shipping the merchandise. Contractual
commitments for the construction and remodeling of stores are typically lump sum or cost plus construction
contracts. Contracts to purchase various services are generally less than one to two year commitments and are
cancelable within several weeks notice.

From time to time the Company has issued guarantees to landlords under leases of stores operated by its
subsidiaries. Certain of these stores were sold in connection with the SDSG and NDSG transactions. If the
purchasers fail to perform certain obligations under the leases guaranteed by the Company, the Company could
have obligations to landlords under such guarantees. Based on the information currently available, management
does not believe that its potential obligations under these lease guarantees would be material.

LEGAL CONTINGENCIES
Vendor Litigation

On December 8, 2005 Adamson Apparel, Inc. filed a purported class action lawsuit against the Company in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama. In its complaint the plaintiff asserted
breach of contract claims and alleged that the Company improperly assessed chargebacks, timely payment
discounts, and deductions for merchandise returns against members of the plaintiff class. The lawsuit sought
compensatory and incidental damages and restitution. On June 8, 2008, the parties entered into a settlement
agreement which was approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California on
July 30, 2008. Pursuant to the settlement, on August 18, 2008 the Company paid the plaintiff $370 in settlement
of the claims (of which the Company was reimbursed approximately $118 from an unrelated third party), at
which time the lawsuit was formally dismissed.

Other

The Company is involved in legal proceedings arising from its normal business activities and has accruals
for losses where appropriate. Management believes that none of these legal proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

INCOME TAXES

The Company is routinely under audit by federal, state or local authorities in the areas of income taxes and
the remittance of sales and use taxes. These audits include questioning the timing and amount of deductions and
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the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. Based on annual evaluations of tax filing positions, the
Company believes it has adequately accrued for its income tax exposures. To the extent the Company were to
prevail in matters for which accruals have been established or be required to pay amounts in excess of the current
reserves, the Company’s effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be materially impacted. At
January 31, 2009 certain state examinations were ongoing.

NOTE 8 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Company sponsors a non-qualified deferred compensation plan wherein eligible employees can defer a
portion of their compensation or unvested restricted stock and allocate the deferrals to a choice of investments
options. The liability for compensation deferred under this plan was $10,267 and $19,417 for the years ended
January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively. The Company manages the risk of changes in the fair value
of the liability for deferred compensation by electing to match its liability under the plan with investment
vehicles that offset a substantial portion of its exposure. The cash value of the investment vehicles was $9,701
and $18,886 for the years ended January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively, and is included in Other
Assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLANS

The Company sponsors various qualified savings plans that cover substantially all full-time employees.
Company contributions charged to expense under these plans for 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $7,805, $8,403, and
$7,282, respectively. The Company’s contributions to the plan have been suspended for the 2009 calendar year.
At January 31, 2009, total assets invested by participants related to the employee savings plans was $340,678, of
which approximately 1% was invested in the Company’s stock at the discretion of the participating employees.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a defined benefit cash balance pension plan for many employees of the Company. In
conjunction with the sale of NDSG, the Company sold to Bon-Ton the assets, and Bon-Ton assumed the
liabilities, of the Carson cash balance pension plan. The Company generally funds pension costs, currently
subject to regulatory funding requirements. The Company expects funding requirements of up to $1,000 in 2009.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, which requires employers to (i) recognize the funded
status of their defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans on the consolidated balance sheet,
(ii) recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service
costs or credits that arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost and
(iii) measure defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of the employer’s statement of financial
position. The Company adopted the recognition and disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 158 prospectively on
February 3, 2007. Effective January 31, 2009, in accordance with SFAS No. 158, the Company changed its
measurement date from November 1 to the date of its fiscal year end. The Company elected to adopt the change
in measurement date using the alternative transition method. In accordance with the alternative transition method,
the actuarial valuation provided a 15-month projection of net periodic benefit cost to J. anuary 31, 2009 that
resulted in a $344 decrease to 2008 ending retained earnings.
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Additionally, the Company amended the SFA Pension Plan during 2006, freezing benefit accruals for all
participants except those who have attained age 55 and completed 10 years of credited service as of January 1,
2007, who are considered to be non-highly compensated employees. In January 2009, the Company suspended
future benefit accruals for all remaining participants in the plan effective on March 13, 2009. This curtailment
resulted in a gain of approximately $616 for the year ended January 31, 2009.

The components of net periodic pension expense related to the Company’s pension plan were as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Net periodic pension expense:

CEIVICE COSE .+ v i e e s et e e et i ieeee et ai e $ 846 $ 1,323 $4,841

Interest COSE v et et s et e e 10,613 8,199 8,516

Expected return on plan assets .. ........oeiutiriiieii it (15,184) (11,058) (9,592)

Recognized actuarial 10SS . . ... o.vvvneittiii e 1,005 3,338 4,202

Amortization of prior SErviCe COSS . ......cvvvti i, 87) (70) (395)
NEt PENSION EXPEMSE . .+« .t v v vveeeee e et te et e eoe s 2,807) 1,732 7,572

FAS 88 Charge ........vviieeenaiii e iiaiiieeee e s —_ — 443
Total pension eXpense (INCOME) . . .« vvvvvvntneereurnranauoneneeeens $ (2,807) $ 1,732 $ 8,015
Gain recognized due to curtailment . ...t $ (616) $§ — $(4,303)
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2008 2007
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of period . . ........ .. e $ 156,109 $ 163,915
SOIVICE COSE - v v v v et et eee et e iaeneennesntsonsoneeenseennnnnss 846 1,323
TOEEIESE COSE & v v v vt e ettt ettt et ceeesaees oo ivaneanannneesns 10,613 8,199
ACtUarial 1OSS .« ot vttt i e e it i i (3,818) (3,148)
Benefits paid . . .. oooo e et e (15,079)  (14,180)(1)

Benefit obligation atend of period .. ... .. ... il $ 148,671 $ 156,109

Change in plan assets: ‘ _
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period ................ooiiiiiain.. $ 165,878 $ 151,159
Actual return on plan assets ............ T (55,071) 27,850
Employer contributions .. .....ovuvuuiniirtein e iiiiiieaeeeananan 1,309 1,038
Benefits paid .. ...ttt e (15,079)  (12,835)
Administrative XPenSes . . . ..ottt e (1,764) (1,334)
Fair value of plan assets atend of period .......... ...t $ 95273 $ 165,878
Pension plans’ funding status:

Accumulated benefit OblGation . ... ........iiiiiiiiiiii i $(148,658) $(156,101)

Effect of projected salary inCreases .......cooevnvieeeeeeiiiiiiiiiiiin (13) )
Projected benefit ObGAON . ...+ v v e retn et e eeaeeeaneernaaeieaeainns (148,671)  (156,109)
Fair value of plan assets . ........uuuinietuiinnreeruneseecensoneeerinnnennns 95,273 165,878
Funded Staths . ..ottt ettt it e et (53,398) 9,769
Unrecognized actuarial IoSS . .....vuuiiiiiinen ettt — —
Unrecognized Prior SEIVICE COSt . .. vt ttiiie it e eeas — —
Contributions subsequent to measurement date ..............coiiiirerieiataenn — 258
Prepaid (accrued) pension cost classified in other assets (liabilities) at balance sheet

G 21 S U P KIS SO N $ (53,398) $ 10,027

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet:

INODCUITENE BSSEL &+ o v v v e v et te et et ee e nsenasenseeeneionenaencaannnns $ — $ 25,309

Current Habilities . ..o o vi ittt ittt s ettt en e re i (1,179) (1,056)

Noncurrent Habilities ... ..cvvvierninen ittt iiiieaaanenananns (52,219)  (14,226)

‘Net amount recognized at balance sheetdate . ... $ (53,398) $ 10,027
Assumptions:
Discountrate, atend of period ....... ... ... i i e it 6.50% 6.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets, for periods ended January 31, 2009 and

February 2,2008 . ... ..ottt i i e 8.00% 8.00%
Average assumed rate of compensation iNCrease .. ... covevneenneneiii .., 4.00% 4.00%
Measurement date . . ... .ooitiin ittt ittt i i it e 1/31/09 11/1/07

(1) The benefits paid in 2007 include the final payment of $1,345 from the Carson Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan which was retained by the Company in conjuction with the sale of NDSG.
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Pension assumptions are based upon management’s best estimates as of the annual measurement date. The
assumed discount rate utilized is based upon pension discount curves and bond portfolio curves over a duration
similar to the plan’s liabilities as of the measurement date. The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating
the Company’s pension obligation, which is represented by the Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) and the
Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) and in calculating net pension expense. At January 31, 2009 and February 2,
2008, the discount rate was 6.5% and 6% respectively.

The assumed expected long-term rate of return on assets is the weighted average rate of earnings expected
on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the PBO. The Company’s estimate
of the expected long-term rate of return considers the historical returns on plan assets, as well as the future
expectations of returns on classes of assets within the target asset allocation of the plan asset portfolio. This rate
is utilized principally in calculating the expected return on plan assets component of the Company’s annual
pension expense. The Company’s expected long-term rate of return on assets was 8.0% in 2008 and 2007.

The assumed average rate of compensation increase is the average annual compensation increase expected
over the remaining employment periods for the participating employees. This rate is estimated to be 4% for the
periods following January 31, 2009 and is utilized principally in calculating the PBO and annual pension
expense.

In 2009, the estimated Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCTI”) amortization of prior service
credit and amortization of net loss is $0 and $10,061, respectively, for the pension plan. No refunds are expected
from the benefit plan during 2009. ‘

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefit costs and included in AOCI as of January 31, 2009 and
February 2, 2008 are as follows:

, 2008 2007
Prior SETVICE CTEAIE . o\ ittt e ee ettt it ettt e e et $ — §$§ (704
AccUmMUIALEd 0SS .o vttt it ittt e i e et e e e 92,519 25,324
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .......... .ol i 92,519 24,620

Plan weighted-average asset investment allocations at January 31, 2009 and November 1, 2007, by asset
category were as follows:

January 31, November 1,

2009 2007
2 11 55.7% 65.6%
D7+ O 36.1% 29.1%
| = 7 (- A 8.2% 5.3%

1 100.0% 100.0%

The Company’s pension plan investment strategy is to maintain a diversified portfolio of asset classes with
the primary goal to ensure that funds are available to meet the plan’s benefit obligations when they become due.
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The plan’s target allocation is determined taking into consideration the amounts and timing of projected
liabilities, the Company’s funding policies and expected returns on various asset categories. For the years ended
January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the plan’s target asset allocation was approximately 65% equity, 30%
fixed income and 5% real estate.

At January 31, 2009, the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate,
are expected to be paid:

. . : * Benefit
Yﬂ o S IR : . ‘Payments
2009 .. e A O A $ 18,354
2000 e e e e e e e e e 16,911
2011 L e S S 16,095
0 ) 72 A N 15,121
7 0 ) 1 PN 14,945
2004 - 2008 . .t e e e e e e e i 51,486
' $132,912

NOTE 9 — SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

On October 3, 2006 the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common share
totaling $558,587, and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity by that amount. Approximately $552,000 of
the dividend was paid on November 30, 2006 to shareholders of record as of November 15, 2006. The remaining
portion of the dividend payable will be paid prospectively as, and to the extent, awards of restricted stock vest.

As aresult of the November 30, 2006 $4.00 per common share dividend payment, the Human Resources
and Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors exercised its discretion under anti-dilution
provisions of the Company’s long-term incentive plan to adjust the exercise price and number of stock options to
reflect the change in the share price on the December 1, 2006 ex-dividend date. In accordance with the provisions
of SFAS No. 123R, the discretionary nature of the anti-dilution provisions resulted in a modification of the
options. Accordingly, the measurement of the fair value of the options both before and after the ex-dividend date
was required resulting in a pre-tax non-cash charge of $13,729.

The effect of this anti-dilution adjustment is présented below:

As of the ex-dividend date
Prior to After
Adjustment - Adjustment

Optionsoutstanding .......... .ccoviviiieinieneveinaaann. 4,547 5,645
Options exercisable . ........coiiiii it 4,489 5,573
Weighted average exercise price:

Options outstanding . ..............c.ovevuivnneinat. $14.49 $11.67

Options exercisable . ......... 00 viivie i idon, $14.57 $11.74

On March 6, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $4.00 per common share
totaling $547,537, and the Company reduced shareholders’ equity by that amount. $538,964 of the dividend was
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paid on May 1, 2006 to shareholders of record as of April 14, 2006. The remaining portion of the dividend
payable will be paid prospectively as, and to the extent, awards of restricted stock vest.

As aresult of the May 1, 2006 $4.00 per common share dividend payment, the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors exercised its discretion under anti-dilution
provisions of the Company’s long-term incentive plan to adjust the exercise price and number of stock options to
reflect the change in the share price on the May 2, 2006 ex-dividend date. In accordance with the provisions of
SFAS No. 123R, the discretionary nature of the anti-dilution provisions resulted in a modification of the options.
Accordingly, the measurement of the fair value of the options before and after the ex-dividend date was required
resulting in a pre-tax non-cash charge of $19,600.

The effect of this anti-dilution adjustment is presented below:

As of the ex-dividend date

Prior to After
Adjustment  Adjustment
Optionsoutstanding .. ....... ..o oviiiii i, 7,148 8,845
Options exercisable . .......... oo, 6,870 8,501
Weighted average exercise price:
Options outstanding . ........cceeuuuiiiiinnnnnnnnn.. $16.58 $13.40
OpLions eXercisable . ... ..ovvveenmneeereeeennnnnenn. $16.82 $13.59

On December 8, 2005, the Company announced that in anticipation of the closing of the NDSG transaction,
its Board of Directors had approved a 35,000 share increase in its common share repurchase authorization, '
bringing the total number of authorized shares to 70,025. During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company repurchased
2,949, 1,722, and 450 shares for an aggregate amount of $34,899, $27,464, and $6,531, respectively. There were
32,709 shares available for repurchase under the share repurchase program at January 31, 2009. '

Each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock has one preferred stock purchase right attached.
The rights generally become exercisable ten days after an outside party acquires, or makes an offer for, 20% or
more of the common stock. Each right entitles its holder to purchase 1/100 share of Series C Junior Preferred
Stock for $50 once the rights become exercisable. The rights expire in November 2018. Once exercisable, if the
Company is involved in a merger or other business combination or an outside party acquires 20% or more of the
common stock, each right will be modified to entitle its holder (other than the acquirer) to purchase common
stock of the acquiring company or, in certain circumstances, common stock having a market value of twice the
exercise price of the right.

NOTE 10 — EMPLOYEE STOCK PLANS

The Company maintains an equity incentive plan for the granting of options, stock appreciation rights,
performance shares, restricted stock and other forms of equity awards to employees and directors. At January 31,
2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company had available for grant 16,061 and 16,549 shares of common stock,
respectively. Options granted generally vest over a four-year period after grant and have an exercise term of
seven to ten years from the grant date. Restricted stock and performance shares generally vest one to three years
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after the grant date, although the plan permits.accelerated vesting in certain circumstances at the discretion of the
Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No.123R, which requires companies to expense the value of
employee stock options and similar awards. Effective January 29, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No.123R.
The adoption of this standard had an immaterial effect on the Company’s 2006 consolidated financial statements.
Total pre-tax stock-based compensation expense for the years ended January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and
February 3, 2007 was $16,395, $7,724, and $52,072, respectively. The related tax benefit for the years ended
January 31, 2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3, 2007 was $6,558, $3,090, and $20,829, respectively.

STOCK OPTIONS

The Company expenses the fair value of all stock-based option grants over the requisite service period on a
prospective basis utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model estimates the
expected value employees will receive from the options based on a number of assumptions, such as interest rates,
employee exercises, the Company’s stock price and dividend yield. The Company did not grant any stock options
in 2006. The weighted-average Black-Scholes fair value assumptions are as follows:

2008 2007
Expectedlife ....... ... i i S5years 5 years
Risk free interest rate . .........coviieun i irnnineninennnennns 2.5% 4.6%
Expected volatility .............ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian.. 36% 35%
Expecteddividend yield ........... ... oo 0% 0%

The expected life is a significant assumption as it determines the period for which the risk free interest rate,
volatility and dividend yield must be applied. The expected life is the period over which employee groups are
expected to hold options. The expected life is calculated using the simplified method in accordance with SAB
107, as amended by SAB 110. The risk free interest rate is based on the expected U.S. Treasury rate over the
expected life. Volatility reflects movements in the Company’s stock price over the most recent historical period
equivalent to the expected life. The dividend yield is zero as the Company does not anticipate declaring
dividends in the foreseeable future. ‘

The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock option awards with graded vesting on a straight

line basis over the requisite service period. The Company has not granted stock options with performance or
market conditions.
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A summary of the stock options for 2008, 2007, and 2006 is presented below:

Outstanding at beginning of
VeAr .. i
Dividend Adjustments .......
Granted ...................
Exercised .................
Forfeited ..................

Outstanding at end of year . . ..
Options exercisable at year
end ....... ...l

Weighted average fair value of
options granted during the

2008 2007 2006
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Aggregate Average Aggregate Average Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic Exercise Intrinsic Exercise Intrinsic
Shares  Price Value Shares  Price Value  Shares  Price Value
2,421 $13.06 - 4,861 $11.56 8,400 $15.84
— 000 — 0.00 2,795 3.92
940 13.04 616 19.79 — 0.00
(386) 8.18 : (2,930) 11.72 (5,486) 11.00
(488) 15.99 (126) 19.27 (848) 20.21
2,487 $1326 $— 2421 $13.06 $14,004 4,861 $11.56 $38,305
1,194 $11.17 $— 1,837 $10.92 $14,004 4,814 $11.61 $37,694
$4.65 $ 761 $ —

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $1,951, $25,915, and

$43,365, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at January 31, 2009:

Range of Exercise Prices

$5.15t0$8.66 ..............
$8.67t0813.04 .............
$13.05t0$19.68 ............
$19.69t0$20.31 ............

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted

Number Average Weighted Number Average Weighted
Outstanding  Remaining ~ Average Exercisable Remaining  Average

at January 31, Contractual - Exercise at January 31, Contractual Exercise

2009 Life (Years) Price 2009 Life (Years) Price

e 635 1.5 $ 6.72 635 1.5 $ 6.72
e 941 5.9 $12.87 58 2.3 $10.29
e 345 04 $15.62 342 03 $15.59
e 566 51 $19.80 159 51 $19.79
2,487 §_§ $13.26 1,194 1_7 $11.17

In 2006, due to the two $4 cash dividends paid, the Company recorded non-cash charges of $33,329 for the
re-measurement of the fair value of the options.

RESTRICTED STOCK AND PERFORMANCE SHARES

The Company granted restricted stock awards of 2,184, 406, and 372 shares to certain employees in 2008,
2007, and 2006, respectively. The fair value of the restricted stock is based on the market value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of these shares on the dates of grants was $27,934,
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$8,843, and $7,285 for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. During 2008, 2007, and 2006, compensation cost, net
of related tax effects, of $6,511, $2,162, and $2,846, respectively, was recognized in connection with the
Company’s restricted stock grants.

Compensation cost for the restricted stock awards that cliff vest is expensed on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period. Restricted stock with graded vesting features are treated as multiple awards based upon
the vesting date. The Company records compensation cost for these awards on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

A summary of restricted stock awards for the year ended January 31, 2009 is presented below:

Weighted

Average

Grant

Shares _ Price
Nonvested at February 2, 2008 . ... ... ovttttiiet it iiinteerenaaeeeeaaananees 944 $18.83
Granted ..ot e ittt et e et et e et e et e e e e 2,184 12.79
YT 7=y KR P S AP P O  A (129) 15.99
Canceled .....o.ovivviennn i N A P (280) 15.74
Nonvested at January 31,2009 ................ B PSP 2,719 $14.43

The Company granted performance shares under its long-term incentive plan. The fair value of the
performance shares is based on the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The
actual number of performance shares earned is based on the level of performance achieved relative to established
operating (non-market condition) goals for the one-year performance period beginning February 3, 2008 and
range from 0% to 150% of the target number of performance shares granted. In addition, once earned,
performance shares are not payable unless the grantee remains employed by the Company for an additional two
years. Compensation cost for the performance shares that cliff vest is expensed on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period. Performance shares with graded vesting features are treated as multiple awards based
upon the vesting date. The Company records compensation cost for these awards on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of the award.

The Company granted performance shares of 816, 570, and 568 to certain employees in 2008, 2007, and
2006, respectively. The fair value of these shares on the dates of grants was $10,632, $11,282, and $11,026 for
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The performance measure was not met for the 2008 performance shares and
therefore no shares were earned. Accordingly, no compensation cost was recognized for these shares. During
2008, 2007 and 2006, compensation cost recognized for performance shares earned in prior years, net of related
tax effects, was $1,735, $1,605 and $8,279, respectively.
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A summary of performance share awards for the year ended January 31, 2009 is presented below:

Weighted

Average

Grant

M Price
Nonvested at February 2, 2008 .. ... ...t i i it 679 $19.73
GIanted . ..t ottt ittt e e e e e et e 816 13.04
Y37y PP (142) 18.56
(@7 1 V7= [« A OO (30) 13.75
Nonvested at January 31,2009 ... ...vnnnnniiiiii i e e 1,323 $15.87

At January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, the Company had unearned compensation amounts related to
non-vested restricted stock and performance shares of $29,986 and $15,562, respectively, which will be
recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.5 years.

STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Company’s employee stock purchase plan provides for an aggregate of 1,450 shares of the Company’s
common stock to be purchased by eligible employees through payroll deductions at a 15% discount to market
value. Under the plan, 250, 37, and 40 shares of the Company’s common stock were purchased by employees in
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. During 2008, 2007, and 2006, compensation cost, net of related tax effects,
of $189, $60, and $61, respectively, was recognized in connection with the shares issued. At January 31, 2009,
the plan had 148 shares available for future offerings.

On December 3, 2008, the Human Resources and the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
suspended the employee stock purchase plan for the 2009 calendar year.

NOTE 11 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Effective February 3, 2008, the Company partially adopted SFAS No. 157. The partial adoption is in
accordance with FSP No. FAS 157-2, which allows for the delay of the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a regular basis.

SFAS No. 157 discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market prices), the
income approach (present value of future income or cash flow), and the cost approach (cost to replace the service
capacity of an asset or replacement cost). The standard utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The following is a brief description of
these three levels:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data

Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting the reporting entity’s own assumptions
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The Company may also be required, from time to time, to measure certain other financial assets and
liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis in accordance with GAAP.

As of January 31, 2009, the Company had no material financial assets or liabilities measured on a recurring
basis that required adjustments or write-downs.

NOTE 12 — FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable approximate their
carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets, due to the immediate or short-term maturity of
these instruments. For variable rate notes that reprice frequently, such as the Company’s revolving credit
agreement, fair value approximates carrying value.

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments other than the instruments considered short-term in
nature at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008 were as follows:

Carrying  Estimated
Amount Fair Value

January 31, 2009

T.50% SEMIOT MOLES o vttt ettt ettt e ettt e $ 45872 $ 36,698
9.875% SEIEOT MOIES o . vt vttt et ettt ettt e e te e ne e e inenn. $141,557 $ 99,090
7.00% senior notes .......... e e e e $ 2922 $ 1,753
T.375% SEMIOT DOES .« v v v v ottt vttt et e e et e e e e ettt e e $ 1911 $ 993
2.00% convertible NOES . ... vt v e e e e e $230,000 $ 89,125
February 2, 2008 :
8.25% SEMIOr MOLES . . . . i i i it it e e e ey e e e e e $ 84,132 $ 84,868
T.50% SEIIOT MOLES .« o\ vttt ettt ettt e et et e e e e $ 45,872 $ 45,241
0.875% SEMIOT MOLES . .ottt ie et e s ettt ettt e et $141,557 $144,211
T.00% SENMIOr NOES . .o vttt ittt e et ettt e e et ettt e $ 2922 $ 2922
T.375% SEMIOT IOES .« v v ot ettt et it et e e e e e et e e e e e et ettt $ 1,911 $ 1,911
2.00% convertible NOtES . ... vttt e e $230,000 $367,425

The fair values of the long-term debt were estimated based on quotes obtained from financial institutions for
those or similar instruments or on the basis of quoted market prices. The estimated fair value of the convertible
note hedge and written call option was $0 and $11,339 at January 31, 2009 and February 2, 2008, respectively.

NOTE 13 — STORE DISPOSITIONS, INTEGRATION AND OTHER CHARGES

In October 2004, the Company announced its intention to close 12 SFA stores. The net pre-tax charges
resulting from the closing of these stores are principally related to asset impairments, lease terminations,
inventory write-downs and severance costs, partially offset by gains on the dispositions of one or more stores. As
it relates to these closings, the Company incurred charges of $6,353 for lease termination costs at closed stores
and $268 for severance charges during the fiscal year ended February 3, 2007. Severance costs represent the
portion of accrued benefits for employees that will exist when the stores are closed which were paid in the year
incurred. Lease termination costs are included in Impairments and Dispositions, markdown charges are included
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in Gross Margin, and severance costs are included in Selling, General, and Administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. There were no amounts payable related to these charges as of
January 31, 2009.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company discontinued the operations of its CLL specialty store
business which consisted of 98 leased, mall-based stores. Along with the previous disposition of the SDSG
businesses, CLL was no longer determined to be a strategic fit for the Company. CLL generated revenues of
approximately $52,231 million for 2008 and was not profitable. The Company incurred charges of $44,521 in
2008 associated with the CLL store closings which are included in discontinued operations in the consolidated
statements of income. '

The following table summarizes costs incurred and amounts payable for severance, lease termination and
other closing costs related to the discontinuation of the CLL business during the year ended January 31, 2009:

Severance and Lease
Personel Termination Other
Related Costs Costs Closing Costs Total
Balance at February 3,2008 ..........cooivvininninnn. $ — $ — $ — $ —
2008 EXPENSES « v v vttt e 5,074 17,746(1) 1,444 24,264
Paidin 2008 . ..o i ittt (1,423) (7,966) (1,272) (10,661)
Balance at January 31,2009 .......... ... ...l $ 3,651 $ 9,780 $ 172 $ 13,603

(1) Excludes a non-cash deferred rent benefit of $3,701.

The amounts payable relating to the disposition of the CLL business as of January 31, 2009 are expected to
be paid during the year ending January 30, 2010. In addition to the amounts in the table above, the Company
incurred charges of approximately $6,965 for inventory liquidation costs and $16,993 for asset impairments in
2008. The Company expects to incur nominal charges and complete its restructuring plan relating to CLL in
2009.
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NOTE 14 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
Summarized quarterly financial information for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter

$656,968 $687,229 $ 835,505
227,407 243,261 173,738
(41,566).. (14,369) - (122,067)
(29,948)  (29,819) . (82,907)
(31,709) (42,755) (98,754)

$ (023 8% ©31)$ (072

$ (023) 8 0318 (072

Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter

First
Quarter
Fiscal year ended January 31, 2009: »
Total SAlES . oo vttt e e e $850,041
Gross margin . ........c.coveeueeuniivnnnnninenenenn. 322,843
Operating income (loss) .................. R 42,614
Income (loss) from continuing operations .. ............. 19,912
Netincome (J0SS) .o v ii it i e 18,277
Basic earnings (loss) per common share .................... $ 013
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share .................. $ 013
First
Quarter
Fiscal year ended February 2, 2008:
Total SAles ..t vt vttt i i i $779,932
Grossmargin .................. et e ey 321,221
Operating income (1088) . .. ... .o i, 33,922
Income (loss) from continuing operations ............... 11,938
Netincome (10SS) .. ovviveiein ittt iieiiienennnn 11,037
Basic earnings (loss) per common share .................... $ 008
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share .................. $ 0.07

$679,958 $782,469 $ 981,717
239,080 327,000 364,524
(31271) 47,657 52,568
(23,764) 23,036 39477
(24,626) 21,590 39,472
$ 017)$ 015 $ 028
$ (017 $ 014 $ 026

NOTE 15 — CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information for 2008, 2007 and 2006 for:
(1) Saks Incorporated and (2) on a combined basis, the guarantors of Saks Incorporated’s senior notes (which are

all of the wholly owned subsidiaries of Saks Incorporated).

The condensed consolidating financial statements presented as of and for the years ended January 31,
2009, February 2, 2008, and February 3, 2007 reflect the legal entity compositions at the respective dates. Certain
2007 and 2006 amounts in the following tables have been revised to reflect the allocation of deferred income
taxes between Saks Incorporated and the guarantors of Saks Incorporated’s senior notes.

Separate financial statements of the guarantor subsidiaries are not presented because the guarantors are
jointly, severally, fully and unconditionally liable under the guarantees. Borrowings and the related interest
expense under the Company’s revolving credit agreement are allocated to Saks Incorporated and the guarantor
subsidiaries under an intercompany revolving credit arrangement. There are also management and royalty fee
arrangements among Saks Incorporated and its subsidiaries. At January 31, 2009, Saks Incorporated was the sole
obligor for the majority of the Company’s long-term debt and maintained a small group of corporate employees.
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2009

. SAKS GUARANTOR
@_T_Ms_) INCORPORATED SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
NETSALES .. ... ...ttt $3,029,743 $3,029,743
Costofsales ....oovviiereineeeennannonns 2,062,494 2,062,494
GROSSMARGIN .................. 967,249 967,249
Selling, general and administrative expenses .. $ 13 770,802 770,815
Other operating €Xpenses . ................ 947 317,408 318,355
Store pre-opening Costs ... ......coeeaeiann. 2,328 - 2,328
Impairments and dispositions .............. 11,139 . 11,139
OPERATINGLOSS ...........coiiinn. (960) (134,428) - (135,388)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
continuing operations .............. (106,819) $106,819
Interest EXpense . ......cooeuveennnnnn (30,252) (9,054) (39,306)
Other income, net ................... 5,600 5,600
LOSS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS BEFORE BENEFIT FOR
INCOMETAXES ............cooioens (132,431) (143,482) 106,819 - (169,094)
Benefit for income taxes . ........... .00, (9,669) (36,663) __L6,3_3_2)
LOSS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ........ccivviiennnnn. (122,762) (106,819) 106,819 (122,762)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
discontinued operations (net of tax) ... (32,179) 32,179
Loss from discontinued operations before :
Benefit for income taxes ............ (52,727) (52,7127
Benefit for income taxes .............. (20,548) (20,548)
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED ,
OPERATIONS ...........ccoiivnnnnn, (32,179) (32,179) 32,179 (32,179
NETLOSS ...t $(154,941) $ (138,998)  $138,998 $ (154,941)
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF JANUARY 31, 2009
SAKS GUARANTOR
M INCORPORATED . SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents .......... $ 236 $ 10,037 $ 10,273
Merchandise inventories ............ 728,841 728,841
Othercurrentassets . . .............. 105,350 ' 105,350
Deferred income taxes,net .......... 29,916 29,916
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ...... 236 874,144 —_ 874,380
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, . ‘

NET ...ttt 11,057,417 1,057,417
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, NET ... 71,738 - 134,095 211,833
OTHER ASSETS ............ccc..... 5,043 16,335 21,378
INVESTMENT IN AND ADVANCES C

TO SUBSIDIARIES ................ 1,553,960 ' $(1,553,960)

$1,636,977 $2,081,991 $(1,553,960) $2,165,008

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’

EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable ................. $ 90,208 $ 90,208
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities ...................... $ 8235 267,312 275,547
Current portion of long-term debt . ... 84,132 (79,459) 4,673
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES ..... 92,367 278,061 — 370,428
LONG-TERMDEBT ................. 578,990 56,410 635,400
OTHER LONG-TERM , ~
LIABILITIES ................ el 193,560 193,560
INVESTMENT BY AND ADVANCES
FROMPARENT ................... 1,553,960 $(1,553,960)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY .......... 965,620 965,620
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ....  $1,636,977 $2,081,991 $(1,553,960) $2,165,008
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JANUARY 31, 2009

~ : SAKS GUARANTOR
(In Thousands) ' INCORPORATED SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NEtIoSS . ovvvvnrenieeeenneeeerrnnninnans $(154,941) $(138,998) $ 138,998 $(154,941)
Loss from discontinued operations ............... (32,179) (32,179) 32,179 (32,179)
Loss from continuing operations . ................ (122,762) (106,819) 106,819 (122,762)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net Cash
(used in) provided by operating activities:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ........ e 106,819 (106,819)
Depreciation and amortization .............. 134,694 134,694
Equity compensation ..................0... 16,395 16,395
Gain on sale of building ................... (3,400) \ (3,400)
Deferred income taxes . . ......vvviniianenn, 4411 (51,621) (47,210)
Impairments and dispositions ............ ... 11,139 11,139
Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
1t (108,911) 137,225 28,314
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ...... (104,048) 121,218 — 17,170
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ............... ... (18,667) (18,667)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ........ (104,048) 102,551 — (1,497)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment ......... (127,305) (127,305)
Proceeds from sale of property and
equipment ........... iiiieeieiiiaaan.n 4,338 4,338

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES — CONTINUING

OPERATIONS ................... — (122,967) — (122,967)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS ................ ... (1,875) (1,875)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES .........ccvvvvnenns — (124,842) — (124,842)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Intercompany borrowings .................. (105,900) 105,900
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease
obligations . ........ ... oottt — (89,242) (89,242)
Proceeds from revolving credit facility ........ 156,675 156,675
Cashdividendspaid....................... (1,183) (1,183)
Purchase of common stock ................. (34,889) (34,889)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ... .. 4,089 4,089
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS . ..... 18,792 16,658 — 35,450
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES —
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ... — — — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ......... 18,792 16,658 — 35,450
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ................cciinunnn (85,256) (5,633) — (90,889)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNINGOFYEAR .................... 85,492 15,670 — 101,162
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF

YEAR ... e $ 236 $ 10,037 $ — $ 10,273

F-42



SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 2, 2008

SAKS GUARANTOR
W . INCORPORATED ' SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
NETSALES ...................... $3,224,076 $3,224,076
Costofsales ........coovviivnnnnn.. 1,972,251 1,972,251
GROSS MARGIN ............. ’ 1,251,825 1,251,825
Selling, general and administrative '

EXPENSES .« v oove v e $ 3910 823,714 827,624
Other operating expenses ............. 86 - 316,253 316,339
Store pre-opening costs . ............. R 707 ‘ - 707
Impairments and dispositions ......... 4,279 4,279
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) ..... (3,996) 106,872 — 102,876
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
continuing operations .......... 61,474 $(61,474)
Interestexpense .. .............. (32,962) (9,352) 42,314)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . . . (5,634) (5,634)
Other income, net . .............. 24,908 4 24,912
INCOME FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS BEFORE

PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR

INCOME TAXES ............... 43,790 97,524 (61,474) 79,840
Provision (benefit) for income taxes . ... (6,897) 36,050 29,153
INCOME FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS .............. Yl 50,687 61,474 (61,474) 50,687
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
discontinued operations (net of
BAX) v e (3,214) 3,214 —
Loss from discontinued
operations ................... (4,860) (4,860)
Benefit for income taxes ......... (1,646) (1,646)
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED : '

OPERATIONS .................. (3,214 (3,214) 3,214 (3,214)

NETINCOME .................... $ 47473 $ 58,260 $(58,260) $ 47473
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF FEBRUARY 2, 2008

(In Thousands)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Merchandise inventories . ...........
Other current assets .. ..............
Deferred income taxes, net . .........

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ......
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT,

NET ...ttt
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, NET ...
OTHER ASSETS
INVESTMENT IN AND ADVANCES

TO SUBSIDIARIES ................

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable .................
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities ............ ... .ot
Current portion of long-term debt .. ..

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES .....
LONG-TERMDEBT .................
OTHER LONG-TERM
LIABILITIES .....................
INVESTMENT BY AND ADVANCES
FROMPARENT ...................
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ..........

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ....

SAKS

INCORPORATED SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED

GUARANTOR

$ 85,492 $ 15,670 $ 101,162

857,173 857,173

124,973 124,973

42,827 42,827

85,492 1,040,643 1,126,135

1,092,004 1,092,004

68,069 29,039 97,108

7,962 47,815 55,777
1,531,222 $(1,531,222)

$1,692,745 $2,209,501 $(1,531,222) $2,371,024

$ 176,844 $ 176,844

$ 10,744 274,208 284,952

314,132 5,110 319,242

324,876 456,162 781,038

192,263 61,083 253,346

— 161,034 161,034
1,531,222 $(1,531,222)

1,175,606 1,175,606

$1,692,745 $2,209,501 $(1,531,222) $2,371,024
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 2, 2008

SAKS GUARANTOR
(In Thousands) INCORPORATED SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
OPERATING ACTIVITIES C
Netincome ...........ccoeeeunneninnnnnnnnns $ 47473 $ 58,260 $(58,260) $ 47473
Loss from discontinued operations . .............. (3,214) (3,214) 3,214 (3,214)
Income from continuing operations .............. 50,687 61,474 (61,474) 50,687
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
(used in) provided by operating activities:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries . ........... (61,474) — 61,474 —
Depreciation and amortization .............. ) 131,737 131,737
Equity Compensation ...........oceveennn. 7,724 7,724
Gain on lease termination .................. (1,669) (1,669)
Gain on sale of building ................... (1,069) (1,069)
Deferred income taxes ......o.cvveevoeenns " 3,966 22,220 26,186
Loss on extinguishment of debt ............. 5,634 . : 5,634
Impairments and dispositions ............... 4,279 4,279
Jiabihities, Met . & v v v v ve e 50,616 (206,726) . (156,110)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ..... 57,153 10,246 — 67,399
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES —
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ... 4,080 4,080
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ........ 57,153 14,326 — . 71,479
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment . ........ (136,726) (136,726)
Proceeds from sale of assets ............. e 12,352 12,352
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES — CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ................... — (124,374) — (124,374)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ................... (4,259) 4,259)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES ..................... —_ (128,633) — (128,633)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Intercompany borrowings . ................. (236,319) 236,319
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease
Obligations . . v v o e e (263) (118,717) (118,980)
Paymentofdividend ................... ... (7.430) (7,430)
Purchase of common stock . ................ (27,464) (27,464)
Proceeds from issuance of stock ... .:........ 34,307 34,307
Purchases and retirements of common stock . .. — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ..... (237,169) 117,602 — (119,567)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ...............c... — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ......... (237,169) 117,602 — (119,567)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ...........c.coiiiiinninnn (180,016) 3,295 — (176,721)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR ................... 265,508 12,375 277,883
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
$ - $ 101,162

YEAR .. ... e $ 85492 $ 15,670
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 3, 2607

(In Thousands)

NET SALES ...
Costofsales ...... ...

GROSSMARGIN .............
Selling, general and administrative
CXPENSES « oo vttt
Other operating expenses .............
Store pre-opening costs ..............
Impairments and dispositions .........

OPERATINGLOSS ...............

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
continuing operations . .........
Interestexpense ................
Gain on extinguishment of debt . . . .
Otherincome,net . ..............

LOSS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS BEFORE BENEFIT
FORINCOME TAXES ...........

Benefit for income taxes .............

LOSS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ..................
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries —
discontinued operations (net of
{25 4 R
Income from discontinued
operations (including gain on -
disposal of $191,918) ..........
Provision for income taxes .......

INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ..................
NETINCOME ....................

SAKS GUARANTOR
INCORPORATED A SUBSIDIARIES ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
$2,888,427 $2,888,427
1,108,300 1,108,300
$ 6,601 792,691 799,292
128 311,950 312,078
408 408
_ 1,775 - _ 11,775
(6,729) (8,524) — (15,253)
7,493 $ (7,493)
(40,442) (9,694) (50,136)
7 7
28,407 . _ 28407
(11,264) (18,218) (7,493) (36,975)
_,315) __@2571h - __(33,026)
(3,949) 7,493 (7,493) (3,949)
57,691 (57,691) —
— 188,227 188,227
— 130,536 130,536
57,691 57,691 (57,691) 57,691
$ 53,742 $ 65,184 $(65,184) $ 53,742
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 3, 2007

SAKS GUARANTOR
(In Thousands) INCORPORATED SUBSIDIARIES : ELIMINATIONS CONSOLIDATED
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NetinCome . .ovviiieiiiii i it eiiaeneeninens $ 53,742 $ 65,184 $(65,184) $ 53,742
Income from discontinued operations . ............... 57,691 57,691 1 (57,691) 57,691
Loss from continuing operations ................... (3,949) 7,493 (7,493) (3,949)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries — continuing
OPETAtIONS .\ vt v vv it eriinenenninoanns (7,493) 7,493
Depreciation and amortization ................. 125,849 125,849
Equity compensation ...................0.0..., 52,072 52,072
Excess tax benefit from stock-based
COMPENSAtON .. ...ovvvvnivnnnnnnitoennnns (16,027) (16,027)
Deferred income taxes ..............cvuuvin. 4,241 89,384 ‘ 93,625
Gain on extinguishment of debt ................ : (D C ) (D)
Impairments and dispositions ............coo..n. o 11,775 ) 11,775
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net . . . . . 10,795 (120,344) o (109,549)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ........ 39,632 114,157 — 153,789
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS ..............coiitn. (98,504) (98,504)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ........... 39,632 15,653 - — 55,285
INVESTING ACTIVITIES .
Purchases of property and equipment . ........... (121,355) - : (121,355)
Proceeds from sale of assets ................... 171 . 171

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES — CONTINUING

OPERATIONS .............. PR — (121,184) — (121,184)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING

ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS ...................... 1,304,701 1,304,701
NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING
ACTIVITIES .............ciiiiennnn. — 1,183,517 — 1,183,517
FINANCING ACTIVITIES :
Intercompany borrowings . .................... 1,195,647 (1,195,647) - —
Payments on long-termdebt ............... ..., (263) (7,108) (1,37H)
" Excess tax benefit from stock based
compensation. . .............. itiiita.. 16,027 16,027
Payments on long-termdebt ................... —
Cashdividendspaid ......................... (1,095,025) ) (1,095,025)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ........ (6,531) (6,531)
Purchases and retirements of common stock . ..... 51,730 51,730
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES —
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ........ 161,585 (1,202,755) — (1,041,170)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES — DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS ...................... (49 o (149)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) -
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ............ 161,585 (1,202,904) - — (1,041,319)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ..............ccccoiiiiin., 201,217 3,739 — 197,483
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR ...................... 46,000 31,312 77,312

LESS: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
INCLUDED IN ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AT

ENDOFYEAR ................cooiiiiiiin., 3,088 3,088
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR ... $ 247,217 $ 30,666 $ — $ 277,883
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SAKS INCORPORATED & SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Year Ended
January 31, February2, February3,

(Dollars In Thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Allowance for sales returns, net:

Balance at Beginning of Year . .......c...ooiiioiiiiiai L $ 7255 $ 6848 $ 8,645

Charged to Costs and Expenses .. ......c.o.ouuunuriiiisnenenn... 946,230 961,593 1,003,822

Reserve related to sold Proffitt’s and Parisian businesses ......... — — (1,155)

Reserve related to sold NDSG business ........o.cooiiiinen.n. — —_ (2,335)

Deductions (A) . vvvertntie ettt i e (949,247) (961,186) (1,002,129)
Balance at End of Year . ....ooiveerie it i iiiniiinins $ 4238 § 7255 $ 6,848

(A) Deductions consist of actual returns net of related costs and commissions.

Year Ended

Januvary 31, February2, February3,

(Dollars In Thousands) 2009 2008 2007
Valuation Allowance in Deferred Tax Assets

Balance at Beginningof Year .............cooiiiiuininan... $ 63,837  $47,592 $47,104

Charged (Credited)toIncome . ....... ...t 6,110 (2,957) (1,465)

Charged (Credited) to Shareholders” Equity . ........cc0oo...... — 19,258 —

Increase (Decrease)toReserve ... .. ..ot iiivinenn.s 27,757) (56) 1,953
Balance at End of Year ... ... itiineineeieieeecnen e $42,190 $63,837 $47,592
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